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CHAIRMAN &  
CEO’S REPORT

Brent Emmett  
Chief Executive Officer 

Fraser Ainsworth am  
Chairman 

Dear Shareholders, 

The last year has been, most notably, a period of 
transition for Horizon Oil - a transition from a company 
with modest, single sourced production, revenue 
and cash flows from operations, to a company with 
substantial, sustainable and dual-sourced production, 
revenue and cash flow streams.  This cash flow will 
provide the foundation for funding the Company’s 
substantive portfolio of growth assets, particularly in 
Papua New Guinea - a development pipeline that can 
reasonably be expected to deliver substantial value for 
shareholders in the future.

Specifically:-
•	 �Horizon Oil’s oil production in financial year (FY) 

2014 was 1.4 million barrels, an increase of 159% 
over the average of the previous 4 years, due to 
the highly successful Beibu Gulf project coming on 
stream in August 2013.

•	 �Revenue in FY 2014 increased by 169% to US$138.5 
million from the previous 4 year average.

•	� Net cash from operating activities in FY 2014 was 
US$75.1 million, despite the Maari field being shut-
in for 5 months for a major facilities upgrade and 
maintenance.

•	 �Oil and gas reserves and contingent resources 
increased by 4% to 95 mmboe - successful drilling 
in PNG more than replaced the reduction in reserves 
and resources resulting from production over the 
period and a more conservative assessment of 
reserves by our independent reserves certifier.

Review of the charts on the front inside cover of 
this Annual Report confirms that a solid result was 
achieved for 2014 on all key measures – production, 
revenue, net cash flow and balance sheet strength.  At 
the same time, exploration and development capital 
expenditure was down over the period, reflecting the 
disciplined approach that we take, particularly with 
regard to exploration expenditure.

 

1.  excised from PRL 4
2. subject to Government approval

Other key achievements over the year were:-

•	 �In August 2013 the Company raised A$53.5 million 
by way of a fully underwritten 1 for 7 accelerated 
non-renounceable entitlement offer, priced at 
A$0.33 per ordinary share.  The offer was strongly 
supported by existing institutional and retail 
shareholders.  The funds raised were used to 
generally strengthen the Company’s financial 
position and to fund exploration and development 
activities while waiting on receipt of sale proceeds 
from the transaction with Osaka Gas.

•	 �On 4 April 2014 Horizon Oil announced that the PNG 
Cabinet had approved the Stanley gas/condensate 
development project and on 17 April 2014 the 
Petroleum Retention Licence (PRL) 4 licensees and 
the State executed the Stanley Gas Agreement, 
which prescribes the key rights and obligations of 
the State and licensees in respect of the Stanley 
project (including fiscal terms).  On 30 May 2014, 
Minister Duban granted the licensees the Stanley 
Petroleum Development Licence (PDL) 10 and 
Pipeline Licence (PL) 10.

	� Grant of PDL 10 has allowed Horizon Oil and its 
partners to proceed with the development of 
Stanley field.  Initial activities include drilling of the 
Stanley-3 and -5 development wells, environmental 
permitting, engagement with landowners in the 
field and tendering of construction contracts.

•	 �Importantly, award of PDL 10 triggered completion 
of the Osaka Gas Niugini Pty Ltd Sale Agreement.  
The sale resulted in the Horizon Oil Group 
transferring 40% of its interests in PDL 101,  
PRL 42, PRL 21 (Elevala and Ketu fields) and PPL 
259 to Osaka Gas and the receipt of the remaining 
first instalment sale proceeds (about US$54 million) 
and associated capital cost reimbursements (about 
US$24 million).  Completion of this Agreement 
marked the formal beginning of a 60/40 strategic 
alliance between Horizon Oil and Osaka Gas, a 
leading global gas company and one of Japan’s 
largest utility companies and LNG importers.
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	� The transaction has allowed Horizon Oil to achieve 
a better balance in the asset portfolio, as well as to 
realise significant funding for what will ultimately be 
a large development program.  The US$74 million 
first instalment of the sale price will be a valuable 
contributor to Horizon Oil’s share of the cost of 
development of condensate recovery projects at 
Stanley and Elevala/Ketu.  The US$130 million second 
instalment, which is payable upon the decision to 
enter into an LNG commercialisation project, will 
constitute part of the Company’s equity expenditure 
on that project.  Most importantly, we believe the 
participation of Osaka Gas, with its involvement 
in the complete LNG business chain, will add 
significantly to the viability and execution of the LNG 
commercialisation project.

•	 �On 29 April 2014, Horizon Oil Limited and Roc Oil 
Company Limited announced that they had entered 
into a Merger Implementation Deed (MID) under 
which they agreed to merge via a Horizon Oil Limited 
scheme of arrangement.  Under the proposed 
scheme, Horizon Oil Limited shareholders were to 
receive 0.724 new Roc shares for each Horizon Oil 
Limited fully paid ordinary share they held.  

	� The objective of the merger was to bring together 
two companies of similar size, with southeast Asian 
focus and complementary asset portfolios in a 
combination that would, because of its material 
scale, receive a higher valuation than the sum of the 
individual valuations being placed on the companies 
at the time.  The consolidation of Horizon Oil, with 
robust cash flow from existing production in China 
and New Zealand and a substantive, undeveloped, 
condensate-rich gas resource in PNG of considerable 
fundamental and strategic value, together with Roc 
Oil’s strong near term cash flow, would have created 
a near ideal independent Asian upstream oil and gas 
enterprise with scale, cash flow and development 
opportunities, capable of being a leader in the region.

	� On 4 August 2014, Roc announced that it had 
entered into a bid implementation agreement in 
respect of a proposal made by Fosun International 
Limited under which it was proposed that Fosun (or 
one of its subsidiaries) would acquire all of the issued 
shares in the capital of Roc for A$0.69 cash per share 
by way of an off-market takeover.  The Roc board 
unanimously recommended the Fosun offer to Roc 
shareholders. 

	� The Roc board’s recommendation of the Fosun offer 
constituted a Roc Prescribed Event under the MID 
between Horizon Oil and Roc, resulting in the non-
satisfaction of one of the conditions precedent to the 
Horizon Oil-Roc merger.  Consequently, on 5 August 
2014, Horizon Oil gave notice to Roc terminating the 
MID in accordance with its terms.  Termination of the 
scheme was subsequently confirmed by the Federal 
Court of Australia.  

	� Whilst this outcome was disappointing, we were 
well aware that the proposed “merger of equals” 
was always vulnerable to the risk of a competing 
offer for the merger partner, particularly a cash 
bid.  Our shareholders were very supportive of 
the transaction, in anticipation of achieving a 
significant increase in scale, financial capacity 
and market value as well as strategic benefits to 
both companies.  But it was not a transaction that 
we pursued out of necessity.  Whilst we remain 
receptive to corporate activity approaches and 
opportunities, we have renewed our focus on the 
Company’s diversified, well-balanced portfolio of 
production, development and exploration assets 
and our people are hard at work on that now.

Key operational highlights were:-

New Zealand
•	� �The Maari/Manaia field facilities were shut-

down for the period July to December 2013 to 
enable substantial remedial and upgrade works 
to be carried out.  The work program, designed 
to enhance the value of the asset and enable 
extension of the field life, was completed safely, 
within budget and the field returned to production 
on schedule during early December 2013.  Horizon 
Oil Group’s share of the work package was US$8 
million.  The Horizon Oil Group expects to recover a 
proportion of these amounts through insurance.

•	� The Maari Growth Projects program, which is 
designed to enhance production rate and oil 
recovery from the Maari and Manaia fields, 
progressed during the year.  The Ensco 107 jack up 
drilling rig was cantilevered over the Maari platform 
enabling the commencement of the substantive 
phase of the program during early April 2014, 
incorporating four infill production wells, one new 
injection well and a workover of the existing MR2 
dual lateral production well.

•	 �The Manaia-2/2A exploration/appraisal well was 
drilled during the year with the semi-submersible 
drilling rig Kan Tan IV, achieving its objectives 
of evaluating through the Moki Formation, the 
Mangahewa Formation, the underlying Farewell 
Formation and terminating in the North Cape 
Formation as planned.  Oil was observed in the 
Moki and deeper Mangahewa Formations and the 
significance of these is currently being studied. 

•	 �The Maari joint venture also utilised the Kan 
Tan IV to drill the Whio well in PEP 51313.  It was 
announced on 26 August 2014 that although the 
well had encountered sandstones in all objectives, 
commercial hydrocarbons were not present.  
Horizon Oil was free-carried by OMV New Zealand 
Limited in this well.

CHAIRMAN & CEO’S REPORT
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China
•	 �During the financial year, the Beibu Gulf 

development was finalised following the successful 
hook-up and commissioning of the 10 well 
development drilling program on the WZ 6-12 
wellhead platform, the 5 well development drilling 
program on the WZ12-8W field and the installation 
of the PUQB utilities platform heli-deck.  The project 
was completed safely and within budget and is a 
credit to all involved in this project.

	� The field has produced over 6 million barrels of 
oil at the time of writing this report since coming 
on stream in March 2013 and is on track to meet 
budget production for calendar year 2014.

Papua New Guinea
•	 ��The two production wells for the Stanley gas-

condensate project (Stanley-2 and -5) have now 
been completed and are ready for production.  
Through testing, they have demonstrated the 
capacity to produce well in excess of the design 
capacity of the Stanley gas plant (140 mmcfd).  
With a condensate/gas ratio of 30 barrels/mmcf, 
the Stanley gas-condensate project is forecast 
to achieve initial production of approximately 
4,000 barrels/day of condensate when the field 
commences production, scheduled in 2H 2016.

•	 ��The Tingu-1 appraisal well in PRL 21, which spudded 
on 26 August 2013, confirmed a significant 
extension to the Elevala gas-condensate 
accumulation in the primary target Elevala 
Sandstone.  The well was tested and flowed at 
an average rate of 48 mmscfd with a stabilised 
condensate ratio of around 50 bbl/mmscf, similar to 
Elevala gas.  The result confirmed the prospectivity 
of Horizon Oil’s acreage position in the liquids-rich 
“sweet spot” of the PHG foreland.

•	 �Work continued on development planning for 
the Elevala/Ketu condensate recovery project 
during the financial year.  Finalisation of front end 
engineering and design (FEED) studies continued, 
with submission of a development licence 
application to the Government at the end of the 
first quarter of calendar year 2014.  The scope of 
the FEED study has been expanded to provide 
for the integration of the Tingu-1 discovery in the 
development.

•	 ��In October 2013, the Horizon Oil Group entered into 
a farm-in agreement with Eaglewood Energy to 
acquire a further 20% participating interest in  
PPL 259.  Under the terms of the farm-in, 
Horizon Oil will operate the Nama exploration 
well to be drilled in the licence in late 2014.  The 
Nama prospect is located near the Stanley gas-
condensate field with a potential resource size 
similar to that of the Stanley field (399 bcf of gas 
and 13 mmbbl condensate).

Financial

Summary of Financial Results
•	� Revenue from operating activities was  

US$138.5 million (2013: US$48.1 million).

•	 �Profit before income tax expense was  
US$30.0 million (2013: US$10.0 million).

•	 �Net cash inflow from operating activities  
(excluding general and administrative costs) was  
US$75.1 million (2013: US$23.0 million).

•	 �Largely as a result of the above strong operating 
cash flows, together with the receipt of cash from 
Osaka Gas in June 2014, the Company had cash 
on hand at year end of US$98.9 million and bank 
debt of US$119.2 million (US$115.1 million, net of 
transaction costs).  In addition, convertible bonds in 
the amount of US$80.0 million were outstanding.

The financial results are set out in full in the 2014 
Financial Report.

Renegotiation of reserves based  
bank facility
Following achievement of financial completion of the 
Beibu Gulf Project in Block 22/12, China, the Horizon 
Oil Group renegotiated the terms of the Horizon Oil 
Facility Agreement (reserves based facility) during 
April 2014.  The key amendments included a reduction 
in the overall facility limit from US$160 million to 
US$150 million with a deferral of the commencement 
of amortisation from 30 June 2014 until 31 December 
2014.  At 30 June 2014, total cash drawn under the 
facility was US$119.2 million.

The Group expects to refinance the existing financing 
arrangements in the next 12 months.  It is expected 
that the greater scale and diversity following 
completion of the Beibu Gulf Project, combined with 
current debt market conditions, will lead to enhanced 
access to funding on more favourable terms.

Hedging and Insurance
Given the inherent risk of the petroleum exploration 
and production business, the board seeks to reduce 
exposure to falls in oil price by way of hedging.  
Horizon Oil has a well established hedging policy 
designed to meet Horizon Oil’s risk management 
objectives of ensuring:-

•	 �Base committed capital expenditure is funded;

•	 Debt service requirements are met; and

•	 �Sufficient cash flow is available to fund investment 
decisions to support the Company’s growth 
strategy.

As a result of this policy, a fall in oil price to around 
US$80 per barrel – a sensitivity that we apply to our 
forecasting – does not materially impact on the above 
commitments.

CHAIRMAN & CEO’S REPORT
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	 -  �Debt facilities maintained at existing levels 
(although these may be modified if required, 
reflecting the Company’s improved borrowing 
capacity).

	� In this context, the discussion above about our 
oil price hedging policy and position is of course 
relevant. 

•	 �The 2013 Annual General Meeting Chairman’s 
Address included the observation that initiatives 
being considered by the board (to improve the 
share price) included “corporate activity such as a 
merger, to achieve scale and/or deliver a strategic 
benefit”.  Although we were unsuccessful in our 
merger attempt with Roc, the positive response 
of our shareholders, as discussed earlier in this 
report, has encouraged us to remain open to such 
opportunities.  The rationale to increase our size 
by way of merger or asset acquisition to create 
a leading Asian-focused upstream oil and gas 
company, which will be properly valued in the 
market, remains compelling.

Sustainability

The Company is committed to the sustainable 
execution of its operations , with 4 pillars to its 
sustainable development strategy.  These are:-

•	 Safety and health; 
•	 Security; 
•	 Environment; and 
•	 Community.

Paying careful attention to each of the above pillars 
is vital if business activities are to succeed (especially 
in PNG).  Our staff are key to this success and, as 
shareholders would expect, we invest in their career 
development through training and education, in 
their health (and in some cases the care of their 
family members) and, above all, in maintaining a safe 
working environment for contractors and employees 
alike.

We are committed to a code of environmental 
responsibility, exceeding government requirements in 
some cases to meet our objectives in this area.

The Company values the communities within which 
it operates, with a sincere emphasis on treating the 
landowners and other stakeholders located in those 
areas in PNG with fairness and respect.  In addition 
we provide substantial financial and in-kind support to 
the activities of two Western Province-based charities, 
Mercy Works and Australian Doctors International,  
who are doing a fine job of improving health care and 
social welfare in the region.  We believe this is the right 
thing to do and that there is a tangible return on the 
investment to both the community and Horizon Oil.     

In line with the hedging policy Horizon Oil executed 
additional commodity hedge contracts during FY 2014 
in respect of both Beibu and Maari oil production.  
Following the commencement of production from 
the Beibu fields in China during March 2013, the 
Company executed hedging during July 2013 and 
February 2014 covering 1,650,000 barrels of Maari and 
Beibu production over a 24 month period to July 2015. 
This hedging comprised a mix of collars and swaps 
and secured production revenue during a period of 
significant growth of in excess of US$158 million.  The 
production volumes hedged equate to approximately 
50% of forecast production over the period. As at 30 
June 2014, 842,500 barrels of Brent oil price collars 
and swaps remain, securing production revenue of in 
excess of US$80 million over the 13 month period to 
July 2015. 

As an additional prudential measure, the Company 
has in place loss of production insurance in respect of 
Maari and Beibu production, which is activated in the 
event of unforeseen loss or damage to the Maari or 
Beibu facilities.  This cover will remain in place, at least 
until the Maari growth projects program is completed. 

Corporate Strategy

At the time of writing this report the board and 
management are in the process of reviewing the 
Company’s strategies, mainly in response to the 
transition into a company with substantial, positive 
cash flows as noted above, but also taking into 
account the implications of the unsuccessful Roc/
Horizon Oil merger attempt.

Pending the outcome of this review, following are 
some observations on these issues:-

•	 ��The robust, long-lived cash flows from the 
Company’s interests in the Maari/Manaia and Beibu 
Gulf oil fields will be applied mainly to bring into 
production the Company’s substantial inventory 
of discovered reserves and contingent resources 
totalling approximately 95 million barrels of oil 
equivalent. 

•	 �Over the next 3 years or so the 2 key developments 
will be the condensate recovery projects at Stanley 
(PDL 10) and Elevala/Ketu/Tingu (PRL 21).  In 
addition the Company expects to continue with our 
modest, focused exploration program, provided 
it relates to our existing or planned production 
facilities and infrastructure. 

•	 �Barring unforeseen events or changed 
circumstances, the board envisages that this 
exploration program and the two development 
projects can be financed by a combination of:-

	 -  Cash on hand;

	 -  �Net cash inflows from Maari/Manaia and  
Beibu Gulf; and 
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In this context we draw the attention of shareholders 
to the Sustainability Report commencing on page 55 
of this Annual Report, which provides considerable 
detail on the subjects mentioned above.  In our 
view, the report’s conclusion aptly summarises the 
Company’s approach:-

   �Horizon Oil is committed to the sustainable 
development of its operations within the 
communities and environments that host its 
activities.  The Company regards this commitment 
as an integral component of an ongoing, long-term 
engagement with its host communities.

	� Horizon Oil builds its activities on a framework 
established from corporate policy and assesses 
its performance against both internal and industry 
standards.

	� The 2014 Annual Report marks the first submission 
of the Company’s Sustainability Report as a 
component of its corporate reporting.  However 
this should be seen as an extension of established 
internal governance processes rather than a newly 
minted development.”

Near Term Priorities

Management’s key near term objectives are:-

•	 �Improved production performance from Maari/
Manaia fields through successful implementation of 
the Maari Growth Projects program.

•	 �Optimisation of production from the Company’s 
China operations.

•	 �Progress on the Beibu Gulf fields Phase II 
development plan - to develop the WZ 12-8E oil 
accumulation as well as surrounding productive 
zones .

•	 �Progress on sales of Stanley gas to regional PNG 
consumers and larger scale gas commercialisation/
export plans.

•	 �Execution of the PDL 10 Stanley development 
project.

•	 �Progress on planning for development of the 
Elevala/Tingu/Ketu fields in PRL 21 and grant of a 
development licence.

•	 �Expansion of Horizon Oil’s gas and liquids resource 
base in the PNG foreland with successful drilling of 
the Nama exploration well in PPL 259.

The Outlook

As we stated at the beginning of this report, FY 2014 
has seen a transition to a company with substantial 
diversified production and cash flows.  Operating 
cash flows for the Group are expected to significantly 
increase in FY 2015, barring unforeseen events.  Oil 
production from the Group’s New Zealand operations 
is expected to ramp up during the year to the 
operator’s forecast levels of 20,000 bopd gross - 
more than double current production levels.  Whilst 
production from the Group’s China operations is 
expected to decrease due to natural reservoir decline, 
revenue from China is expected to be maintained as 
the Group’s share of production will increase by way 
of cost recovery under the provisions of the Petroleum 
Contract.

Based on the production forecast that follows this 
report, we expect this increased level of production 
to continue through to the end of calendar year 2017 
from the Maari and Beibu Gulf fields alone.  The 
resultant cash flow, together with cash reserves, 
further payments anticipated from Osaka Gas and 
drawdown on our debt facilities, as required, will 
be utilised to develop the substantive condensate 
and gas reserves in PNG.  The production forecast 
demonstrates the potential, company-changing 
impact of production from these reserves, especially 
the gas and, as shareholders would expect, 
developing these is the number one priority of your 
board and management.

Key to delivering on the above objectives is our 
staff and management team.  They have performed 
superbly this year, executing a successful capital 
raising and implementing a merger attempt, while 
carrying out their normal duties in the professional 
manner that the board has come to expect.  The 
board has a great deal of confidence in the staff and 
management.  Because of the considerable increased 
work load required to develop our PNG assets, several 
new staff positions will have to be filled and the 
recruiting process is well underway to achieve this.

Your board and management are very much looking 
forward to getting on with the challenge of adding 
further significant underlying value to Horizon Oil as 
foreshadowed in this report.

	

E F Ainsworth am 
Chairman

CHAIRMAN & CEO’S REPORT

 

B D Emmett 
Chief Executive Officer

1 October 2014
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Depending on the asset, either deterministic or 
probabilistic methods have been used to compile Reserve 
and Contingent Resource estimates and the probabilistic 
method has been used to compile Prospective Resource 
estimates. Due to the portfolio effects of arithmetic 
summation the aggregate 1P Reserve may be a very 
conservative estimate and the aggregate 3P Reserve may 
be a very optimistic estimate. Prospective Resources have 
not been adjusted for risk i.e. chance of success.

Estimates of Reserves are reported net of lease fuel. The 
reference point used for the purposes of measuring and 
assessing the estimated Reserves is the sales point.

The Reserve and resource estimates used in this report 
relating to Horizon Oil were compiled by Alan Fernie 
(Manager – Exploration and Development). Mr Fernie (B.Sc), 
who is a member of American Association of Petroleum 
Geologists, has more than 38 years relevant experience 
within the industry. The Reserve and resource estimates 
are consistent with the definitions of proved, probable, 
and possible hydrocarbon Reserves and resources that 
appear in the ASX Listing Rules. Alan Fernie is qualified 

in accordance with the requirements of ASX Listing Rule 
5.42 and consents to the use of the resource and reserve 
figures in the form and context in which they appear in  
this report.

All audits are undertaken by independent third party 
resource evaluators and are overseen by the Horizon 
Oil Manager – Exploration and Development, who is a 
petroleum reserves and resources evaluator qualified 
in accordance with ASX Listing Rule requirements. No 
public reporting of any Reserves or resources estimate is 
permitted without the sign off by Horizon Oil’s Manager – 
Exploration and Development and the approval of Horizon 
Oil’s Chief Executive Officer. All public reporting of the 
Reserves or resources estimates is in accordance with the 
requirements set out in Chapter 5 of the ASX Listing Rules 
and Horizon Oil’s Continuous Disclosure Policy.

The Reserves, Contingent Resources and Prospective 
Resources estimates used in this report are supported by  
Alan Fernie (Manager – Exploration and Development and 
full time employee of Horizon Oil).

RESERVES AND RESOURCES 
METHODOLOGY
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CONTINGENT 
RESOURCES
PROVEN + 
PROBABLE

PDL 10 (Stanley 
liquids)5� 

3.5 mmbo PMP 38160 (Maari/
Manaia)2

5.8 mmbo 

PDL 10 (Stanley  
Liquids)5

0.4 mmbo PRL 21 (Elevala/
Ketu/ Tingu 

liquids)5 

13.4 mmbo

Block 22/12  
WZ 12-8E4 

1.5 mmbo

Block 22/12   
WZ 6-12 + WZ 

12-8W3

5.8 mmbo 

Total   15.1 mmbo Total   15.3 mmbo
386 bcf

PDL 10  
(Stanley gas) 5,6

122 bcf

PROVEN + 
PROBABLE

PRL 21 (Elevala/
Ketu/ Tingu gas) 5,7,8

264 bcf

Total Reserves Contingent Resources – 95 mmboe   /   Liquids 32%   /  Gas 68%

RESERVES &  
RESOURCES
ECONOMIC INTEREST RESERVES BY ASSET

1P Dev 
Oil 

(mmbbl)

1P Dev 
Gas  
(bcf)

1P Dev 
Condensate 

(mmbbl)

1P UnDev  
 

(mmbbl)

1P Total  
 

(mmboe)1

2P 
Dev Oil 

(mmbbl)

2P Dev  
Gas  
(bcf)

2P Dev 
Condensate 

(mmbbl)

2P 
UnDev 

(mmbbl)

2P total  
 

(mmboe)1

New Zealand

PMP 38160 Maari/
Manaia2

 1.5  -    -    1.7  3.2  1.9  -    -    3.9  5.8 

China

Block 22/12 WZ 6-12 + 
WZ 12-8W3,4

 4.8  -    -    -    4.8  5.8  -    -    -    5.8 

Papua New Guinea

PDL 10 Stanley5  -    -    -    2.5  2.5  -    -    -    3.5  3.5 

Closing Balance  
30 Jun 2014  
(Economic Interest)

  
6.4 

  
-   

 
 -   

  
4.2 

  
10.6 

 
 7.7 

  
-   

  
-   

  
7.3 

  
15.1 

RECONCILIATION OF ECONOMIC INTEREST RESERVES

1P Developed and Undeveloped 2P Developed and Undeveloped

Oil  
(mmbbl)

Condensate 
(mmbbl)

Gas  
(bcf)

BOE 
(mmboe)

Oil  
(mmbbl)

Condensate 
(mmbbl)

Gas  
(bcf)

boe 
(mmboe)

Opening Balance  
1 Jan 2014  
(Economic Interest)

 8.6  2.5  -    11.1  12.4  3.4  -    15.8 

WI% adjustment  -    0.1  -    0.1  -    0.1  -    0.1 

Production (WI%)  (0.8)  -    -    (0.8)  (0.8)  -    -    (0.8)

Economic interest 
adjustment

 0.2  -    -    0.2  (0.0)  -    -    (0.0)

Closing Balance  
30 Jun 2014  
(Economic Interest)

 
8.0 

  
2.6 

  
-   

  
10.6 

 
 11.6 

 
 3.5 

  
-   

  
15.1
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PROSPECTIVE 
RESOURCES
BEST 
ESTIMATE

Block 
22/129

 3 mmbo

PMP 38160  
(Maari/Manaia) 

2 mmbo

PRL 21 (liquids)5

1 mmbo

PRL 21 (gas)5

17 bcf

PPL 259 (liquids)
12 mmbo

PPL 259 (gas) 
295 bcf

Total   30 mmbo
312 bcf

PEP 51313 
12 mmbo

Prospective Resources* – 82 mmboe

* Estimates have an associated risk discovery and risk of development

RESERVES &  
RESOURCES

ECONOMIC INTEREST RESERVES AND RESOURCES BY ASSET

2P1 2C1 Best Estimate Prospective  
Unrisked Resource1

 
(mmboe)

Oil  
(mmbbl)

Gas  
(bcf)

Condensate 
(mmbbl)

Total 
(mmboe)

Liquids 
(mmbbl)

Gas  
(bcf)

Total 
(mmboe)

New Zealand

PMP 38160 Maari/
Manaia2

 5.8  -    -    -    -    2  -    2 

PEP 51313  -    -    -    -    -    12  -    12 

China

Block 22/12 WZ 6-12 + 
WZ 12-8W3,4

 5.8  -    -    -    -   39 0  3 

Block 22/12 WZ 12-8E  -    1.5  -    -    1.5  -    -    -   

Papua New Guinea (post Osaka Gas transaction)

PDL 10 Stanley5  3.5  -   1226  0.4  20.8  -    -    -   

PRL 21 Elevala5  -    -   1867  9.6  40.5  1  17  4 

PRL 21 Ketu5  -    -   798  3.8  16.9  -    -    -   

PPL 2595  -    -    -    -    -    12  295  61 

Closing Balance  
30 Jun 2014  
(Economic Interest)

  
15.1 

  
1.5 

  
386 

 
 13.8 

 
79.7

  
30 

  
312 

  
82

RECONCILIATION OF ECONOMIC INTEREST RESOURCES		

2C boe 
(mmboe)

Best Estimate Prospective 
Unrisked Resources (mmboe)

Opening Balance 1 Jan 14  79.3  82 

Reserve revisions (WI%)  -    -   

WI% adjustment  0.3  -   

Closing Balance 30 June 2014 (Economic Interest)  79.7  82 

1.	��� Estimated in accordance with SPE-PRMS standard;  
6 bcf gas equals 1 boe; 1 bbl condensate equals 1 boe 

2.	� Net of production of  23.9 mmboe gross through  
30 June 2014			 

3.	� Net of production of 5.3 mmboe gross through  
30 June 2014			 

4.	 Reduced to allow for CNOOC participation at 51%

5.	� Subject to reduction to allow for PNG State Nominee  
participation at 22.5% 

6.	� Includes 2.6 mmbbl LPG (1 tonne LPG equals 11 BBL)

7.	 Includes 6.0 mmbbl LPG 	

8.	 Includes 2.5 mmbbl LPG 	

9.	 Subject to confirmation of acreage extension
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CONSOLIDATED 
RESULTS

John Humphrey  
Director 

Gerrit de Nys  
Director 

Andrew Stock  
Director

HORIZON OIL
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Fraser Ainsworth am  
Chairman 

Brent Emmett  
Chief Executive Officer 

Top Row L-R Bottom Row L-R

ACTIVITIES 
REVIEW 

A summary of consolidated results and a comparison with the previous 4 years is set out below:

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Revenue from continuing operations 138,450 48,071 50,390 59,362 47,991
Cost of sales (includes amortisation) (92,716) (22,685) (16,935) (19,622) (15,015)
Gross profit 45,734 25,386 33,455 39,740 32,976

Profit from sale of assets  23,830  -  - 22,000 32,586
Other income 234 30 72 464 157
General and administrative expenses (8,183) (7,038) (8,110) (7,232) (5,448)
Exploration and development expenses (10,520) (606) (303) (255) (158)
Financing costs (includes project facility, 
convertible bonds and FPSO finance lease)

(18,899) (8,209) (5,974) (2,817) (3,202)

Unrealised movement in value of 
convertible bond conversion rights

412 991 4,967 (3,351)  - 

Other expenses (2,581) (529) (418) (69) (218)
Profit/(loss) before income tax expense 30,027 10,025 23,689 48,480 56,693
Net tax (expense) (17,197) (6,551) (16,042) (13,544) (4,346)
Profit/(loss) for the financial year from 
continuing operations

12,830 3,474 7,647 34,936 52,347

Loss from discontinued operations (net of 
tax)

 -  -  - (2) 

Profit/(loss) for the financial year 12,830 3,474 7,647 34,936 52,345
Profit/(loss) attributable to members of 
Horizon Oil Limited

12,830 3,474 7,647 34,936 52,345
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Permit or Licence/
Principal Assets

Horizon Oil  
Interest (%)

PAPUA NEW GUINEA

PDL 10  
Stanley Field 

30%* 

*  following Osaka Gas sale completion

PRODUCTION

Bottom Row L-R

P.12

ACTIVITIES 
REVIEW 

DEVELOPMENT P.16

Permit or Licence/
Principal Assets

Horizon Oil  
Interest (%)

PAPUA NEW GUINEA

PRL 4 33.33%**

PRL 21   
Elevala/Ketu discoveries

27%* 

PPL 259  
Western Province

35%*

PPL 430  
PPLs 372 and 373 

50% 
90%

*   following Osaka Gas sale completion 

** subject to Government approval

Permit or Licence/
Principal Assets

Horizon Oil  
Interest (%)

NEW ZEALAND
PMP 38160 Manaia-2/2A 
exploration/appraisal 
well, Taranaki Basin 

10%

PEP 51313  
Offshore Taranaki Basin

21%  

CHINA
Block 09/05  
Bohai Bay 

option to acquire 
40% interest

P.20EXPLORATION/APPRAISAL

Permit or Licence/
Principal Assets

Horizon Oil  
Interest (%)

CHINA
Block 22/12  
Beibu Gulf 

26.95%/55%

NEW ZEALAND
PMP 38160  
Maari and Manaia fields,  
offshore Taranaki Basin 

10%



PRODUCTION
CHINA   |   NEW ZEALAND   |   PAPUA NEW GUINEA

D uring the year, Horizon Oil’s 
working interest share of 
production from the Beibu 

Gulf fields was 1,248,190 barrels of oil.  
Crude oil sales were US$122.7 million 
generated from 1,165,497 barrels 
at an average price of US$105.24.  
Cumulative oil production from the 
fields through 30 June 2014 was  
5.3 million barrels.

Average production over the year was 
approximately 12,700 bopd, of which 
Horizon Oil’s share was in excess of 
3,400 bopd.  All 15 wells were brought 
on production during the year, with  
5 wells still on natural flow and 
waiting to be put on pump.

China 
Beibu Gulf

PERMIT INTEREST (%)

Block 22/12 26.95%/55%

Activities Review HORIZON OIL ANNUAL REPORT 201412

Integrated Development Concept
CNOOC INFRASTRUCTURE

WZ 12-1B

WZ 12-1A

WZ 12-1PAP WZ 12-8W WHP

WZ 12-1 PUQB

WZ 6-12 WHP

Future
WZ 12-8E WHP

GAS PIPELINE

16” Pipeline to Weizhou Island Terminal
GAS PIPELINE

16” Pipeline to Weizhou Island Terminal

Existing Production

Future CNOOC Fields

Future CNOOC Fields

Block 22/12
Beibu Gulf

Phase I Development

Proposed
Phase II Development



CUMULATIVE OIL PRODUCTION FROM 
THE FIELDS THROUGH 30 JUNE 2014 
WAS 5.3 MILLION BARRELS

B eib u G ulf

LEGEND

Oil Field
Gas Field
Oil Prospect
Oil Pipeline

Oil Discovery

Oil and Gas Discovery

Dry Hole

FaultGas Pipeline
Proposed Oil Pipeline

Development Area

5km

Wei 6-1-1

Wei 6-9-1

Wei 6-9-2

Wushi 1-3-1

Wei 6-12-1 WZ 6-12N-1
Wei 6-12W-1

Wei 6-12E-1A
WZ 6-12-A7

WZ 6-12-A6

Wei 6-12S-1

Wei 12-3-3

1Sb

Wushi 1-3W-1

Wei 12-2-1

Wei 12-7-1

Proposed Platform

Wei 12-8-2
Wei 12-8-1

6-1-2
6-1-3

WZ 12-1

WZ 12-8W
(26.95%)

WZ 12-8E
(55%)

WZ 12-3
(55%)

WZ 6-12S
(26.95%)

WZ 6-12N
(26.95%)

AREA A

Original
Development Area

AREA B

12’’ pipeline

16” pipeline to weizhou isla
nd terminal

Wei 12-3-4Wei 12-3-2

Wei 12-3-1WZ12-10-1

CHINA

Beibu
Gulf

Block 22/12

MAP AREA

100km

Wei 12-8-3

The Beibu Gulf development was 
finalised in calendar year 2013 
following the successful hook-up 
and commissioning of the 10 well 
development drilling program on the 
WZ 6-12 wellhead platform, the five 
well development drilling program on 
the WZ 12-8W field and installation of 
the PUQB utilities platform heli-deck. 
The project was completed safely  
and within budget and the HYS1 931 
jack-up drilling rig released on  
17 August 2013.

There are two undeveloped oil 
accumulations in the retained 
development areas (WZ 12-8E and  
WZ 12-3) with development feasibility 
studies in progress.  The development 
of the WZ 12-8E field will constitute 
the second phase of an integrated 
development following completion of 
the current WZ 6-12 and WZ 12-8W 
project. Work continued during the 
year on the Phase II development 
plan for the WZ 12-8E  
oil accumulation.

Activities Review 13



PRODUCTION
CHINA   |   NEW ZEALAND   |   PAPUA NEW GUINEA

The upgrade, 
maintenance and 
repair works were 
carried out safely, 
within budget and 
the field returned 
to production on 
schedule  

D uring the year, Horizon 
Oil’s working interest 
share of production 
from Maari and Manaia 

fields was 186,345 barrels of 
oil.  Crude oil sales were US$21.7 
million generated from 190,588 
barrels at an average effective 
price of US$113.76. Cumulative oil 
production from the fields through 
30 June 2014 was 23.9 million 
barrels.

Full year production was lower 
than previous years as the Maari 
production facilities were shut in 
for approximately five months from 
21 July 2013 to effect repair works 
on the FPSO Raroa.  Production 
re-started on 12 December 
2013 with the producer wells 
progressively brought on line. By 17 
December 2013 all 6 wells had been 
successfully returned to production 
and were producing at a rate of 
approximately 11,600 barrels of oil 
per day.  

The FPSO Raroa had been 
disconnected from its mooring and 
towed to nearby Port Nelson to 
refurbish and upgrade its process 
equipment and install a new swivel.  
At the same time the opportunity 
was taken to repair several of the 
buoy mooring lines at the field.

The upgrade, maintenance and 
repair works were carried out safely, 
within budget and the field returned 
to production on schedule.  

New Zealand 
Maari and Manaia 
fields, offshore 
Taranaki Basin

PERMIT INTEREST (%)

PMP 38160 10%

Horizon Oil’s share of the work 
package was US$8 million with 
deferred cashflow during field 
downtime of approximately US$5 
million. Horizon Oil expects to 
recover a proportion of these 
amounts through insurance.

The Maari Growth Projects Program, 
which is designed to enhance 
production rate and oil recovery 
from the Maari and Manaia fields, 
progressed during the year. The 
program commenced with the 
workover of the MR1 well utilising 
the wellhead platform workover 
unit to convert the well into a 
water injector. After the successful 
completion of the workover, the 
Ensco 107 jack up drilling rig arrived 
and was located alongside and 
cantilevered over the Maari platform 
with minimal delays. This enabled 
the commencement during early 
April 2014 of the substantive phase 
of the program, incorporating four 
infill production wells, one new 
injection well and a workover of the 
existing MR2 dual lateral production 
well.

The first phase of the drilling 
program, the conversion of the 
MR6A water injection well to a new 
production well, addressing the 
oil reserves in the deeper Maari 
Mangahewa formation, proceeded 
during the final quarter of the year.

Activities Review HORIZON OIL ANNUAL REPORT 201414



CRUDE OIL SALES WERE US$21.7 MILLION 
GENERATED FROM 190,588 BARRELS AT AN 
AVERAGE EFFECTIVE PRICE OF US$113.76

MAARI / MANAIA SCHEMATIC CROSS-SECTION 
PMP 38160, Offshore New Zealand

Activities Review 15
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O n 14 April 2014, Horizon Oil announced that the  
PNG Cabinet had approved the Stanley gas condensate 
development project and on 17 April 2014, the PDL 10 
(formerly PRL 4) licensees and the State executed the 

Stanley Gas Agreement which prescribes the key rights and obligations 
of the State and licensees in respect of the Stanley project (including 
fiscal terms). The landowner Development Forum was convened by 
the PNG Government on 16 May 2014.  At the successful conclusion of 
the Development Forum on 30 May 2014, Horizon Oil was awarded the 
development and pipeline licences by Hon. Nixon Duban, Minister for 
Petroleum and Energy.

B eib u G ulf

Gulf of
Papua
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                   NEW

                                            GUINEA

W
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T P
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HIGHLANDS

FORELAND

Kumul Terminal

LNG Facility

LEGEND

Oil Field
Gas Field
Oil Prospect
Oil Pipeline

Oil Discovery

Oil and Gas Discovery

Dry Hole

FaultGas Pipeline
Proposed Oil Pipeline

Development Area

5km

CHINA
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Block 22/12

MAP AREA

100km

100km

Wei 6-1-1
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(26.95%)
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(55%)
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(55%)
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(55%)
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(26.95%)

PROPOSED
DEVELOPMENT
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Original
Development Area

AREA B

PPL 372a
(90%)

PPL 259a
(35%)

PDL 10
(30%)
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(90%)

PPL 373
(90%)

PPL 373
(90%)

PPL 259b
(35%)

PPL 430
(50%)

PRL 21
(27%)

12’’ pipeline

16” pipeline to weizhou isla
nd terminal
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Wei 12-3-4Wei 12-3-2
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DEVELOPMENT

PRL 4 is subject to Government approval.

Papua New Guinea 
Stanley Field

PERMIT INTEREST (%)

PDL 10 30%*

*�following Osaka Gas sale  
completion



Following the grant of the licences, drilling of the 
Stanley-5 development well commenced on 16 June 
2014 and was drilled to a total depth of 3,469 m.  
The observed quality and size of the objective Toro 
and Kimu reservoirs were better than had been 
predicted, with a combined gross sand column 
of about 120 m and net pay of about 96 m.  The 
Stanley-5 well will be completed in August 2014 and 
is expected to be an excellent production well.

On completion of the Stanley-5 well, the Parker 
Rig 226 will be skidded to commence drilling the 
Stanley-3 production well.

The Stanley field (certified at 399 bcf of gas and 13 
mmbbl condensate) will be developed initially as a 
condensate recovery project, with subsequent and 
increasing sales of gas as customers are contracted. 
It is envisaged that these will primarily be domestic 
and industrial consumers located in the region. The 
development concept involves producing 140 mmcfd 
of wet gas, from which initially  
4,000 bbls of condensate per day will be recovered 
utilising a two train 140 mmcfd gas refrigeration 
plant located in the field.  Any dry gas not sold 
or used for operations will be re-injected into the 
reservoir until required for sale.  The condensate 
will be transported via a 6 inch 40 km pipeline to a 
60,000 bbl storage tank near the Kiunga laydown 
area and then loaded onto a tanker at a loading 
facility about 1 km downstream of the existing 
Kiunga wharf, which is the export point for copper 
concentrate from the Ok Tedi mine.

A special purpose 33,000 bbl river tanker with ocean 
going capability has been designed to transport the 
condensate to market. The tanker has been built 
under the supervision of P&O Maritime and has 
completed sea trials. The tanker will be sub-let until 
production commences.

Negotiations with Ok Tedi Mining Limited for 
the supply of gas from the Stanley field have 
significantly progressed, with indications from the 
Ok Tedi mine that they will take up to 3 petajoules of 
gas per annum. Technical and commercial issues in 
the detailed term sheet have been resolved, subject 
to final agreement on price. Horizon Oil is exploring 
other avenues to commercialise the remainder of 
the gas resources, such as the potential provision of 
gas to the Frieda River copper-gold project, should 
the development plan for that project be approved.

Negotiations with the participants in PPL 259 
regarding the formation of a unit to include the small 
portion of the Stanley field that possibly encroaches 
into PPL 259 were concluded in December 2013. 
The effect on Horizon Oil’s interest in the Stanley 
field will be immaterial, given Horizon Oil’s near 
equivalent participation in each licence.

Activities Review 17

ON 30 MAY 2014, HORIZON OIL WAS AWARDED 
THE DEVELOPMENT AND PIPELINE LICENCES 
BY HON. NIXON DUBAN, MINISTER FOR 
PETROLEUM AND ENERGY



DEVELOPMENT

Strategic alliance with Osaka Gas

in PDL 10 (formerly PRL 4) (Stanley field), 
PRL 21 (Elevala and Ketu fields) and PPL 
259 and reimbursement of past costs.  
The remaining US$130 million of the sale 
price will be payable to Horizon Oil upon 
FID for an LNG project (which includes 
FID on any project in which Osaka Gas is 
entitled to take its share of LNG in kind on 
an equity basis utilising the gas from any 
of the assets), plus potential production 
payments where threshold condensate 
production is exceeded.

CHINA   |   NEW ZEALAND   |   PAPUA NEW GUINEA
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THE SALE MARKED THE BEGINNING 
OF A 60/40 STRATEGIC ALLIANCE 
BETWEEN HORIZON OIL AND OSAKA 
GAS, A LEADING GLOBAL GAS COMPANY 
AND ONE OF JAPAN’S LARGEST UTILITY 
COMPANIES AND LNG IMPORTERS

O n 23 May 2013, Horizon Oil 
announced that it had entered 
into an agreement to sell 40% of 

its PNG assets to Osaka Gas Niugini Pty 
Ltd, a subsidiary of Osaka Gas Co. Ltd  
of Japan (Osaka Gas).

With the grant of the petroleum 
development licence over the Stanley 
field representing the final condition 
precedent to be satisfied, the transaction 
completed on 12 June 2014 resulting 
in the receipt of approximately US$78 
million in cash in consideration for the 
transfer of 40% of Horizon Oil’s interests 



The sale marked the beginning of a 
60/40 strategic alliance between Horizon 
Oil and Osaka Gas, a leading global gas 
company and one of Japan’s largest 
utility companies and LNG importers. The 
principal objective of the partnership is 
to commercialise Horizon Oil’s and Osaka 
Gas’ net 135 mmboe certified reserves 
and Contingent Resources via early 
condensate production, local gas sales 
and to market their respective shares of 
petroleum products, especially LNG, on a 
combined basis. 

Osaka Gas’ experience as a participant 
in LNG projects, its LNG engineering 
capability and its role as a large scale 
off-taker, transporter and distributor of 
LNG all add credibility to the venture 
and will enable Horizon Oil to play its 
part and participate in a mid-scale LNG 
development, which has the potential to 
generate strong cash flows.

THE TRANSACTION COMPLETED  
ON 12 JUNE 2014 RESULTING IN  
THE RECEIPT OF APPROXIMATELY  
US$78 MILLION IN CASH

Activities Review 19



20 HORIZON OIL ANNUAL REPORT 2014Activities Review20

O n 17 March 2014, Horizon Oil 
submitted the petroleum 
development and pipeline 

applications for the Elevala / Ketu 
fields to the PNG Department of 
Petroleum and Energy. 

Work continued throughout the 
year on FEED activities and other 
studies to refine the project 
development plan and costs for a 
joint venture development decision 
in early 2015.  The Environmental 
Impact Statement for the potential 
project was submitted to the 
Department of Environment and 
Conservation in June, 2014.

Papua New Guinea 
Elevala / Ketu  
discoveries

PERMIT INTEREST (%)

PRL 21 27%*

*�following Osaka Gas sale  

completion
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THE COMBINED CONTINGENT 
GAS RESOURCES OF AROUND 
1.4 TCF IN PDL 10 AND PRL 
21 APPROACH THE SCALE 
REQUIRED FOR A MID-SCALE  
LNG PROJECT

As a party to both the PDL 10 and 
PRL 21 joint ventures, Horizon 
Oil will be using the experience 
gained in the design of the 
Stanley field development in  
PDL 10 to fast track development 
plans and early production of 
the liquids in PRL 21 by way 
of condensate stripping. The 
combined contingent gas 
resources of around 1.4 tcf in 
PDL 10 and PRL 21 approach the 
scale required for a mid-scale 
LNG project and Horizon Oil is 
advancing its pre-development 
studies of this opportunity.  

The Elevala/ Ketu fields were 
appraised in 2012 and were 
estimated at that time to contain 
a substantial resource of gross 
proven and probable contingent 
resources of 795 bcf of gas and 
40 mmbbl of condensate with 
prospective upside associated 
with the Tingu structure located 
some 9.2 km northwest of the 
Elevala-2 well.

The Tingu-1 appraisal well was 
spudded on 26 August 2013. 
Data from logs and pressure 
measurements confirmed a 
significant gas-condensate 
discovery in the primary target 
Elevala Sandstone. The well 
encountered a gas water contact 
in that reservoir consistent with 
that in the Elevala accumulation 
to the southeast, implying 
a connected field. The well 
was tested and flowed at an 
average rate of 48 mmcfd with a 
stabilised condensate ratio (CGR) 
of around 50 bbl/mmcf, similar to 
Elevala gas.

The Tingu structure is considered 
to be connected to the Elevala 
field and, after evaluation and 
modelling of the data, the 
combined resource of the Elevala 
(including Tingu) and Ketu fields 
is now estimated at 980 bcf 
with 50 mmbbl of condensate 
and approximately 30 mmboe 
of LPG.  The Tingu and Elevala 
accumulations comprise gross 
contingent 2C resources of  
689 tcf and 35 mmbbls of 
condensate.
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T he Manaia-2/2A well reached total depth 
of 2891 m MDRT on 4 November 2013. The 
well is located 1.25 km north of Maui-4 

(which discovered the Manaia field) and 6 km to the 
southwest of the Maari field well head platform.

The well achieved its objectives of evaluating the 
Moki Formation, the Mangahewa Formation, the 
underlying Farewell Formation and terminating in the 
North Cape Formation as planned.

Elevated gas readings and oil fluorescence were 
observed in the Moki Formation. Fluid samples with 
indications of oil were recovered by the MDT logging 
program in the Moki Formation, and several oil 
stained cores were recovered by the MSCT. Analysis 
of these samples and the wireline logging data is 
ongoing. 

An oil zone exhibiting virgin pressure was drilled in 
the lower part of the Mangehawa Formation. The 
upper part of the Mangahewa Formation is being 
produced by an extended reach well drilled from the 
Maari field well head platform and the data from 
Manaia-2 will contribute to optimisation of a planned 
additional development well into this zone.

New Zealand 
Manaia-2/2A  
exploration/appraisal  
well, Taranaki Basin 

PERMIT INTEREST (%)

PMP 38160 10%
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I n November 2012, Horizon Oil 
and its joint venture partners 
farmed out a 30% interest 

in PEP 51313 to OMV. The key 
earning provision of the farm-out 
agreement was that OMV would 
fund 100% of the cost (without 
limitation) of the exploration well 
targeting the Whio prospect.  This 
well was drilled in conjunction with 
appraisal drilling at Manaia with 
the semi-submersible rig Kan Tan 
IV, which arrived in New Zealand 
waters in August 2013.

The Whio-1 well was spudded at  
21:45 hrs on 23 July 2014 reaching a 
total depth of 2,824 m on 25 August 
2014 in the Paleocene Farewell 
Formation. The well encountered 
sandstones in all objectives (Whio 
A Sandstone, M2A Sandstone, Moki 
Formation, Mangahewa Formation, 
Kaimiro Formation, and Farewell 
Formation) as expected, 

but could not confirm the presence 
of commercial hydrocarbons. 
Accordingly, the well will be plugged 
and abandoned.

OMV assumed operatorship over  
PEP 51313 following completion of 
a 450 sq km 3D seismic program 
over the Pukeko and Te Whatu 
prospects in Q1 calendar year 2013. 
The original PEP 51313 participants 
funded this program. In Q1 calendar 
year 2014, the joint venture made 
the decision not to commit to the 
drilling of the Te Whatu well and, 
as a consequence, relinquished 
the western area of the licence, 
retaining the core area containing 
the Whio, Matariki and Paua 
prospects.
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In October 2013, Horizon 
Oil entered into a farm-in 
agreement with Eaglewood 

Energy to acquire a further 20% 
participating interest in PPL 259. 
The farm-in was on industry terms, 
incorporating reimbursement 
of proportionate past costs 
and a carry, and was subject to 
customary government approvals 
which were received during  
the year. 

Under the terms of the farm-in, 
Horizon Oil will operate the Nama 
exploration well to be drilled in 
the licence in 2014. Substantial 
progress was made in the year on 
constructing the rig site for the 
Nama-1 well, which is expected to 
spud in late-October 2014.  The 
Nama prospect is located near the 
Stanley gas-condensate field with 
a potential resource size similar to 
that of the Stanley field.

In addition, several large prospects 
have been delineated as drilling 
targets following interpretation of 
the 67 km of new 2D seismic data 
acquired in 2013.

Papua New Guinea 
Western Province 

PERMIT INTEREST (%)

PPL 259 35%*

*�following Osaka Gas sale  
completion
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T he Company entered into 
a seismic farm-in option 
agreement in October 

2013 with a subsidiary of Roc Oil 
Limited to earn a 40% interest in 
Block 09/05, Bohai Bay, offshore 
China. Under the terms of the 
agreement, Horizon Oil paid 40% 
of prior costs and all exploration 
costs incurred until the exercise or 
lapse of the option.

The exploration costs were 
essentially those associated with 
a 162 sq km ocean bottom cable 
3D seismic survey, which was 
completed on 12 September 2013, 
ahead of schedule, within budget 
and without incident.  Seismic 
processing of the 3D data was 
completed during the year with 
interpretation progressing and 
planning for the exploration drilling 
program in 2H 2014 underway.

After review of the seismic data 
acquired by Horizon Oil and  
Roc Oil, and given other priorities, 
Horizon Oil elected not to exercise 
its option.

China 
Bohai Bay

PERMIT INTEREST (%)

Block 
09/05  

option to 
acquire 40% 

interest

 

Papua New Guinea 
Western Province 

PERMIT INTEREST (%)

PPL 430 50%

PPL 372 90%

PPL 373 90%

 

  

H orizon Oil materially 
expanded its acreage 
holdings in PNG in 2013, 

with the award of a 50% interest 
in a new licence PPL 430 and the 
acquisition of 90% interests in 
PPLs 372 and 373.

Data on the new acreage is 
being collated, with the intent 
of reprocessing existing seismic 
ahead of acquiring new seismic 
data.  The acreage will be explored 
with the objective of confirming 
sufficient gas reserves, when 
added to the existing PNG reserves 
base, to underwrite a mid-scale 
LNG plant on the coast.
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ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL  

REPORT

This annual financial report covers the 
consolidated financial statements for the 
Group, consisting of Horizon Oil Limited 
(the ‘Company’) and its subsidiaries. The 
annual financial report is presented in 
United States dollars.

Horizon Oil Limited is a public company 
limited by shares and is listed on the 
ASX.  It is incorporated and domiciled 
in Australia. Its registered office and 
principal place of business is:

Level 7 
134 William Street 
Woolloomooloo NSW 2011

The annual financial report was authorised for 
issue by the Board of Directors on 25 August 
2014.  The Board of Directors has the power to 
amend and reissue the annual financial report.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Your directors present their report on the consolidated 
entity (referred to hereafter as the ‘Group’) consisting of 
Horizon Oil Limited (the ‘Company’) and the subsidiaries it 
controlled at the end of, or during the financial year ended, 
30 June 2014.

DIRECTORS
The following persons were directors of Horizon Oil Limited 
during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of 
this report:

E F Ainsworth 
B D Emmett 
J S Humphrey 
G de Nys 
A Stock

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
During the financial year, the principal activities of the 
Group continued to be directed towards petroleum 
exploration, development and production.

A detailed review of the operations of the Group during the 
financial year is set out in the Activities Review on pages 11 
to 25 of this annual financial report.

GROUP FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

2014 Profit After Tax Drivers

The Group reported a net profit after income tax of US$12.8 
million (2013: net profit US$3.5 million) driven by gross profit 
from operations of US$45.7 million (2013: US$25.4 million).  
Included in the overall result was the profit recorded on 
the partial sale of the Group’s interests in PNG assets to 
Osaka Gas of US$23.8 million (2013: US$0 million).  EBITDAX 
was US$99.5 million (2013: US$27.9 million), and EBIT was 
US$48.9 million (2013: US$18.2 million).

EBITDAX and EBIT are financial measures which are 
not prescribed by Australian Accounting Standards 
and represent the profit under Australian Accounting 
Standards adjusted for interest expense, taxation expense, 
depreciation, amortisation, and exploration expenditure.  
The directors consider EBITDAX and EBIT to be useful 
measures of performance as they are widely used by the oil 
and gas industry.  EBITDAX and EBIT information have not 
been audited. However, they have been extracted from the 
audited annual financial report for the financial year ended 
30 June 2014.

Basic earnings per share for the financial year were  
1.00 cent based on a weighted average number of fully  
paid ordinary shares on issue of 1,279,039,421 shares.

Sales and Production Growth
The Group recorded solid performance from its producing 
assets, with the net working interest share of oil production 
of 1,434,534 barrels (2013: 503,619 barrels), an increase 
of 185% compared to the prior financial year resulting 
predominately from a full year of production from the fields 
in the Beibu Gulf.

Oil and gas sales revenue of US$138.5 million  
(2013: US$48.1 million) was generated from sales volumes 
of 1,356,085 barrels of oil (2013: 467,809 barrels), which 
achieved an average realised oil price of US$106.43 per 
barrel (2013: US$108.75 per barrel) before hedging, slightly 
less than the Brent oil price which averaged US$109.02 
per barrel for 2014 (2013: US$108.65 per barrel).  Whilst 
the strong production from China has contributed to 
increased sales revenue, this was offset at Maari by 
reduced production as the field facilities were shut-down 
for the period July to December 2013 to enable substantial 
remediation and upgrade works to be carried out. The 
work program, designed to enhance the value of the asset 
and enable extension of the field life, was successfully 
completed and the field returned to production during early 
December 2013. The Maari field has exceeded expectations 
in the period since production recommenced.
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Operating costs of US$92.7 million (2013: US$22.7 million) 
comprised production costs of US$31.0 million (US$46.2/
boe), amortisation costs of US$39.4 million (US$29.1/
boe), and royalties and Chinese special oil income levy of 
US$22.3 million (US$15.5/boe). The increase in operating 
costs is attributable to a full year of China operating costs 
being included in the current year compared to 3.5 months 
of ramp up in the prior year.  Direct production costs at 
Maari increased during the financial year due to substantial 
remediation and upgrade works being carried out from July 
to December 2013. 

General and administrative expenses of US$8.2 million 
(2013: US$7.0 million) comprised net employee benefits 
expense of US$3.8 million, corporate office and insurance 
expense of US$2.6 million, depreciation of US$0.6 million, 
and rental expense of US$1.1 million.  The increase of 17% is 
driven predominately by an increase in insurance expense 
following the commencement of Beibu Gulf production 
in China, and additional rental expense associated with 
office and facility expansion in preparation for development 
activities in PNG.

Finance costs of US$18.9 million (2013: US$8.2 million) 
comprised amortisation of the convertible bond through 
to maturity (inclusive of the 5.5% coupon payable semi-
annually), and interest and finance costs payable on the 
reserves based debt facility.  Finance costs of US$1.3 million 
were capitalised during the financial year in relation to the 
Group’s development projects.  Interest and finance charges 
increased by 138% due to debt drawn under the borrowing 
base peaking during the year following the completion of 
the Block 22/12 development and commencement of the 
Stanley development. The facility commenced amortisation 
during the second half with cash repayments of $15.17 
million and extinguishment of the $20.4 million letter of 
credit associated with the Osaka Gas asset sale agreement 
during the year.

Income and Royalty Tax
Income and royalty tax expense of US$17.2 million (2013: 
US$6.6 million) incurred during the financial year included 
an income tax expense of US$17.5 million.  Current income 
tax has increased from the prior financial year due to 
a full year of production in the Beibu Gulf. Deferred tax 
expense increased during the year due to the write back 
of Australian tax losses which are presently considered 
unlikely to be recovered in the near term.

Hedging
At 30 June 2014, the Group held 842,500 barrels of Brent oil 
price swap contracts (30 June 2013: 119,000 barrels of Brent 
oil price swap contracts).  During the financial year, 926,502 
barrels of oil price derivatives were settled, resulting in a 
cash outflow of US$5.9 million.

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
During the financial year, total assets increased to 
US$514.9 million (2013: US$476.2 million) and total liabilities 
decreased to US$292.3 million (2013: US$309.2 million).   
As a result, net assets increased to US$222.6 million  
(2013: US$167.0 million).

Total assets increased by 8.1% due predominately to the 
increase in cash and cash equivalents by US$79.9 million to 
US$98.9 million.  This increase was largely attributable to 
the US$78 million cash received in June 2014 from  
Osaka Gas Niugini Pty Ltd on completion of the sale of  
40% of the Company’s PNG assets.

At 30 June 2014, the Group’s net debt position was  
US$88.5 million (2013: US$176.5 million), consisting of  
cash and cash equivalents assets held of US$98.9 million  
(2013: US$19.0 million) offset by borrowings of  
US$187.4 million (2013: US$195.6 million).  At financial 
year end, borrowings consisted of the US$80 million in 
convertible bonds issued during June 2011, coupled with 
cash draw downs of US$119.17 million against the  
US$150 million reserves based debt facility.
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Net cash generated from operating activities was 320% 
higher for the financial year at US$65.0 million resulting 
from a full year of strong production from the Beibu Gulf 
(2013: US$15.5 million).  Cash outflows from investing 
activities were offset by proceeds from the partial sale of 
PNG assets to Osaka Gas, combined with reimbursement 
of past costs (total US$76.8 million) to give a net outflow 
of US$16.1 million (2013: US$105.0 million). Cash from 
operations was supplemented with cash from financing 
activities of US$31.6 million (2013: US$89.5 million) primarily 
from the issue of ordinary shares as part of a capital raising, 
offset by payments against the US$150 million reserves 
based debt facility of US$15.2 million.  The funds were 
primarily used for development expenditure of US$49.7 
million (2013: US$74.0 million) and exploration phase 
expenditure initially capitalised of US$42.4 million  
(2013: US$22.9 million).  

Debt Facilities
Following achievement of financial completion of the Beibu 
Gulf Project in Block 22/12, China, the Group renegotiated 
the terms of the Horizon Oil Facility Agreement (reserves 
based facility) during April 2014. The key amendments 
included a reduction in the overall facility limit from 
US$160 million to US$150 million with a deferral of the 
commencement of amortisation from 30 June 2014 until 31 
December 2014 at which time the facility limit will reduce to 
US$110 million. At 30 June 2014, total debt drawn under the 
facility was $119.17 million. The $20.4 million letter of credit 
associated with the conditionally refundable deposit paid by 
Osaka Gas on execution of the asset sale agreement in May 
2013 was extinguished during the year on completion of the 
sale transaction. Floating interest in respect of the facility 
was at LIBOR plus a weighted average margin of 3.95%.

Under the terms of the facility, the Group’s production and 
development assets underpin the debt component of the 
financing of the development of:

•	Block 22/12, offshore China;

•	 �Stanley gas-condensate development project in PDL 10 
(formerly PRL 4), onshore PNG; and 

•	 �Maari/Manaia expansion activities and general corporate 
expenses, including exploration and appraisal activities.

The Group’s other outstanding debt is the US$80 million 
in convertible bonds which were issued on 17 June 2011 
with a 5 year term.  The bonds were issued with an initial 
conversion price of US$0.52, equivalent to A$0.49 based 
on exchange rates at the time of pricing, and represented a 
conversion premium of 29% to the Company’s last closing 
price of A$0.38 on 2 June 2011.  The initial conversion price 
was subject to adjustment in certain circumstances. Where 
the arithmetical average of the volume weighted average 
prices (’Average VWAP’) for the 20 consecutive dealing days 
immediately prior to each of 17 June 2013, 17 June 2014 and 
17 June 2015 (each a ’Reset Date’) converted into US dollars 
at the prevailing rate on each such dealing day (each an 
’Average Market Price’) is less than the conversion price on 
the Reset Date, the conversion price will be adjusted on 
the relevant Reset Date to the Average Market Price with 
respect to such Reset Date.  Any adjustment as a result of 
such provisions is limited so that the conversion price can 
be no lower than 80 per cent of the initial conversion price 
of US$0.520, that is US$0.416.  The Average VWAP in the 

relevant period to 17 June 2013 was US$0.374.  Accordingly, 
the conversion price of the convertible bonds was adjusted 
to US$0.416 with effect from 17 June 2013.  The issuance 
of new shares during the year under the Entitlement 
Offer announced during July 2013, resulted in a further 
adjustment to the conversion price from US$0.416 to 
US$0.409.

No bonds had been converted as at 30 June 2014.  On 
conversion, the Group may elect to settle the bonds in 
cash or ordinary shares in the parent entity.  The bonds 
carry a coupon of 5.5% per annum, payable semi-annually 
in arrears and carry a 7% yield to maturity on 17 June 2016 
when they will be redeemed at 108.80% of their principal 
amount.  The bonds were listed on the Singapore Securities 
Exchange on 20 June 2011.

Group business strategies and prospects for future 
financial years
The Company’s exploration, development and production 
activities are focused in Southeast Asia.  The robust, 
long-lived cash flows from the Company’s interests in 
the Maari/Manaia fields, offshore New Zealand and Block 
22/12, offshore China, will be applied to fund the Company’s 
future capital program.  That program is directed to bring 
into production the Company’s substantial inventory of 
discovered reserves and contingent resources (~95 million 
barrels of oil equivalent, post the Osaka Gas transaction) in 
fields in New Zealand, China and Papua New Guinea.

The Company has a conservative and highly selective 
exploration policy with specific focus on plays providing 
material scale and upside.  The identified prospective 
resources in the Company’s inventory (~82 million barrels 
of oil equivalent), together with the reserves and contingent 
resources provide shareholders with exposure to 
commodity price upside, especially oil price and production 
growth.

The following chart shows the Group’s forecast net 
production from reserves and contingent resources 
estimated in accordance with SPE-PRMS standard.  The 
timing of new field production uses operator estimates.  The 
additional production from the China operations during the 
current financial year, coupled with the Osaka Gas strategic 
alliance in PNG, provides the catalysts for this growth.

Forecast Calender Year Net Production from Reserves + 
Contingent Resources as at 30 June 2014

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

14,000

12,000

10,000

8,000

6,000

4,000 

2,000  

0  

  

C
Y

13

C
Y

14

C
Y

15

C
Y

16

C
Y

17

C
Y

18

C
Y

19

C
Y

20

C
Y

21

C
Y

22

C
Y

23

C
Y

24

C
Y

25

B
ar

re
ls

 o
f o

il 
eq

ui
va

le
nt

 p
er

 d
ay

   Maari 

   Wei 6-12 + 12-8W 

   Wei 12-8E

   Stanley condensate

   �Elevala/Ketu/Tingu 
condensate

   Stanley Gas

   Elevala/Ketu/Tingu gas  



31

The achievement of these strategic objectives may be 
affected by macro-economic and other risks including, but 
not limited to, China’s slowing growth, volatile commodity 
prices, exchange rates, access to financing and political 
risks.  The speculative nature of petroleum exploration 
and development will also impact the Company’s ability 
to achieve these objectives; key risks of which include 
production and development risk, exploration and drilling 
risks, joint operation’s risk, and geological risk surrounding 
resources and reserves.

The Group has various risk management policies and 
procedures in place to enable the identification, assessment 
and mitigation of risks that may arise.  Whilst the Group 
can mitigate some of the risks described above, many are 
beyond the control of the Group.  For further information 
in relation to the Company’s risk management framework, 
refer to the Corporate Governance Statement.

Funding for the Group’s strategic growth plans is to be 
sourced from a variety of sources.  Surplus revenues 
from the Group’s operations in China and New Zealand, 
combined with debt drawn from the Group’s reserves 
based debt facility of up to US$150 million provide core 
funding.  In addition, the Group advised on 23 May 2013 
that it had entered into an agreement to sell 40% of its 
Papua New Guinea assets to Osaka Gas Co. Ltd. of Japan 
for US$204 million. The first milestone payment of US$74 
million together with completion adjustments (net $4 
million) were received on 12 June and 24 July 2014, following 
completion of the transaction. A further US$130 million in 
cash plus potential production payments where threshold 
condensate production is exceeded, will be payable on a 
project development decision which gives rise to Osaka 
Gas achieving equity LNG from its acquired gas volumes. 
Existing cash balances together with available debt 
capacity of existing and potential future debt facilities, 
and surplus revenue from the Group’s operations in New 
Zealand and China are expected to be sufficient to pursue 
the current strategy.  Should the full amount of the forecast 
internally generated cash flow and capital required to 
pursue the strategy not be raised and the Group adopt a 
modified strategy, the directors expect that the Group will 
be able to secure the necessary financing through one, 
or a combination of, additional borrowings, equity raising 
or asset sales, or deferring discretionary exploration and 
development activities.

OUTLOOK
It is expected that the 2015 financial year and beyond will 
be characterised by a further increase in production and 
revenue growth driven in the near term by incremental 
production from the Group’s New Zealand operations and 
underpinned by the Group’s China operations. Accordingly, 
operating cashflows for the Group are expected to 
significantly increase in 2015, barring unforseen events. 
Oil production from the Group’s New Zealand operations 
is expected to ramp up during the year to the operator’s 
forecast levels of 20,000 bopd gross, more than double 
current production levels, whilst production from the 
Group’s China operations is expected to decrease due 
to natural reservoir decline. Despite the decline in 
China production, revenue from China is expected to be 
maintained as the Group’s share of production will increase 
through cost recovery.

The Group’s short-term focus is on:

•	�improved production performance from Maari/Manaia 
fields through the Maari Growth Program;

•	�optimising production from the Group’s China operations 
following ramp up to peak oil production;

•	�progressing the Beibu Gulf fields Phase II development 
plan;

•	�progress sales of Stanley gas to regional PNG consumers 
and larger scale gas commercialisation/export plans;

•	execution of the PDL 10 Stanley development plan in PNG;

•	�progressing the Elevala/Ketu development planning in 
PNG; and

•	�furthering the Group’s exploration program with 
successful drilling of the Nama exploration well in PPL 
259, PNG.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE  
OF AFFAIRS
Significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group 
during the financial year were as follows:

Sale of Partial Interest in PNG Assets to Osaka Gas
On 23 May 2013, the Group entered into an asset sale 
agreement (the ‘Agreement’) to sell 40% of its Papua New 
Guinea assets to Osaka Gas Niugini Pty Ltd (‘Osaka Gas’) a 
subsidiary of Osaka Gas Co. Ltd. of Japan with effect from 1 
January 2013. Key aspects of the transaction were:

•	�Sale price of US$204 million, including US$74 million in 
cash on completion, a further US$130 million in cash upon 
a project development decision which gives rise to Osaka 
Gas achieving equity LNG from its acquired gas volumes, 
plus potential production payments where threshold 
condensate production is exceeded. It should be noted 
that a refundable deposit of 10% of the total sale price 
(US$20.4 million) was received following execution of the 
Agreement, secured by a US$20.4 million letter of credit 
issued by Horizon Oil Limited;

•	�the Group and Osaka Gas to form a strategic alliance 
to commercialise the Group’s net certified reserves 
and contingent resources of 135 mmboe and develop 
extensive acreage in Western Province, Papua New 
Guinea; and

•	�the Group to transfer 40% of its interests in PDL 10, 
formerly PRL 4 (Stanley field), PRL 21 (Elevala and Ketu 
fields) and PPL 259. Osaka Gas was also granted the 
option to acquire 40% of the Group’s interests in  
PPLs 372, 373 and 430 by paying a proportionate share  
of costs incurred.

The sale marked the beginning of a 60/40 strategic alliance 
between the Group and Osaka Gas. The principal objective 
of the partnership is to commercialise the certified reserves 
and contingent resources via early condensate production, 
local gas sales and to market their respective shares of 
petroleum products, especially LNG, on a combined basis.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Completion of the Agreement was conditional upon 
customary consents, regulatory approvals and grant of the 
development licence for the Stanley field. Completion of 
the Agreement occurred on 12 June 2014 following receipt 
of all necessary consents, regulatory approvals and grant 
of the development licence for the Stanley field. Remaining 
cash due on completion of US$78 million was received from 
Osaka Gas on 12 June 2014 and 24 July 2014.

The US$20.4 million letter of credit was extinguished on 
completion of the Agreement on 12 June 2014.

The profit on sale recorded at completion was US$23.8 
million.

Capital Raising
On 31 July 2013, Horizon Oil Limited announced a fully 
underwritten 1 for 7 accelerated non-renounceable 
entitlement offer that raised approximately A$53.5 million.  
The institutional component of the entitlement offer was 
strongly supported by existing institutional shareholders 
with an approximate 90% take-up rate, complemented by a 
strong take-up by retail shareholders.

The ordinary shares issued under the entitlement offer 
were priced at A$0.33 per ordinary share representing 
a 9.6% discount to the theoretical ex-rights price and a 
10.8% discount to the closing price of Horizon Oil Limited’s 
ordinary shares on the ASX immediately prior to the 
announcement of the entitlement offer.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF 
THE FINANCIAL YEAR

Scheme of Arrangement
On 29 April 2014, Horizon Oil Limited and Roc Oil Company 
Limited (‘Roc’) announced that they had entered into a 
merger implementation deed (‘MID’) under which they 
agreed to merge via a Horizon Oil Limited scheme of 
arrangement (‘Scheme’).  Under the proposed Scheme, 
Horizon Oil Limited shareholders were to receive 0.724 new 
Roc shares for each Horizon Oil Limited fully paid ordinary 
share they held.  The Scheme was subject to a number of 
conditions precedent.

On 3 July 2014, the Federal Court of Australia ordered a 
meeting of Horizon Oil Limited shareholders to consider the 
Scheme and approved the Scheme Booklet for despatch to 
Horizon Oil Limited shareholders.

On 4 August 2014, Roc announced that it had entered 
into a bid implementation agreement in respect of a 
superior proposal made by Fosun International Limited 
(‘Fosun’) under which it was proposed that Fosun (or 
one of its subsidiaries) would acquire all of the issued 
shares in the capital of Roc for A$0.69 cash per share by 
way of an off-market takeover (‘Fosun Offer’).  The Roc 
board unanimously recommended the Fosun Offer to Roc 
shareholders.

The Roc board’s recommendation of the Fosun Offer 
constituted a ‘Roc Oil Prescribed Event’ under the MID 
between Horizon Oil Limited and Roc resulting in the 
non-satisfaction of one of the conditions precedent to the 
Horizon Oil-Roc merger.

On 5 August 2014, Horizon Oil Limited gave notice to Roc 
terminating the MID in accordance with its terms. Horizon 
Oil Limited also applied for, and received, orders from the 
Federal Court of Australia cancelling the Scheme Meeting 
of Horizon Oil Limited shareholders scheduled for 7 August 
2014 and vacating the proceedings for the second Court 
hearing which was scheduled for 14 August 2014.

Convertible Bonds
In connection with the proposed merger with Roc by means 
of a Scheme, on 2 July 2014 the Company detailed the 
key terms of a conditional offer to Horizon Oil Limited’s 
convertible bondholders (‘Bondholders’).

On 21 July 2014, Horizon Oil Limited invited the Bondholders 
to tender any and all such convertible bonds for purchase 
by Horizon Oil Limited for cash and to approve certain 
modifications to the terms and conditions of the bonds, on 
the terms set out in a Tender and Consent Memorandum 
dated 21 July 2014.

On termination of the MID with Roc on 5 August 2014, the 
Company terminated the convertible bond tender offer.

Other than the matters noted above and disclosed in the 
review of operations, there has not been any matter or 
circumstance which has arisen since 30 June 2014 that has 
significantly affected, or may significantly affect:

1.	the Group’s operations in future financial years; or

2.	the results of those operations in future financial years; or

3. the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The Group is subject to significant environmental 
regulation in respect of exploration, development 
and production activities in all countries in which it 
operates – New Zealand, China and Papua New Guinea.  
Horizon Oil Limited is committed to undertaking all of its 
exploration, development and production activities in an 
environmentally responsible manner.

The directors believe the Group has adequate systems 
in place for managing its environmental requirements 
and is not aware of any breach of those environmental 
requirements as they apply to the Group.

REPORTING CURRENCY
The Company’s and Group’s functional and reporting 
currency is United States dollars.  All references in this 
annual financial report to “$” or “dollars” are references to 
United States dollars, unless otherwise stated.
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INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS
The following persons held office as directors of Horizon Oil Limited at the date of this report:

Non-executive independent director  
and Chairman:

E F Ainsworth am, B.Comm, FAICD

Experience and current directorships: Director for 13 years.  Former Managing Director of Sagasco Holdings Limited 
and Delhi Petroleum Pty Limited.  Chairman of Tarac Australia Limited;  
Non-executive director of Envestra Limited.

Former directorships during last 3 years: None.

Special responsibilities: Chairman of Board; Chairman of Remuneration, Nomination and Disclosure 
Committees; member of Audit and Risk Management Committees.

Executive Director and  
Chief Executive Officer:

B D Emmett B.Sc (Hons)

Experience and current directorships: Director for 14 years.  40 years experience in petroleum exploration, E&P 
management and investment banking.

Former directorships during last 3 years: None.

Special responsibilities: Chief Executive Officer; member of Risk Management and Disclosure 
Committees.

Non-executive independent  
Director:

Professor J S Humphrey LL.B., SF Fin

Experience and current directorships: Director for 24 years.  Executive Dean of the Faculty of Law at Queensland 
University of Technology. Director of Downer EDI Limited and Wide Bay 
Australia Ltd, and a former member of the Australian Takeovers Panel.  

Former directorships during last 3 years: None.

Special responsibilities: Chairman of Audit Committee; member of Risk Management Committee.

Non-executive  
Director:

G J de Nys B. Tech, FIEAust, FAICD, CPEng (Ret)

Experience and current directorships: Director for 7 years.  44 years experience in civil engineering, construction, oil 
field contracting and natural resource investment management.  Director of 
SOCAM Development Limited and IMC Pan Asia Alliance Group subsidiaries 
(a related party of Austral Asia Energy Pty Ltd a substantial shareholder of 
Horizon Oil Limited).

Former directorships during last 3 years: Director of Red Sky Energy Limited.

Special responsibilities: Member of Risk Management and Remuneration and Nomination 
Committees.

Non-executive independent  
Director:

A Stock B. Eng (Chem) (Hons), FAIE, GAICD

Experience and current directorships: Appointed on 2 February 2011.  Over 36 years of development, operations 
and commercial experience in energy industries in Australia and overseas.  
Former Director, Executive Projects and Executive General Manager for Major 
Development Projects for Origin Energy Limited.  Non-executive director of 
Geodynamics Limited and Silex Systems Limited; a Board Member of Alinta 
Holdings and the Clean Energy Finance Corporation and a member of the 
Engineering Facility and Energy Advisory Board at the University of Adelaide. 

Former directorships during last 3 years: None

Special responsibilities: Chairman of Risk Management; member of Audit Committee and 
Remuneration and Nomination Committees.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Company Secretary and  
Chief Financial Officer:

M Sheridan B.Ec, LL.M., F Fin

Qualifications and experience: Before joining Horizon Oil Limited during 2003, Mr Sheridan held senior 
finance and commercial roles in Australian and international oil and gas, 
mining and telecommunications companies.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES
As at the date of this Directors’ Report, the directors held the following number of fully and partly paid ordinary shares and 
options over unissued ordinary shares in the Company:

	

Ordinary shares Unlisted options
Director Direct Indirect Total Direct Indirect Total
E F Ainsworth 113,500 3,896,875 4,010,375 - - -
B Emmett - 18,902,607 18,902,607 - 5,700,000 5,700,000
J Humphrey - 5,112,034 5,112,034 - - -
G de Nys - 912,858 912,858 - - -
A Stock - 160,000 160,000 - - -

B Emmett also held 12,681,745 share appreciation rights as at the date of this Directors’ Report. 

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors (the ‘board’) and of each board committee held during the 
financial year, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

 

Board Audit 
Committee

Risk 
Management 
Committee

Remuneration 
and 

Nomination 
Committee

Disclosure 
Committee

Number of meetings held: 131 2 1 1 1

Number of meetings attended by:

E F Ainsworth 13 2 1 1 1

B D Emmett 11 1 1

J S Humphrey 13 2 1 1

G de Nys 13 1 1

A Stock 112 2 1 1

1.	Two board meetings were held for non-executive directors only.
2.	�The chairman acted as proxy for Mr Stock at two telephone board meetings during the financial year called at short notice which Mr Stock was 

unable to attend. The Company Secretary and Chairman were instructed by Mr Stock as to his voting intentions and were fully briefed of his views 
prior to the meetings. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
In recognising the need for the highest standards of 
corporate governance and accountability, the directors 
support the principles of good corporate governance.  The 
Company’s Corporate Governance Statement is set out on 
pages 49 to 54 of this annual financial report.

REMUNERATION REPORT 
The Remuneration Report forms part of this Directors’ 
Report.  The information provided in the Remuneration 
Report has been audited by the external auditor as required 
by section 308(3)(c) of the Corporations Act 2001.

The remuneration report is set out under the following main 
headings:

A. �Principles used to determine the nature and amount of 
remuneration

B. Details of remuneration

C. Service agreements

D. �Share-based compensation – options/share  
appreciation rights

A. �Principles used to determine the nature 
and amount of remuneration

The objective of the Group’s executive reward framework 
is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and 
appropriate for the results delivered.  The framework aligns 
executive reward with achievement of strategic objectives 
and the creation of value for shareholders, and conforms 
with market best practice for delivery of reward.  The board 
ensures that executive rewards satisfy the following key 
criteria for good reward governance practices:

•	competitiveness and reasonableness;

•	acceptability to shareholders;

•	� performance linkage / alignment of executive 
compensation;

•	 transparency; and

•	capital management.

The board has structured an executive remuneration 
framework that is market competitive and complementary 
to the reward strategy of the Group.  The key elements of 
the framework are:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Alignment to shareholders’ interests:

•	 focuses on sustained growth in shareholder value; and

•	 �attracts and retains high calibre executives capable of 
managing the Group’s diverse international operations.

Alignment to program participants’ interests:

•	 rewards capability and experience;

•	 �reflects competitive reward for contribution to growth in 
shareholder wealth;

•	provides a clear structure for earning rewards; and

•	provides recognition for contribution.

The framework provides a mix of fixed pay and a blend of 
short and long-term incentives.

Non-executive directors’ fees
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the 
demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the 
directors.  Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are 
reviewed periodically by the Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee. 

Non-executive directors’ fees are determined within an 
aggregate directors’ fee pool limit, which is periodically 
recommended for approval by shareholders.  Shareholders 
approved the current fee pool limit of A$600,000 at the 
2009 Annual General Meeting.

Retirement allowances for directors
There are no retirement allowances in place for directors.

Executive pay
Executive remuneration and other terms of employment 
are reviewed annually by the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee having regard to relevant 
comparative information.  As well as a base salary, 
remuneration packages include superannuation and 
termination entitlements and non-monetary benefits.  For 
periods prior to April 2010, executives were eligible for long 
term incentives (LTI) through participation in the Company’s 
Employee Option Scheme and Employee Performance 
Incentive Plan.  The grant of options to executive directors 
under the Employee Option Scheme and Employee 
Performance Incentive Plan has been subject to the 
approval of shareholders.

Based on advice received from Guerdon Associates, an 
independent remuneration consultant, the board has 
put in place a short term incentive scheme and long 
term incentive arrangements for the Company’s senior 
executives. The Company’s Employee Option Scheme 
will continue to apply to employees other than senior 
executives.  

Remuneration and other terms of employment for 
executives are formalised in service agreements. The 
quantum and composition of the executive remuneration 
is based on advice received in prior financial years from 
Guerdon Associates.

Short term incentives
If the Group and individuals achieve pre-determined 
objectives set in consultation with the board, a short-term 
incentive (STI) is available to senior executives during the 
annual review.  Using pre-determined objectives ensures 
variable reward is only available when value has been 
created for shareholders.

The following table outlines the major features of the plan.

Objective To drive performance of annual business plans and objectives, at operational and group level, to 
achieve increased shareholder value.

Frequency and 
timing

Participation is annual with performance measured over the twelve months to 30 June.

Entitlements under the plan are determined and paid (in cash) in the first quarter of the new 
financial year.

Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs)

KPIs are determined each financial year in consultation with the board. The performance of each 
senior executive against these KPIs is reviewed annually in consultation with the board. 

A KPI matrix, directly linked to factors critical to the success of the Group’s business plan for the 
financial year, is developed for each executive incorporating health, safety and environment,  
financial, operational and other KPIs. 

STI opportunity Up to 50% of the senior executive’s fixed remuneration package (base salary plus 
superannuation).

Performance 
requirements

The executive’s STI payment is calculated with reference to achievement of KPI targets based on 
a weighted scorecard approach. Key objectives during the current year included:

•	grant of the Stanley Petroleum Development Licence;

•	completion of the Osaka Gas Asset Sale Agreement; and

•	successful operations on Tingu well in PRL 21.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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The following table shows the STI awards that were achieved during the financial year ended 30 June 2014:

STI in respect of 2014 financial year

Senior executives Percentage of maximum STI payment paid Percentage of maximum STI payment forfeited

B Emmett 80% 20%

A Fernie 80% 20%

M Sheridan 86% 14%
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The LTI Plan provides that the amount of the cash 
payment or the number of shares in the Company that the 
participant receives on exercise of the SAR is based on the 
value of the SAR at the time it is exercised (’SAR Value’).  
The SAR Value is the excess, if any, of the volume weighted 
average price (’VWAP’) of shares in the Company for the 
ten business day period up to the date before the date the 
SAR is exercised over the VWAP of shares in the Company 
for the ten business day period up to the day before the 
“Effective Allocation Date” for the SARs.  The Effective 
Allocation Date for the SARs is the grant date of the SARs 
or any other day determined by the board, at the time of 
the grant. The Effective Allocation Date would generally be 
the date the executive’s entitlement was determined.

If the board determines that the SARs are to be satisfied in 
cash, the amount of cash that the participant receives on 
the exercise of the SARs is the SAR Value multiplied by the 
number of SARs exercised (less any deduction for taxes 
that the Company is required to make from the payment). 
If the board determines that the SARs are to be satisfied in 
shares, the number of shares that the participant receives 
on the exercise of the SARs is the SAR Value divided by the 
volume weighted average price of shares in the Company 
for the ten business day period up to the day before the 
day the SARs are exercised. Where the number of shares 
calculated is not a whole number, it will be rounded down 
to the nearest whole number.

The following table outlines the major features of the plan.

Key terms & 
conditions

Long Term Incentive Plan

Eligible 
persons:

Under the terms of the LTI Plan, the Company may grant SARs to any employee.  However, it is 
currently intended by the Company to only grant SARs under the LTI Plan to current senior executive 
employees including executive directors. 

Exercise price: No price is payable by a participant in the LTI Plan on the exercise of a SAR.

Performance 
requirements:

Under the LTI Plan, the number of SARs that vest is generally determined by reference to whether the 
Company achieves certain performance conditions.

The number of SARs that vest is determined by reference to the Company’s total shareholder return 
(’TSR’) over the relevant period relative to that of the S&P/ASX200 Energy Index (’Index’).   
The number of SARs that vest is:

(a) if the Company’s TSR is equal to that of the Index (’Minimum Benchmark’), 50%;

(b) if the Company’s TSR is 14% or more above that of the Index, 100% (’Maximum Benchmark’); and

(c) if the Company’s TSR is more than the Minimum Benchmark but less than the Maximum Benchmark, 
a percentage between 50% and 100% based on the Company’s TSR performance between the Minimum 
Benchmark and Maximum Benchmark.

The Maximum Benchmark of 14% above the Index return equates to the performance level likely to 
exceed the 75th percentile of market returns of companies (weighted by company size) in the Index.

Furthermore, even where these performance conditions are satisfied, the SARs will not vest unless the 
Company achieves a TSR of at least 10% over the relevant period.

The performance conditions are tested on the date that is three years after the Effective Grant Date of 
the SARs, and are then re-tested every six months after that until the date that is five years after the 
Effective Grant Date of the SARs (the final retesting date).  The performance conditions are also tested 
where certain circumstances occur, such as a takeover bid for the Company.

The Effective Grant Date for the SARs is the date the SARs are granted, or such other date as the board 
determines for the SARs.

If the SARs have not, pursuant to these performance conditions, vested by the final retesting date that is 
five years after the date the SARs are granted, the SARs will lapse.
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Long term incentives
Until April 2010, long-term incentives were provided to 
certain employees via the Company’s share option plans. 
The revised LTI arrangements approved at the 2010 
Annual General Meeting apply to senior executives and 
involve the grant of rights which will vest subject (amongst 
other things) to the level of total shareholder return (TSR) 
achieved in the vesting period, relative to an appropriate 
index. 

Under the LTI Plan, the board has the discretion, subject 
to the ASX Listing Rule requirements, to grant share 
appreciation rights (‘SARs’) to executives as long term 
incentives. The board has determined that 50% of senior 
executive’s fixed remuneration would be long term 
incentives in the form of SARs, with the number of SARs 
granted based on the value of a SAR.

A SAR is a right to receive either or both a cash payment or 
shares in the Company, as determined by the board, subject 
to the Company satisfying certain conditions, including 
performance conditions.
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Cessation of 
employment:

If a holder of SARs under the LTI Plan ceases to be employed by a member of the Group, then this 
generally does not affect the terms and operation of the SARs.  The board does, however, under the LTI 
Plan have discretion, to the extent permitted by law, to cause the SARs to lapse or accelerate the date 
on which the SARs become exercisable.

Maximum 
number of 
shares that can 
be issued:

Subject to various exclusions, the maximum number of shares that may be issued on the exercise of 
SARs granted under the LTI Plan is capped at 5% of the total number of issued shares of the Company.

Restrictions on 
exercise:

A SAR cannot be exercised unless it has vested.  Where a SAR vests, a participant may not exercise the 
SAR until the first time after the time the SAR vests that the participant is able to deal with shares in 
the Company under the Company’s securities trading policy.

SARs are exercised by submitting a notice of exercise to the Company.

Lapse: SARs will lapse where:

• �the SARs have not vested by the final retesting date which is five years after the date of grant (see 
above);

• �if the SARs have vested by the final retesting date that is five years after the date of grant, the SARs 
have not been exercised within three months of the date that the SARs would have first been able to 
be exercised if they vested at the final retesting date that is five years after the date of grant;

This may be more than five years and three months from the date of grant depending on whether the 
holder of the SAR is able to deal with shares in the Company under the Company’s securities trading 
policy at the date five years after the date of grant;

• �the employee ceases to be employed by a member of the Group, and the board determines that 
some or all of the SARs lapse (see above);

• �the board determines that the employee has committed or it is evident that the employee intends to 
commit, any act (whether by commission or omission) which amounts or would amount to fraud or 
serious misconduct; or

• �the employee provides a notice to the Company that they wish the SARs to lapse.

Share ranking 
and quotation:

Shares provided pursuant to the exercise of a SAR will rank equally with the shares in the Company 
then on issue.  Quotation on the ASX will be sought for all shares issued upon the exercise of SARs.  
SARs are not assignable or transferable.

No right to 
dividends, 
bonus or rights 
issues:

The SARs will not confer on the holder an entitlement to dividends or to participate in bonus issues or 
rights issues unless the board determines that the SARs will be satisfied in shares and until the SARs 
are exercised and shares are provided to the holder. 

No voting 
rights:

The SARs will not confer an entitlement to vote at general meetings of the Company unless the board 
determines that the SARs will be satisfied in shares and until the SARs are exercised and shares are 
provided to the holder.

Non-quotation: The Company will not apply to the ASX for official quotation of the SARs.

Capital re-
organisation:

In the event of a reorganisation of the capital of the Company, the rights of the SARs holder will be 
changed to the extent necessary to comply with the ASX Listing Rules and shall not result in any 
additional benefits being conferred on SARs holders which are not conferred on members.

Effect of take-
over or change 
of control of 
Company, 
death or 
disablement:

The LTI Plan contains provisions to deal with SARs where there is a take-over or change of control of 
the Company.  Depending on the nature of the take-over or change of control event, the Company will 
either have the discretion or be required (if a change of control) to determine a special retesting date 
for the performance requirements discussed above.  

For example, the board will have discretion to determine a special retesting date where a takeover 
bid is made for the Company or a scheme of arrangement is entered into.  In that case, the special 
retesting date will be the date determined by the board.  Where a statement is lodged with the 
ASX that a person has become entitled to acquire more than 50% of the Company, the board will 
be required to determine a special retesting date, and the special retesting date will be the day the 
statement is lodged with the ASX.

The SARs may vest if the performance requirements discussed above are satisfied in relation to that 
special retesting date.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Performance of Horizon Oil Limited

The annual performance objectives and share price hurdle are the means by which management links company 
performance and remuneration policy.  Having regard to the current stage of the Company’s evolution, linkage of 
remuneration policy to share price performance rather than earnings is seen as the most sensible method of incentivising 
employees.  Any increase in the share price of the Company has a positive effect on shareholder wealth. The share price 
performance of the Company for the current and previous four financial years are displayed in the chart below:

Horizon Oil Limited share price (‘HZN’) versus S&P/ASX200 Energy Index

The table below shows Horizon Oil Limited’s profit before tax for the current and previous four financial years. As 
mentioned above, given the current stage of the Company’s evolution, linkage of remuneration policy to earnings is a less 
relevant measure of incentivising employees at this stage.

Financial year ended 30 June: 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Profit before tax (US$’000) 56,693 48,480 23,689 10,025 30,027

Use of remuneration consultants

No remuneration consultants were employed during the financial year.

B. Details of remuneration
Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the directors and other key management personnel (as defined by AASB 124 ‘Related Party 
Disclosures’) of the Company and the Group are set out in the following tables.

The key management personnel of the Company and the Group includes the directors of Horizon Oil Limited as per page 
33, and the following executive officers, who are also the highest paid executives of the Company and Group:

M Sheridan	       Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary, Horizon Oil Limited

A Fernie	 Manager Exploration and Development, Horizon Oil Limited
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Financial year ended 30 
June 2014

Short-term benefits Post- 
employment 

benefits

Long-term 
benefits

Share-
based 

payments

 
 
 
 
Name

Cash  
salary  

and fees 
 

US$

Cash  
bonus 

 
 

US$

Non-
Monetary1 

 

 

US$

Super-
annuation2 

 

 

US$

Long 
service 
leave 

accrual 
US$

Options/ 
SARs3 

 

 

US$

Total4 

 

 

 

US$

Directors:

E F Ainsworth 150,189 - 13,892 - - 164,081

Chairman, Non-executive 
Director

B D Emmett 766,982 324,000 114,899 22,967 21,383 418,675 1,668,906

Chief Executive Officer, 
Executive Director

J Humphrey 75,095 - 6,946 - - 82,041

Non-executive Director

G de Nys 75,095 - 6,946 - 82,041

Non-executive Director

A Stock 75,095 - - 6,946 - - 82,041

Non-executive Director

Total Directors’ 
remuneration 1,142,456 324,000 114,899 57,697 21,383 418,675 2,079,110

Total Directors’ 
remuneration (AUD)4 1,243,580 343,949 125,069 62,806 22,699 455,735 2,253,838

Other key management 
personnel:

M Sheridan

Chief Financial Officer, 
Company Secretary

556,329 255,420 25,164 22,967 14,855 307,029 1,181,764

A Fernie

Manager - Exploration 
and Development

547,142 237,600 92,590 32,154 12,867 307,029 1,229,382

Total other key 
management personnel 
remuneration 1,103,471 493,020 117,754 55,121 27,722 614,058 2,411,146

Total other key 
management personnel 
remuneration (AUD)4 1,201,146 523,376 128,177 60,000 29,428 668,411 2,610,538

1. Non-monetary benefits include the value of car parking, insurances and other expenses inclusive of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT).
2. Superannuation includes both compulsory superannuation payments and salary sacrifice payments made on election by directors and KMPs.
3. �Reflects the theoretical value (calculated as at grant date and converted to US dollars at the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the date of grant) 

of previously unvested options/SARs which vested during the financial year.
4. Remuneration is paid in Australian dollars and converted to US dollars at the foreign exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014



40 HORIZON OIL ANNUAL REPORT 2014

Financial year ended  
30 June 2013

Short-term benefits Post-
employment 

benefits

Long-term 
benefits

Share-based 
payments

 
 
 
 
Name

Cash salary 
and fees 

 
 

US$

Cash bonus 
 
 
 

US$

Non-
Monetary1 

 
 

US$

Super-
annuation2 

 
 

US$

Long 
service 
leave 

accrual 
US$

Options/ 
SARs3 

 
 

US$

Total4 
 
 
 

US$

Directors:

E F Ainsworth

Chairman, Non-executive 
Director

168,295 - - 15,147 - - 183,442

B D Emmett

Chief Executive Officer, 
Executive Director

823,512 329,749 101,528 25,677 24,714 389,952 1,695,132

J Humphrey

Non-executive Director

- - - 91,721 - - 91,721

G de Nys 
Non-executive Director

84,148 - - 7,573 - 1,503 93,224

A Stock 
Non-executive Director

84,148 - - 7,573 - - 91,721

Total Directors’ 
remuneration

1,160,103 329,749 101,528 147,691 24,714 391,455 2,155,240

Total Directors’ 
remuneration (AUD)4

1,129,517 355,524 98,851 143,797 26,646 381,134 2,135,469

Other key management 
personnel:

M Sheridan 
Chief Financial Officer, 
Company Secretary

597,062 239,004 17,393 25,677 11,624 276,440 1,167,200

A Fernie 
Manager - Exploration 
and Development

597,062 239,004 93,086 25,677 11,540 276,440 1,242,809

Total other key 
management personnel 
remuneration

1,194,124 478,008 110,479 51,354 23,164 552,880 2,410,009

Total other key 
management personnel 
remuneration (AUD)4

1,162,640 515,372 107,566 50,000 24,975 538,303 2,398,856

1.	 Non-monetary benefits include the value of car parking, insurances and other expenses inclusive of Fringe Benefits Tax (FBT).
2.	 Superannuation includes both compulsory superannuation payments and salary sacrifice payments made on election by directors and KMPs.
3.	� �Reflects the theoretical value (calculated as at grant date and converted to US dollars at the foreign exchange rate prevailing at the date of grant) 

of previously unvested options/SARs which vested during the prior financial year.
4. Remuneration is paid in Australian dollars and converted to US dollars at the foreign exchange rate prevailing on the date of the transaction.
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Fixed remuneration At Risk – STI At Risk – LTI

Name 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

Executive Directors:

B D Emmett
Chief Executive Officer, Executive Director

55% 58% 20% 19% 25% 23%

Other key management personnel:

M Sheridan
Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary

A Fernie
Manager - Exploration and Development

52%

56%

56%

59%

22%

19%

20%

19%

26%

25%

24%

22%
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C. Service agreements
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Chief 
Executive Officer and other key management personnel 
are formalised in service agreements.  Each of these 
agreements includes the provision of other benefits such 
as health insurance, car parking and participation, where 
eligible, in the Horizon Oil Short Term Incentive and Long 
Term Incentive plans.  Other major provisions of the existing 
agreements relating to remuneration are set out below:

B D Emmett, Chief Executive Officer

•	Term of agreement – 5 years commencing 5 August 2010.

•	� Payment of termination benefit on early termination by 
the employer, other than for gross misconduct, equal to 12 
months remuneration.

•	Salary levels are subject to annual review.

M Sheridan, Chief Financial Officer, Company Secretary

•	Term of agreement – 5 years commencing 5 August 2010.

•	� Payment of termination benefit on early termination by 
the employer, other than for gross misconduct, equal to 12 
months remuneration.

•	Salary levels are subject to annual review.

A Fernie, Manager - Exploration and Development

•	Term of agreement – 5 years commencing 5 August 2010.

•	� Payment of termination benefit on early termination by 
the employer, other than for gross misconduct, equal to 12 
months remuneration.

•	Salary levels are subject to annual review.

D. Share-based compensation – options/
share appreciation rights
Options and share appreciation rights (‘SARs’) have been 
granted to eligible employees under the Horizon Oil Limited 
Employee Option Scheme, the Employee Performance 
Incentive Plan and the Long Term Incentive Plan.  The 
issue of securities under the Employee Option Scheme, 
the Employee Performance Incentive Plan and the Long 
Term Incentive Plan were approved by shareholders for the 
purposes of the ASX Listing Rules at the 2008, 2010, 2011 
and 2012 Annual General Meetings.

Options/SARs are granted to executive directors in 
accordance with the terms of the relevant option scheme 
or plan and are approved on a case by case basis by 
shareholders at relevant general meetings.

The terms and conditions of each grant of options/SARs affecting remuneration in the previous, this or future reporting 
periods are as follows:

Grant date Expiry date Exercise price Value per option/
SAR at grant date

Date exercisable

25/09/2009 25/09/2014 A$0.2892 A$0.1307 33.4% after 25/09/2010 
33.3% after 25/09/2011 
33.3% after 25/09/2012

9/10/2009 9/10/2014 A$0.3092 A$0.1344 33.4% after 9/10/2010 
33.3% after 09/10/2011 
33.3% after 09/10/2012

1/10/2010 1/10/2015 A$0.30461,2 A$0.1382 100% after 1/10/2013

5/8/2011 5/8/2016 A$0.31291,2 A$0.1514 100% after 5/8/2014

13/8/2012 13/8/2017 A$0.27101,2 A$0.1025 100% after 13/8/2015

19/8/2013 19/08/2018 A$0.3326 A$0.1193 100% after 19/8/2016

1.  No price is payable by a participant in the Long Term Incentive Plan on the exercise of a SAR.
2. The exercise price of the options and SARS outstanding at 31 July 2013 were reduced by A$0.006 following the rights issue during the year.
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No new options were granted as remuneration to directors or key management personnel during the financial year. In 
place of options, SARs were granted to the executive director and key management personnel under the new Long Term 
Incentive Plan. Details of SARs provided as remuneration to the executive director and each of the key management 
personnel are set out below:

Name Number of 
SARs 

granted during 
the financial 

year

Value of SARs 
at grant date*  

US $

Number of 
SARs vested 
during the 

financial year

Number of 
SARs lapsed 
during the 

financial year

Value at lapse 
date** 
US $

Directors: 
B D Emmett

 
3,465,243

 
380,989

- - -

Other key management personnel:

M Sheridan 2,541,178 279,392 - - -

A Fernie 2,541,178 279,392 - - -

* �  �The value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 ‘Share-based Payment’ of SARs granted during the financial year as part of 
remuneration.

** �The value at lapse date of SARs that were granted as part of remuneration and that lapsed during the financial year because a vesting condition 
was not satisfied. The value is determined at the time of lapsing, but assuming the condition was satisfied.

The amounts disclosed for the remuneration of directors 
and other key management personnel include the assessed 
fair values of options/SARs granted during the financial 
year, at the date they were granted.  Fair values have 
been assessed by an independent expert using a Monte 
Carlo simulation.  Factors taken into account by this 
model include the exercise price, the term of the option/
SAR, the current price and expected price volatility of the 
underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the 
risk-free interest rate for the term of the option/SAR (refer 
below).  The value attributable to options/SARs is allocated 
to particular periods in accordance with AASB 2 ‘Share-
based Payment’ and also with the guidelines issued by the 
Australian Securities and Investments Commission (‘ASIC’) 
which require the value of an option/SAR at grant date to 
be allocated equally over the period from the grant date to 
the vesting date, unless it is probable that the individual will 
cease service at an earlier date, in which case the value is 
to be spread over the period from grant date to that earlier 
date.  For options/SARs that vest immediately at grant date, 
the value is disclosed as remuneration immediately.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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The model inputs for each grant of options/SARs during the 
financial year ended 30 June 2014 included:

Grant date 19 August 2013

Expiry date 19 August 2018

Exercise price N/A1

10 Day VWAP of Horizon 
Shares at grant date

A$0.3326

Expected price volatility 34.60% p.a.

Risk free rate 3.29% p.a.

Expected dividend yield 0.00% p.a.

1. �No price is payable by a participant in the Long Term Incentive Plan on 
the exercise of a SAR.
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Shares issued on the exercise of options/share appreciation rights provided as remuneration
No share appreciation rights were exercised during the financial year.

Details of ordinary shares in the Company provided as a result of the exercise of remuneration options to each director of 
Horizon Oil Limited and other key management personnel of the Group during the financial year are set out below:

Name Date of exercise of 
options

Number of ordinary shares issued on 
exercise of options during the financial 

year

Value at exercise 
date*

Directors

G de Nys 05/05/2014 500,000 33,441

Other key management personnel:

A Fernie 03/10/2013 1,500,000 107,388

* �The value at the exercise date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and were exercised during the financial year has been 
determined as the intrinsic value of the options at that date.

The amounts paid per ordinary share by each director and other key management personnel on the exercise of options 
during the financial year at the date of exercise were as follows:

Exercise Date Options exercised Amount paid per share Amount remaining to 
be paid

05/05/2014 500,000 A$0.289 -

03/10/2013 1,500,000 A$0.264 -

Upon exercise, only A$0.01 cent of the exercise price of the option is payable, with the balance being due prior to the 
expiration of the option period which is 5 years from the date of the issue of the options.   Further information on options 
is set out in note 33.

Details of remuneration – options/SARs
For each grant of options/SARs in the current or prior financial years which results in an amount being disclosed in the 
remuneration report as a share-based payment to directors and other key management personnel for the financial year, 
the percentage of the grant that vested in the financial year and the percentage that was forfeited because the person 
did not meet the service and/or performance criteria is set out below.  The options vest over a three year period provided 
the vesting conditions are met. The SARs vest after three years have elapsed provided the vesting conditions are met. No 
options/SARs will vest if the conditions are not satisfied, therefore the minimum value of the options/SARs yet to vest is 
US$Nil.  The maximum value of the options/SARs yet to vest has been determined as the amount of the grant date fair 
value of the options/SARs that is yet to be expensed.

Options/SARs

Name Financial year 
granted

Vested 
%

Forfeited 
%

Financial 
years in which 
options/SARs 

may vest

Maximum total 
value of grant 

yet to vest1 
US$

B Emmett 2010 100 - - -

2011 - - 30/06/2014 -

2012 - - 30/06/2015 389

2013 - - 30/06/2016 145,513

2014 - - 30/06/2017 271,490

M Sheridan 2011 - - 30/06/2014 -

2012 - - 30/06/2015 285

2013 - - 30/06/2016 106,710

2014 - - 30/06/2017 199,092

A Fernie 2010 100 - - -

2011 - - 30/06/2014 -

2012 - - 30/06/2015 285

2013 - - 30/06/2016 106,710

2014 - - 30/06/2017 199,092

1. The above values have been converted to dollars at the exchange rate prevailing on the date of the grant of the options/SARs.



44 HORIZON OIL ANNUAL REPORT 2014

EQUITY INTERESTS HELD BY KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

Key management personnel shareholdings in the Company
The numbers of shares in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Horizon Oil Limited and other key 
management personnel of the Group, including their personally-related entities, are set out below:

2014 
Name

Balance at start of 
financial year

Received during 
financial year on the 
exercise of options

Other changes 
during financial year

Balance at end of 
financial year

Directors:

Ordinary shares

E F Ainsworth 4,010,375 - - 4,010,375

B D Emmett 16,752,607 - 2,150,000 18,902,607

J Humphrey 5,112,034 - - 5,112,034

G de Nys 361,250 500,000 51,608 912,858

A Stock 140,000 - 20,000 160,000

Other key management personnel of the Group:

Ordinary shares and partly paid ordinary shares

A Fernie 1,050,000 1,500,000 150,000 2,700,000

M Sheridan 9,468,201 - - 9,468,201

Key management personnel option holdings in the Company
The numbers of options (both listed and unlisted) in the Company held during the financial year by each director of Horizon 
Oil Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally-related entities, are set out below:

Listed options:
All unexercised listed options expired on 28 February 2008 and therefore no listed options were on issue during the 
current or prior financial year.

Unlisted options:

2014 
Name

Balance 
at start of 
financial 

year

Granted as 
remuneration 

during 
financial year

Exercised 
during 

financial 
year

Other 
changes 
during 

financial 
year

Balance 
at end of 
financial 

year

Vested and 
exercisable 
at end of 
financial 

year

Unvested

Directors:

Unlisted options

B D Emmett 5,700,000 - - - 5,700,000 5,700,000 -

G de Nys 500,000 - (500,000) - - - -

Other key management personnel of the Group:

Unlisted options

A Fernie 3,000,000 - (1,500,000) - 1,500,000 1,500,000 -

All vested options are exercisable at the end of the financial year.

Details of options provided as remuneration and ordinary shares issued on the exercise of such options, together with 
terms and conditions of the options, can be found in section D of the Remuneration Report on pages 41 to 45.
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Key management personnel share appreciation right holdings in the Company
The numbers of share appreciation rights (‘SARs’) held during the financial year by each executive director of Horizon Oil 
Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally-related entities, are set out below:

Share appreciation rights:

2014 
Name

Balance at start 
of financial year

Granted as 
remuneration 

during 
financial year

Exercised 
during 

financial 
year

Other 
changes 
during 

financial 
year

Balance 
at end of 
financial 

year

Vested and 
exercisable 
at end of 
financial 

year

Unvested

Executive Directors:

Share appreciation rights

B D Emmett 9,216,502 3,465,243 - - 12,681,745 - 12,681,745

Other key management personnel of the Group:

Share appreciation rights

A Fernie 6,758,769 2,541,178 - - 9,299,947 - 9,299,947

M Sheridan 6,758,769 2,541,178 - - 9,299,947 - 9,299,947

Details of SARs provided as remuneration and ordinary shares issued on the exercise of such SARs, together with terms 
and conditions of the SARs, can be found in section D of the Remuneration Report on pages 41 to 45.

LOANS TO DIRECTORS AND OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
There were no loans to directors or other key management personnel during the financial year.

OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH DIRECTORS AND OTHER KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
There were no other transactions with Directors and other key management personnel during the financial year.

SHARES UNDER OPTION
Unissued ordinary shares of Horizon Oil Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

Date options granted Number options Issue price of ordinary shares Expiry date

25/09/2009 5,525,000 A$0.2951,2 25/10/2014

09/10/2009 2,700,000 A$0.3091,2 09/10/2014

11/12/2009 500,0002 A$0.3441,2 11/12/2014

16/09/2010 350,000 A$0.3041,2 16/09/2015

10/01/2012 1,000,0002 A$0.2091,2 10/04/2015

28/05/2012 2,000,0002 A$0.2641,2 28/08/2015

28/05/2012 1,666,667 A$0.2641,2 28/05/2017

17/09/2012 500,000 A$0.2941,2 17/09/2017

20/02/2013 350,000 A$0.4341,2 20/02/2018

16/04/2013 350,000 A$0.4041,2 16/04/2018

14,941,667

1.	Subject to restrictions on exercise. 
2. General options issued. 
3. �The exercise price of the options outstanding at 31 July 2013 were reduced by A$0.006 following the rights issue during the year. 

No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the Company or any other 
entity.
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NON-AUDIT SERVICES
The Company may decide to employ PricewaterhouseCoopers 
on assignments additional to its statutory audit duties where 
the external auditor’s expertise and experience with the 
Company and/or the Group are important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers for audit and non-audit services 
provided during the financial year are set out below.

The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in 
accordance with the written advice received from the Audit 
Committee, is satisfied that the provision of non-audit services 
is compatible with the general standard of independence for 
external auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.  The 
directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services 
by the external auditor, as set out below, did not compromise 
the external auditor independence requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

•	 �all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit 
Committee to ensure they do not impact the impartiality and 
objectivity of the external auditor; and

•	 �none of the services undermine the general principles 
relating to auditor independence as set out in Australian 
Professional Ethical Standards 110 Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants, including reviewing or auditing the 
auditor’s own work, acting in a management or a decision-
making capacity for the Group, acting as advocate for the 
Group or jointly sharing economic risk and rewards.
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DIVIDENDS
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company to 
the shareholders since the end of the prior financial year.

INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
During the financial year, Horizon Oil Limited paid a 
premium to insure the directors and secretaries of the 
Company and related bodies corporate.  The insured 
liabilities exclude conduct involving a wilful breach of 
duty or improper use of information or position to gain a 
personal advantage.  The contract prohibits the disclosure 
of the premium paid.

The officers of the Company covered by the insurance 
policy include the directors and secretaries, and other 
officers who are directors or secretaries of subsidiaries who 
are not also directors or secretaries of Horizon Oil Limited.

The liabilities insured include costs and expenses that may 
be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that 
may be brought against the officers in their capacity as 
officers of the Company or a related body corporate.
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               Consolidated

2014 2013

US$ US$

During the financial year, the following fees were paid or payable for services provided 
by the external auditor of the parent entity and its related practices:

1. PwC Australia

Audit and other assurance services

    Audit and review of financial reports 152,876 178,507

Other assurance services

    Independent limited assurance report on the proposed merged group pro forma      
    financial information in Scheme Booklet dated 3 July 2014

97,002 -

Other services 18,927 -

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services 268,805 178,507

    Taxation services

    Tax compliance 98,723 47,104

     Other services - 6,240

Total remuneration for taxation services 98,723 53,344

2. Non-PwC audit firms

Audit and other assurance services 14,012 11,797

Other services - -

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services 14,012 11,797

Total auditors’ remuneration 381,540 243,648

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the external auditors’ independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is 
set out on page 48.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS TO THE NEAREST THOUSAND DOLLARS
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission, relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the Directors’ Report.  Amounts in the Directors’ Report have 
been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars or, in certain cases, to the nearest 
dollar.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR
PricewaterhouseCoopers continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

E F Ainsworth am 
Chairman

 

B D Emmett 
Chief Executive Officer

Sydney 
27 August 2014
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AUDITORS’ INDEPENDENCE 
DECLARATION

  

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 1171  
T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au  
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

As lead auditor for the audit of Horizon Oil Limited for the year ended 30 June 2014, I declare that to 
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

1. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 
relation to the audit; and 

2. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

This declaration is in respect of Horizon Oil Limited and the entities it controlled during the period. 

Peter Buchholz Sydney  
Partner 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
  

27 August 2014 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
STATEMENT 
Horizon Oil Limited (the ‘Company’) and the board are 
committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest 
standards of corporate governance.  The board continues 
to review the framework and practices to ensure they meet 
the interests of shareholders. 

A description of the Company’s main corporate governance 
practices is set out below.  All these practices, unless 
otherwise stated, were in place for the full financial 
year.  They comply with the ASX Corporate Governance 
Council’s revised Corporate Governance Principles and 
Recommendations 3rd edition, released in March 2014, 
except where noted herein.

PRINCIPLE 1: LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR 
MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT
The relationship between the board and senior 
management is critical to the Company’s long-term 
success.  The directors are responsible to the shareholders 
for the performance of the Company in both the short and 
longer term and seek to balance sometimes competing 
objectives in the best interests of the Company as a whole.  
Their focus is to enhance the interests of shareholders 
and other key stakeholders and to ensure the Company is 
properly managed.

The responsibilities of the board include:

•	 �providing strategic guidance to the Group including 
contributing to the development of and approving the 
corporate strategy;

•	 �reviewing and approving business plans, the annual 
budget and financial plans including available resources 
and major capital expenditure initiatives;

•	 �overseeing and monitoring:

	 -	� organisational performance and the achievement of the 
Company’s strategic goals and objectives;

	 -	 compliance with the Company’s Code of Conduct; 

	 -	� progress in relation to the Company’s diversity 
objectives and compliance with its Diversity Policy; and

	 -	� progress of significant corporate projects including any 
acquisitions or divestments;

•	 �monitoring financial performance including approval of 
the annual and half-year financial reports and liaison with 
the Company’s auditors;

•	 �appointment, performance assessment and, if necessary, 
removal of the chief executive officer (‘CEO’);

•	� ratifying the appointment and/or removal and 
contributing to the performance assessment for the 
members of the senior management team including the 
chief financial officer (‘CFO’) and the company secretary;

•	� ensuring there are effective management processes in 
place and approving major corporate initiatives;

•	enhancing and protecting the reputation of the Company;

•	 �overseeing the operation of the Company’s system 
for compliance and risk management reporting to 
shareholders; and

•	 �ensuring appropriate resources are available to senior 
management.

Day to day management of the Company’s affairs and 
the implementation of the corporate strategy and policy 
initiatives are formally delegated by the board to the CEO 
and senior executives.  These delegations are reviewed on 
an annual basis. (Recommendation 1.1)

Appropriate checks are undertaken before appointing 
or putting forward for election any director.  It is the 
Company’s policy to provide all material information 
relevant to a security holder’s decision on whether or not to 
elect or re-elect a director. (Recommendation 1.2)

The directors and senior executives have a clear 
understanding of their roles and responsibilities within the 
Company and of the Company’s expectations of them.  The 
Company has a written agreement with each director and 
senior executive setting out the terms of their appointment.  
The key terms of these agreements are set out in the 
Directors’ Report.  (Recommendation 1.3)

The company secretary is regarded by the board as carrying 
out an important role in supporting the effectiveness of 
the board and its committees.  The company secretary is 
accountable directly to the board, through the Chair, on 
all matters to do with the proper functioning of the board. 
(Recommendation 1.4)

Diversity
The Company strongly values diversity and recognises 
the benefits it can bring to its ability to achieve its goals. 
Accordingly, the Company’s Diversity Policy (available on 
the Company’s website at www.horizonoil.com.au) outlines 
the Company’s gender diversity objectives.  It includes 
requirements for the board to establish measurable 
objectives for achieving gender diversity and for the board 
to assess annually the objectives and the Company’s 
progress in achieving them. 

As outlined in the Code of Conduct and Diversity Policy, 
merit is the basis for employment with the Company and all 
employees and applicants for employment are treated and 
evaluated according to their job-related skills, qualifications, 
abilities and aptitude, regardless of age, disability, ethnicity, 
martial or family status, religious or cultural background, 
sexual orientation and gender identity.  Diversity is 
applicable to all levels of the organisation, including 
senior executive and board positions, and all appointment 
processes are to be conducted in a manner that promotes 
gender diversity in accordance with the Code of Conduct 
and Diversity Policy. (Recommendation 1.5)

In the past financial year, the Company continued its 
commitment in promoting gender and other forms of 
diversity by achieving the 2013/2014 measurable objectives 
set by the board.  The Company continued to review the 
Diversity Policy and undertook an assessment of the 
female participation in the Company’s Papua New Guinean 
operations (where the Company is appointed as Operator) 
and identified culturally appropriate positions in order to 
maximise female representation where appropriate.  The 
Company also continued its commitment to increase the 
representation of women in management roles and under-
represented roles by improving its recruitment process 
to ensure that gender diversity was considered in all 
processes when determining the successful applicant.
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The board has established the following measureable 
objectives in relation to gender diversity for 2014/2015: 

•	 �raise awareness of gender and all types of diversity 
across the organisation; 

•	 �conduct a survey of women in the organisation to identify 
career needs and issues and concerns regarding diversity 
in the workplace; and

•	 �identify issues or goals from the survey conducted to 
consider as measureable objectives for 2015.

The proportion of Australian based female employees in 
the organisation is 47% (nine of nineteen). The three senior 
executive managers of the Company are male, as are the 
four non-executive directors of the Company.   Senior 
executive managers are defined as being key management 
personnel of the Company and the Group. The Company’s 
senior executive managers are set out on page 35. 
(Recommendation 1.5)

Performance assessment
Every year the Chairman conducts a formal discussion 
with each of the directors individually to discuss their 
performance and ideas for improvement of the operation 
of the board and board committees.  This process was last 
performed during 2014.  The board reviews the consolidated 
views, input, comments and deficiencies arising from the 
formal discussions and identifies ways to improve board 
and board committee performance and determine the 
necessary implementation plans for such improvement 
measures. (Recommendation 1.6)

A performance assessment for senior executives took place 
in 2014. Performance was assessed having regard to a 
variety of key performance indicators.  A formal discussion 
with each of the senior executives was undertaken 
during the financial year to evaluate and discuss their 
performance.  (Recommendation 1.7)

PRINCIPLE 2: STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO 
ADD VALUE
The board has a primary responsibility to the shareholders 
for the welfare of the Company by guiding and monitoring 
the business and affairs of the Company.  The Company has 
formalised and defined the functions reserved for board 
accountability and those delegated to management in a 
formal Board Charter.  The board operates in accordance 
with the broad principles set out in the Board Charter. 
The Board Charter details the board’s composition and 
responsibilities.  The Board Charter was in force for the full 
financial year. 

The Company recognises the importance of the board in 
providing a sound base for good corporate governance 
in the operations of the Company.  The board must at 
all times act honestly, fairly and diligently in all respects 
in accordance with the laws applicable to the Company.  
Furthermore, the board will at all times act in accordance 
with all relevant Company policies.

Subject to the prior approval of the Chairman, directors 
and board committees have the right, in connection 
with the discharge of their duties and responsibilities, to 
seek independent professional advice at the Company’s 
expense.

The Company’s Constitution provides that directors, other 
than the CEO, shall not retain office for more than three 
calendar financial years or beyond the third annual general 
meeting following election without submitting for re-
election by shareholders.  

The board has established a number of board committees 
to assist in the execution of its duties and to allow detailed 
consideration of complex issues.  Current committees 
of the board are: Audit, Remuneration and Nomination, 
and Risk Management Committees.  Copies of the Board 
Charter and Charters for each of the board committees 
are posted in the Corporate Governance section of the 
Company’s website at www.horizonoil.com.au.

Board composition
The board seeks to ensure that:

•	� at any point in time, its membership represents an 
appropriate balance between directors with experience 
and knowledge of the Group and directors with an 
external or fresh perspective; and

•	 �the size of the board is conducive to effective discussion 
and efficient decision-making.

The board is comprised of four non-executive directors, and 
one executive director.  The role of Chairman and CEO are 
performed by different individuals. (Recommendation 2.5)

Details of the members of the board, their skills, experience, 
expertise, qualifications and term of office are set out in 
the Directors’ Report. (Recommendation 2.2 and 2.3)  The 
board actively seeks to ensure that the board and its 
committees have the right mix of skills, knowledge and 
experience necessary to guide and govern the Company 
effectively and in accordance with highest standards.  The 
board considers that collectively the current board has the 
range of skills, knowledge and experience necessary to 
direct the Company.  The directors represent a wide range 
of operational and international experience with an in depth 
understanding of the industry.  The combination of skills 
and experience allows for contributions on operational, 
financial and management matters.  The board considers 
that the educational qualifications of the Company’s 
directors represent a good mix of science and engineering, 
finance and accounting and legal skills which are relevant 
to the Company’s business.  In addition, the geographic 
experience of the board is global, encompassing Australia, 
Asia Pacific and the Americas.  (Recommendation 2.2)

Directors are encouraged to attend appropriate training and 
professional development courses to update and enhance 
their skills and knowledge.  New directors are inducted into 
the Company in accordance with the Company’s Director 
Induction Program. (Recommendation 2.6) 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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Directors’ independence
The board has adopted specific principles in relation to 
directors’ independence. These state that when determining 
independence, a director must be a non-executive and the 
board should consider whether the director:

•	 �is, or has been, employed in an executive capacity by the 
entity or any of its child entities and there has not been 
a period of at least three years between ceasing such 
employment and serving on the board;

•	 �is, or has within the last three years been, a partner, 
director or senior employee of a provider of material 
professional services to the entity or any of its child 
entities;

•	 �is, or has been within the last three years, in a material 
business relationship (eg as a supplier or customer) 
with the entity or any of its child entities, or an officer 
of, or otherwise associated with, someone with such a 
relationship;

•	 �is a substantial security holder of the entity or an officer 
of, or otherwise associated with, a substantial security 
holder of the entity;

•	 �has a material contractual relationship with the entity or 
its child entities other than as a director;

•	 �has close family ties with any person who falls within any 
of the categories described above; or

•	 �has been a director of the entity for such a period that his 
or her independence may have been compromised.

The board annually assesses the independence of 
each non-executive director and considers that Messrs 
Ainsworth, Humphrey and Stock satisfy the criteria of being 
independent of management and free from any business or 
other relationship or conflict of interest that could materially 
interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived to 
materially interfere with, the exercise of their independent 
judgement. (Recommendation 2.3)

In determining materiality, the board has regard, among 
other things, to the matters detailed in paragraph 6 of the 
Board Charter.  The board acknowledges that Mr Humphrey 
has been a director for twenty four years, however, given 
the complete change of the Group’s management and 
re-composition of the board thirteen years ago, the board 
considers that there is no objective or subjective reason to 
believe that Mr Humphrey’s period of board service in any 
way would interfere with his ability to bring an independent 
judgement to bear on issues before the board and to act 
in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. 
The board also acknowledges that Mr Ainsworth has been 
a director for thirteen years, however the board considers 
that there is no objective or subjective reason to believe 
that Mr Ainsworth’s period of board service in any way 
would interfere with his ability to act in the best interests 
of the Company and its shareholders. Accordingly, the 
board has assessed Mr Ainsworth and Mr Humphrey to be 
independent directors.  

The board acknowledges that Mr de Nys is a non-
independent director by virtue of his association with a 
substantial shareholder, the IMC Group.  Despite Mr de Nys 
being a non-independent director, the Company was in full 
compliance with Recommendation 2.4 (which recommends 
that a majority of the board be composed of independent 
directors) for the full financial year. 

In the event of a tied vote, the casting vote rests with 
the Chairman, Mr Ainsworth, who is a non-executive 
independent director. 

The board is actively and regularly involved in risk 
management and strategic planning.  The board has an 
active program of continuous improvement, including 
keeping up to date on best practice, fostering a compliance 
culture, training and recognition.

Remuneration and Nomination Committee
The board has established a Remuneration and Nomination 
Committee. (Recommendations 2.1)

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee consists of 
the following non-executive directors, the majority of whom 
are independent, including the Chair:

Independent
E F Ainsworth (Chairman of Committee) 
A Stock 

Non-independent
G de Nys 

The main responsibilities of the Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee in respect of the composition of the 
board are to:

•	assess the skills and competencies required on the board;

•	� from time to time assess the extent to which the required 
skills are represented on the board;

•	� establish processes for the review of the performance of 
individual directors and the board as a whole;

•	 �establish processes for the identification of suitable 
candidates for appointment to the board; and

•	 recommend the appointment and removal of directors.

Details of attendance at meetings of the committee during 
the financial year are detailed in the Directors’ Report.

A copy of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
Charter is available in the Corporate Governance section of 
the Company’s website at www.horizonoil.com.au.

PRINCIPLE 3: ACT ETHICALLY AND 
RESPONSIBLY
The Company has a corporate Code of Conduct (‘Code’) 
that has been fully endorsed by the board and applies 
to all directors and employees.  The Code is updated as 
necessary to ensure it reflects the highest standards of 
behaviour and professionalism and the practices necessary 
to maintain confidence in the Company’s integrity. 
(Recommendation 3.1)

In summary, the Code requires that at all times all Company 
personnel must act with the utmost integrity, objectivity 
and in compliance with both the letter and spirit of the law 
and Company policies.

The Company’s policy in relation to dealings in the 
Company’s securities applies to directors, employees and 
consultants.  In summary, such persons are not permitted 
to deal in the Company’s securities during the twenty-eight 
day period immediately prior to the release of ASX quarterly 
reports, half-yearly and annual financial results to the 
market.  Any intended transactions must be notified to the 
Chairman in advance. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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The Code, Diversity Policy and the Company’s Securities 
Trading Policy are discussed with each new employee as 
part of their induction training. The directors are satisfied 
that the Group and Company have complied with its 
policies on ethical standards, including trading in securities.

The Code, Diversity Policy and the Securities Trading Policy 
are available in the Corporate Governance section of the 
Company’s website at www.horizonoil.com.au.

PRINCIPLE 4: SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN 
CORPORATE REPORTING
The Company recognises the importance of maintaining 
appropriate safeguards and independent oversight of its 
financial reporting and has a structure in place to achieve 
this.  An important part of this structure is the board’s Audit 
Committee. (Recommendation 4.1)

The Audit Committee consists of the following non-
executive independent directors: 

J S Humphrey (Chairman of Committee) 
E F Ainsworth 
A Stock 

The qualifications of Audit Committee members and 
their attendance at meetings of the Committee during 
the financial year ended 30 June 2014 are detailed in the 
Directors’ Report.

In the period 1 July 2013 to the date of this report, the Audit 
Committee was composed of three non-executive directors.  
The board considers that the size and composition of the 
Audit Committee is appropriate to enable its effective and 
efficient operation having regard to the size of the board 
and the relevant qualifications of the members of the Audit 
Committee.  

The board requires the CEO and CFO to provide a 
declaration in accordance with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act 2001.  The board acknowledges that, in 
their opinion, the financial records of the Company have 
been properly maintained and that the financial statements 
comply with the appropriate accounting standards and 
give a true and fair view of the financial position and 
performance of the Company.  That opinion has been 
formed on the basis of a sound system of risk management 
and internal control which is, in their view, operating 
effectively. (Recommendation 4.2)

The Audit Committee has a formal charter that details 
its role and responsibilities, composition, structure and 
membership requirements. 

A copy of the Audit Committee Charter, including 
information on procedures for the selection and 
appointment of the external auditor and for the rotation 
of external audit engagement partners is available in the 
Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website at 
www.horizonoil.com.au.

External auditor
The external auditor attended all Audit Committee 
meetings during the financial year, including holding 
discussions with the Audit Committee at each meeting 
without management present.  The external auditor also 
attended the annual general meeting and was available 
to answer shareholder questions about the conduct of 
the external audit and the preparation and content of the 
independent auditor’s report.  (Recommendation 4.3)

The Company and Audit Committee policy is to appoint an 
external auditor who clearly demonstrates professional 
qualities and independence.  The performance of the 
external auditor is reviewed annually and applications for 
tender of external audit services would be requested, if 
deemed appropriate, taking into consideration assessment 
of performance, existing value and tender costs.

The Company’s policy is to rotate audit engagement 
partners at least every five years.

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors, including 
a breakdown of fees for non-audit services, is provided in 
note 30 to the financial statements.  It is the policy of the 
external auditor to provide an annual declaration of its 
independence to the Audit Committee.

PRINCIPLES 5 AND 6: MAKE TIMELY AND 
BALANCED DISCLOSURE AND RESPECT THE 
RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
The Company has written policies and procedures on 
information disclosure that focus on continuous disclosure 
of any information concerning the Company and its 
subsidiaries that a reasonable person would expect to 
have a material effect on the price of the Company’s 
securities.  These policies and procedures also include 
the arrangements the Company has in place to promote 
communication with shareholders and encourage effective 
participation at annual general meetings. The Continuous 
Disclosure Policy is available in the Corporate Governance 
section of the Company’s website. (Recommendation 5.1 
and 6.1)

The Disclosure Committee consists of the following 
directors, the Chair of which is independent:

E F Ainsworth (Chairman of Committee) 
B D Emmett

The Committee’s role includes responsibility for ensuring 
compliance with the continuous disclosure requirements of 
both the Corporations Act 2001 and the ASX Listing Rules 
and overseeing and co-ordinating information disclosure to 
the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the 
public.

The Chairman, CEO, Company Secretary and Assistant 
Company Secretary have been nominated as persons 
responsible for communications with the ASX.  This role 
includes responsibility for ensuring compliance with the 
continuous disclosure requirements in the ASX Listing Rules 
and overseeing and co-ordinating information disclosure to 
the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the 
public.

All information disclosed to the ASX is posted on the 
Company’s website as soon as it is released by the ASX.  
When presentations on aspects of the Group’s operations 
are made, the material used in the presentation is released 
to the ASX.  Procedures have also been established for 
reviewing whether any price sensitive information has been 
inadvertently disclosed, and if so, this information is also 
immediately released to the market.  The Company seeks 
to provide opportunities for shareholders to participate 
through electronic means.  The website also includes a 
feedback mechanism and an option for shareholders to 
register their e-mail address for direct e-mail updates of 
Company matters. (Recommendations 6.2 and 6.4)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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The Company has written policies and procedures 
which are used to assist the Company in developing and 
promoting its communication with shareholders and 
encouraging effective participation at general meetings.  
The Shareholder Communications Guidelines Policy is 
available in the Corporate Governance section of the 
Company’s website. (Recommendation 6.3)

All shareholders receive a copy of the Company’s annual 
(full or concise) and half-yearly reports. In addition, the 
Company seeks to provide opportunities for shareholders to 
participate through electronic means. Recent initiatives to 
facilitate this include making all Company announcements, 
media briefings, details of Company meetings, press 
releases for the last three years and financial reports for 
the last five years available on the Company’s website.  
(Recommendation 6.4)

PRINCIPLE 7: RECOGNISE AND MANAGE 
RISK
The board, through both the Risk Management and 
Audit Committees, is responsible for ensuring there are 
adequate policies and procedures in place in relation to risk 
management, compliance and internal control systems.

In summary, the Company’s Risk Management Policy is 
designed to ensure strategic, operational, environmental, 
legal, reputational and financial risks are identified, 
assessed, effectively and efficiently monitored and 
managed to enable achievement of the Group’s business 
objectives. (Recommendation 7.1)

Considerable importance is placed on maintaining a strong 
internal control environment.  There is an organisational 
structure with clearly drawn lines of accountability and 
delegation of authority.

Adherence to the corporate Code of Conduct (refer to 
Principle 3) is required at all times and the board actively 
promotes a culture of quality and integrity.

The Company’s Risk Management Policy and procedural 
operation of the risk management and compliance system 
is overseen by the Risk Management Committee which 
consists of all directors and is chaired by an independent 
non-executive director:

A Stock (Chairman of Committee) 
E F Ainsworth 
B D Emmett 
J S Humphrey 
G de Nys

The key function of the committee is to identify and 
prioritise risk arising from business strategies and activities 
and ensure that appropriate risk management controls 
are implemented and are effective.  The committee’s 
responsibilities also include the Company’s internal control 
environment and ensuring that the Company has an 
integrated framework of internal compliance and controls 
based on formal procedures and appropriate delegation of 
authority and responsibility.  

Details of attendance at meetings of the committee during 
the financial year are detailed in the Directors’ Report.

The committee ensures that appropriate risk management 
controls are implemented and effected by meeting with 
senior executives, at least annually, to review and discuss 
the material business risks arising from business strategies 
and the adequacy of the relevant risk management controls 
in place.  This review was conducted during 2013.  The 
Risk Management Committee Chairman (or a delegate) 
reports to the board following each meeting of the Risk 
Management Committee. (Recommendation 7.2)

In accordance with the Risk Management Policy, an 
annual review of the policy and charter was undertaken 
to ensure that it reflected the current best industry 
practice processes. A copy of the Risk Management 
Policy is available in the Corporate Governance section 
of the Company’s website at www.horizonoil.com.au. 
(Recommendation 7.2)

While the Company does not utilise a formal internal audit 
function, given the relative size of the organisation and 
the key roles of the Risk Management Committee and 
Audit Committee in evaluating and continually improving 
the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and 
internal control processes, the board considers the regular 
systematic monitoring of control activities to be sufficient 
to manage current and future risks.  (Recommendation 7.3)

The Company strongly values economic, environmental 
and social sustainability within the areas which it operates. 
In order to mitigate any material exposure to economic, 
environmental and social sustainability risks, the Company 
undertakes regular monitoring and assessment of both 
its operating and non-operating assets to ensure that all 
activities are conducted in a manner that is consistent 
with the Company’s commitment to safe and sustainable 
operations. Current monitoring and assessment has 
not indicated any material exposures in the areas of 
environmental and social sustainability.  The Company has 
written policies and procedures which are implemented 
to protect the well-being and integrity of all stakeholders 
and the social and natural environment in which the 
Company’s operations are positioned. These policies and 
procedures, which include the Company’s Safety & Health 
Policy, Environment Policy, Fitness for Work Policy and 
Security Policy, are discussed with each new employee 
as part of their induction training.  Further details of the 
Company’s sustainability performance and key initiatives 
are set out in the Sustainability Report on pages 55 to 58. 
(Recommendation 7.4) 
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PRINCIPLE 8: REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND 
RESPONSIBLY
The Company has established a Remuneration and 
Nomination Committee. 

The Remuneration and Nomination Committee consists 
of the following directors, the majority of whom are 
independent, including the Chair:

E F Ainsworth (Chairman of Committee) 
A Stock  
G de Nys

Details of attendance at meetings of the Committee during 
the financial year are detailed in the Directors’ Report.  
(Recommendation 8.1)

The Committee’s role is to advise the board on 
remuneration and incentive policies and practices generally, 
and make specific recommendations on remuneration 
packages and other terms of employment for key 
management personnel.  This includes reviewing and 
making recommendations to the board in respect of:

•	an executive remuneration and incentive policy;

•	� the remuneration of the CEO and all senior management 
reporting directly to the CEO; 

•	an executive incentive plan; 

•	an equity based incentive plan; 

•	 the remuneration of non-executive directors; 

•	superannuation arrangements; 

•	 �accidental death and disability insurance and other 
insurance arrangements; 

•	 �recruitment, retention, performance measurement and 
termination policies and procedures for non-executive 
directors, the CEO, the Company Secretary and all senior 
management reporting directly to the CEO; and

•	 �the disclosure of remuneration in Horizon Oil Limited’s 
public materials including ASX filings and the annual 
report.

The Company clearly distinguishes the structure of non-
executive director remuneration from that of executive 
remuneration. The Company’s policy in relation to 
remuneration for both executive and non-executive 
directors is set out in the Remuneration Report. 
(Recommendation 8.2)

Retirement benefits for non-executive directors consist 
only of statutory superannuation contributions.  There 
is no separate retirement benefit plan for non-executive 
directors.

The Company’s Securities Trading Policy prohibits 
employees entering into transactions in financial derivatives 
(including options) which limit the economic risk of 
participating in unvested entitlements under equity based 
remuneration schemes. (Recommendation 8.3)

A copy of the Remuneration and Nomination Committee 
Charter and the Securities Trading Policy is available in the 
Corporate Governance section of the Company’s website at 
www.horizonoil.com.au.

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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SUSTAINABILITY REPORT

1	 Introduction
The Company is committed to the sustainable development 
of its operations.  This report is focused upon those 
assets in Papua New Guinea for which the Company is the 
designated operator.  The Company is committed to the 
audit and assessment of joint venture partners operating 
on its behalf to ensure that activities are conducted in 
a manner consistent with our expectations around the 
sustainable development of its assets.

This report is for the financial year ending 30 June 2014.

The Company’s philosophy towards sustainable 
development is based upon the foundations of its corporate 
policy.  This includes the four areas that the Company 
regards as the pillars of its sustainable development 
strategy.  These include:

•	Safety & Health

•	Security

•	Environment, and

•	Community

Each pillar will be discussed in greater detail within this 
Sustainability Report.

2	 Safety & Health
The Company is committed to the maintenance of a safe 
and healthy working environment for all personnel including 
its sub-contractors, attending vendors and visitors.  No 
fatalities resulted from the conduct of the Company’s 
activities during the reporting period. The Company remains 
proud of its record of not having suffered a fatal injury 
during its history as an operator.  The Company has taken 
this strong performance as a challenge to continue to 
safeguard the wellbeing of all those that may be associated 
with its operations in the future.  

During the reporting period the Company has achieved 
a Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (‘LTIFR’) of 2.8.  The 
Company targets an injury rate that outperforms the 
average within the industry as reported in the Safety 
Performance Indicator Series published annually by OGP.  
In 2014, the Company did not meet this target. For the 
purposes of this report the Company calculates its LTIFR 
based only on hours worked directly in field.  This does 
not include hours attributable to the corporate or office 
environments.  It should be recognised that the activities 
in which the Company is primarily engaged are recognised 
as amongst the highest risk categories in the Oil and Gas 
industry generally.  This has not diverted the organisation 
from targeting a performance that meets or exceeds that of 
the industry overall.

Year 2012 2013 2014

LTIFR 2.9 0.0 2.8

Table 1.0 – Lost Time Injury Frequency Rate (LTIFR) for the Company 

During the reporting period the Company successfully 
drilled the Tingu-1 well in Petroleum Retention Licence 
21 (‘PRL 21’).  Following the demobilisation of the drilling 
rig from the Tingu-1 location to the Stanley location the 
rig was placed into warm stack. On 30 May 2014, the 
Petroleum Development Licence 10 (‘PDL 10’) was granted, 
at which point ramp-up and remobilisation activities were 
commenced.

During this period a total of 5 recordable injuries were 
reported.  This included three medical treatment injuries 
(‘MTIs’) and two lost time injuries (‘LTIs’).  All injured 
personnel were treated by on-site medical staff and have 
subsequently returned to full duties.  During the reporting 
period 16 significant or high potential incidents were 
reported.  Each of these was investigated and remedial 
actions designed, developed and implemented.  Three 
quarters of all significant incidents reported were related to 
Safety and Health.  No environmental significant incidents 
were reported during the period.  

3	 Security
The Company’s Security Policy sets standards that detail its 
expectations for the protection of its personnel, its assets 
and the public.  The Company conducts its operations in a 
manner consistent with the Voluntary Principles on Security 
and Human Rights.   During the period no actions contrary 
to the Principles were reported.  

Three high potential security incidents were reported 
during the period.  Analysis of these incidents indicates 
that in each instance the underlying causes were related to 
sporadic unrest that is consistent with the existing working 
environment in Papua New Guinea and was not targeted at 
the Company employees or assets.

It is recognised by the Company that the security of its 
assets and personnel is dependent upon it maintaining 
a high standing within the communities that host its 
operations.  To this end the Company remains committed 
to the engagement and development of local personnel 
and businesses to develop and deliver a functional security 
capability.  The Company works in partnership with its 
local businesses, coaching and regularly assessing their 
performance and capability to ensure that standards 
are met and upheld.  Currently, greater than 70% of 
security services for the Company facilities are provided 
by companies that are registered within the North Fly 
Region.  Of the personnel employed in the provision of 
security services at the Company facilities of the Stanley 
development operations, greater than 90% of individuals 
are drawn from individuals residing within the operations 
immediate area of influence.
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The Company intends to maintain coaching and 
development partnerships with local groups to enable the 
development of skills and capability that are transferable 
and sustainable beyond an engagement with the Company.  

4	 Environment
During the reporting period no high potential environmental 
incidents were reported.

The Company has developed and implemented an 
extensive environmental monitoring program that 
assesses the impacts of its operations on the surrounding 
environment.  During the reporting period no acts or 
omissions contrary to permit or regulatory limits were 
identified.  

During the reporting period the Company developed 
and implemented a program of environmental studies 
and assessment that resulted in it receiving milestone 
approvals from regulatory bodies supporting its proposed 
developments.  Milestone approvals and submissions 
included:

•	Stanley Development – Minister’s Approval in Principle

•	� Stanley Development – Environment Permits for Drilling 
and Construction

•	Elevala Development – Notification of Preparatory Works

•	Elevala Development – Environmental Inception Report

•	Elevala Development – Environmental Impact Statement 

The Company is committed to the identification and 
management of all potential environmental impacts of 
its operations.  To this end it has undertaken significant 
and extensive environmental surveys in the areas 
in which it intends to conduct its operations.  These 
include both baseline environmental surveys for the 
Elevala development, the proposed Nama drilling and 
pre-clearance survey program in support of the Stanley 
development.  These included:

•	social and cultural heritage;

•	noise and dust;

•	soil and contaminated sites;

•	hydrology and water quality;

•	aquatic ecology;

•	 terrestrial ecology; and

•	ecosystem services.

Impact Management 
The Company has developed a Biodiversity Management 
and Offsets Strategy.  This is applied on a hierarchical 
basis to avoid and then mitigate impacts which have the 
potential to occur as a result of proposed operations.  This 
is shown below in Figure 1.0.

The Company is working closely with the Department of 
Environment and Conservation to develop an effective 
mechanism for the assessment and measurement of 
residual impacts on biodiversity and the assessment of 
proposed biodiversity off-sets.

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 
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Where impact cannot be avoided  - work within regualtory framework to identify and quantify  
an appropriate biodiversity offset

Avoid 
or 

Reduce 
Disturbance 

Identify species or 
ecosystems of biodiversity 

significance

Avoid or reduce disturbance to areas of 
biodiversity significance

Where impact cannot be avoided - study and quantify  
the signficince  

Where impact cannot be avoided - agree conservation priorities with  
regulatory agencies

Figure 1.0 – Biodiversity  
Management & Offsets Strategy



57

5	 Community
The Company values the communities within which it 
operates and endeavours to ensure that local land-
owners are identified correctly and remain integral to the 
development of resources within their areas.  To ensure 
that this process remains fair and equitable the Company 
has assessed and mapped the clan boundaries within 
its areas of proposed development.  This has involved 
extensive programs of field work to assess the communities 
and their history of development in conjunction with the 
relevant regulatory agencies.  The studies undertaken are 
transferred into a database that can act as a platform for 
future discussions within the region.

The Company has developed and implemented strategies 
to facilitate community engagement and to maximise local 
content within its operations.  The Company is committed 
to the employment of personnel and the engagement of 
services where practicable from within the communities 
that host its operations.  This is based on a hierarchical 
framework that gives priority based on capability 
and locality.  Where personnel or service providers of 
comparable capability are identified priority will be given in 
the following order:

1.	 from within the project impacted area; 
2.	 from within the Western Province; and 
3. from within Papua New Guinea.

The Company is committed to the sustainable development 
of communities within which it operates.  The desire to 
return benefit to the community through employment 
and business engagement is tempered by the need to 
ensure that the systems and structures supporting local 
business developments and initiatives are sustainable. 
This has been developed on a foundation of capable, 
experienced personnel providing support from within 
local communities.  Initiatives include community skills 
assessment which allows the matching of local capability to 
particular business development opportunity.  This ground-
up approach has fostered the establishment of locally-led 
initiatives including:

•	security service provision;

•	 light transport for personnel and equipment;

•	 labour hire;

•	 food supply and delivery;

•	 �implementation of food supply businesses providing 
enhanced food security within the region; and

•	 �ongoing active assistance in community development 
initiatives being supported by locally-based non-
governmental organisations (‘NGOs’). 

During the year the Company embarked on a scholarship 
program in which a high-potential member of the local 
community is provided assistance with their studies in 
combination with a dedicated work experience program.  
Rogana Yandit (Community Affairs Officer) is pictured 
below (Figure 2.0) working with the community in Gasuke 
undertaking a resource use mapping study prior to her 
return to studies.  This program is designed to develop 
a pipeline of young talent in the sciences supporting the 
Company’s sustainable development programs.  It is 
hoped that the fostering of potential will contribute to the 
emergence of the next generation of locally-based Papuan 
leaders.  

SUSTAINABILITY REPORT 
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Figure 2.0 – Resource Use Mapping in Gasuke

The Company recognises that its Social Licence to Operate 
depends on the strength of its relationships with its host 
communities.  These relationships must be built on trust 
and a commitment to making a positive contribution to the 
community in which the Company operates. Importantly, 
this commitment must be expressed at each level of the 
Company from the corporate office to the field.  An example 
of this personal commitment is highlighted below in an 
excerpt from the Post Courier (PNG newspaper) dated  
14 August 2014.

Figure 3.0 Courtesy Papua New Guinea Post Courier 14 August 2013

The Company also provides substantial financial and in kind 
support to the activities of two Western Province based 
charities, Australian Doctors International (‘ADI’) and Mercy 
Works.  The work of both organisations is focused primarily 
on building partnerships with local communities to enhance 
capacity and self reliance in an area where access to basic 
resources such as education, health care and social welfare 
is limited or non-existent. 
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An example of the activity undertaken by these two organisations is a recent Village Health Volunteer training undertaken 
by Mercy Works at Tarakbits, Western Province.  The training course took place over six weeks between 9 June and 25 July 
2014 and involved a number of women who are active village birth attendants.  The program is aimed at enhancing the 
skills and techniques of local health workers who often work in extremely remote locations with limited recourse to outside 
assistance.  The Tarakbits training program was the first in a series of such events to take place over the next 18 months in 
the North Fly District of Western Province.

Figure 4.0 Village Health Volunteers Training – Tarakbits, WP. Photo courtesy of Mercy Works July 2014

Further information on the activities of both Mercy Works and ADI can be found on their websites, www.mercyworks.org.au 
and www.adi.org.au.

6	 Conclusion
The Company is committed to the sustainable development of its operations within the communities and environments 
that host its activities.  The Company regards this commitment as an integral component of an ongoing, long-term 
engagement with its host communities.  

The Company builds its activities on a framework established from corporate policy and assesses its performance against 
both internal and industry standards.

The 2014 Annual Report marks the first submission of the Company’s Sustainability Report as a component of its 
corporate reporting.  However this should be seen as an extension of established internal governance processes rather 
than a newly minted development.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE  
MEMBERS OF HORIZON OIL LIMITED

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers, ABN 52 780 433 757 
Darling Park Tower 2, 201 Sussex Street, GPO BOX 2650, SYDNEY NSW 1171  
T +61 2 8266 0000, F +61 2 8266 9999, www.pwc.com.au  
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

Independent auditor’s report to the members of Horizon Oil 
Limited 

Report on the financial report 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of Horizon Oil Limited (the company), which 
comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014, the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in 
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date, a summary of 
significant accounting policies, other explanatory notes and the directors’ declaration for Horizon Oil 
Limited (the consolidated entity). The consolidated entity comprises the company and the entities it 
controlled at year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 
financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In Note 1, the 
directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 Presentation of Financial 
Statements, that the financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the consolidated 
entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well 
as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Independence 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 



60 HORIZON OIL ANNUAL REPORT 2014

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE 
MEMBERS OF HORIZON OIL LIMITED
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
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Auditor’s opinion 
In our opinion: 

1. the financial report of Horizon Oil Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including: 

2. giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June 
2014 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

3. complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting 
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

4. the financial report and notes also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
disclosed in Note 1. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 
We have audited the remuneration report included in pages 34 to 45 of the directors’ report for the year 
ended 30 June 2014. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Auditor’s opinion 
In our opinion, the remuneration report of Horizon Oil Limited for the year ended 30 June 2014 
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 

Peter Buchholz Sydney 
Partner 27 August 2014 
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In the directors’ opinion:

(a)	 the financial statements and notes are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 including:

	    (i) �	complying with Australian Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory 
professional reporting requirements; and

	   (ii) ��giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its performance for 
the financial year ended on that date; and

(b) �	there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due 
and payable; and

Note 1 confirms that the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board.

The directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required by 
Section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

 

E F Ainsworth am 
Chairman

B D Emmett 
Chief Executive Officer

Sydney 
27 August 2014

DIRECTORS’  
DECLARATION
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS  
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014 

         Consolidated

Note 2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Revenue from continuing operations 6 138,450 48,071

Cost of sales 7 (92,716) (22,685)

Gross profit 45,734 25,386

Profit from sale of assets 5 23,830 -

Other income 6 234 30

General and administrative expenses 7 (8,183) (7,038)

Exploration and development expenses 7 (10,520) (606)

Financing costs 7 (18,899) (8,209)

Unrealised movement in value of convertible bond conversion rights 6 412 991

Other expenses 7 (2,581) (529)

Profit before income tax expense 30,027 10,025

NZ royalty tax expense 8a 262 (3,982)

Income tax expense 8b (17,459) (2,569)

Profit for the financial year 12,830 3,474

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges 25 (5,303) (778)

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - -

Total comprehensive income for the financial year 7,527 2,696

Profit attributable to members of Horizon Oil Limited 12,830 3,474

Total comprehensive income attributable to members of Horizon Oil Limited 7,527 2,696

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Horizon Oil Limited:

US cents US cents

Basic earnings per ordinary share 41a 1.00 0.31

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 41b 1.00 0.30

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AS AT 30 JUNE 2014 

 

 

            Consolidated

Note 2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 9 98,911 19,028

Receivables 10 15,477 18,956

Inventories 11 5,281 7,898

Current tax receivable - 650

Other assets 12 1,674 832

Total current assets 121,343 47,364

Non-current assets

Deferred tax assets 13 2,306 10,441

Plant and equipment 14 5,558 8,206

Exploration phase expenditure 15 74,658 92,538

Oil and gas assets 16 311,038 317,637

Total non-current assets 393,560 428,822

Total assets 514,903 476,186

Current liabilities

Payables 17 35,715 40,150

Derivative financial instruments 18 5,935 1,237

Current tax payable 1,596 803

Borrowings 19 44,165 14,735

Provisions 23 12,497 -

Total current liabilities 99,908 56,925

Non-current liabilities

Payables 20 54 21,253

Derivative financial instruments 18 222 -

Deferred tax liability 22 17,106 17,064

Borrowings 19 143,281 180,831

Other financial liabilities 21 17,024 17,436

Provisions 23 14,742 15,664

Total non-current liabilities 192,429 252,248

Total liabilities 292,337 309,173

Net assets 222,566 167,013

Equity

Contributed equity 24 174,801 128,038

Reserves 25a 3,844 7,884

Retained profits 25b 43,921 31,091

Total equity 222,566 167,013

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Consolidated Attributable to members of Horizon Oil Limited

Contributed 
equity

Reserves Retained  
profits

Total

Note US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Balance as at 1 July 2012 126,686 7,421 27,617 161,724

Profit for financial year 25(b) - - 3,474 3,474

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges 25(a) - (778) - (778)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year - (778) 3,474 2,696

Transactions with owners in their capacity as equity 
holders:

Ordinary shares issued, net of transaction costs 24(b) 1,352 - - 1,352

Employee share-based payments expense 25(a) - 1,241 - 1,241

1,352 1,241 - 2,593

Balance as at 30 June 2013 128,038 7,884 31,091 167,013

Balance as at 1 July 2013 128,038 7,884 31,091 167,013

Profit for the financial year 25(b) - - 12,830 12,830

Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges 25(a) -           
(5,303)

- (5,303)

Total comprehensive income for the financial year - (5,303) 12,830 7,527

Transactions with owners in their capacity as equity 
holders:

Ordinary shares issued, net of transaction costs 24(b) 46,763 - - 46,763

Employee share-based payments expense 25(a) -  1,263 - 1,263

46,763 1,263 - 48,026

Balance as at 30 June 2014 174,801 3,844 43,921 222,566

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

	

            Consolidated

Note 2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from customers 139,336 43,144

Payments to suppliers and employees (55,987) (11,494)

83,349 31,650

Interest received 234 24

Interest paid (11,042) (7,980)

Income taxes paid (7,575) (8,221)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 40 64,966 15,473

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for exploration phase expenditure (42,422) (29,732)

Payments for oil and gas assets (49,654) (94,756)

Proceeds from deposit on sale of assets - 20,400

Proceeds from sale of oil and gas assets 52,600 -

Proceeds from sale of exploration phase assets 1,000 -

Reimbursement of oil and gas asset expenditure 22,627 -

Reimbursement of exploration phase expenditure 615 -

Payments for plant and equipment (836) (128)

Payments for acquisition of exploration assets - (783)

Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (16,070) (104,999)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 49,014 766

Payments for transaction costs arising on ordinary shares issued (2,251) -

Proceeds from borrowings (net of transaction costs) - 104,561

Repayment of borrowings (15,170) (15,877)

Net cash inflow from financing activities 31,593 89,450

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 80,489 (76)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 19,028 19,287 

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents held in foreign 
currencies

(606) (183)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 98,911 19,028

 The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

joint operations. The accounting for the Group’s joint 
operations has not changed as a result of the adoption 
of AASB 11. The Group continues to recognise its direct 
right to the, and its share of, jointly held assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses of joint operations.

•	� AASB 12 ‘ Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities’ is a 
new disclosure standard and is applicable to the Group 
as it has interests in subsidiaries and joint arrangements. 
In general, the application of AASB 12 has resulted in 
additional disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements but this has not had a material impact on the 
current financial year consolidated financial statements.

Other new Australian Accounting Standards that are 
applicable for the first time for the Group are AASB 13 
‘Fair Value Measurement’, AASB 2012-2 ‘Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’ and 
AASB 2012-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-2011 
Cycle’. These standards have introduced new disclosures 
but did not affect the Group’s accounting policies or any 
of the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements.

In addition, during July 2011, the AASB decided to remove 
the individual key management personnel disclosure 
requirements from AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’, 
to achieve consistency with the international equivalent 
standard and remove a duplication of the requirements 
with the Corporations Act 2001. While this reduced the 
disclosures that are currently required in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, it did not affect any 
of the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial 
statements. The amendments applied from 1 July 2013.

Early adoption of standards
The Group has elected to apply the following 
pronouncement to the financial year beginning 1 July 2013:

(i)	�AASB 9 Financial Instruments, AASB 2009-11 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 9, and AASB 2010-7 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
(effective from 1 January 2013)

AASB 9 Financial Instruments addresses the classification, 
measurement and derecognition of financial assets and 
financial liabilities.  In December 2013, the AASB issued 
a revised version of AASB 9 incorporating three primary 
changes: 

1.	�New hedge accounting requirements including changes to 
hedge effectiveness testing, treatment of hedging costs, 
risk components that can be hedged and disclosures;

2.	�Entities may elect to apply only the accounting for gains 
and losses from own credit risk without applying the other 
requirements of AASB 9 at the same time; and

3. The mandatory effective date moved to 1 January 2017. 

Given that these changes are focused on simplifying some 
of the complexities surrounding hedge accounting, Horizon 
Oil Limited has elected to early adopt the amendments 
in order to ensure hedge accounting can continue to be 
applied and to avoid unnecessary volatility within the profit 
and loss. 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies
A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted 
in the preparation of the financial statements are set out 
below.  These policies have been consistently applied, 
unless otherwise stated.  The financial statements are for 
the consolidated entity consisting of Horizon Oil Limited 
and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’).

The nature of the operations and principal activities for the 
Group are described in the Directors’ Report.

(a) Basis of preparation
These general purpose financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board, Urgent Issues 
Group Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001.

The financial report has been prepared on a going concern 
basis which contemplates the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business as 
they become due.

Compliance with IFRS
The consolidated financial statements of Horizon Oil 
Limited also comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (‘IFRS’) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (‘IASB’).

New and amended standards adopted by the Group
The Group has adopted all of the new and revised 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued 
by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that 
are relevant to its operations and effective for the financial 
year ended 30 June 2014.

New and revised Australian Accounting Standards and 
amendments thereof and Interpretations effective for the 
financial year that are relevant to the Group include: 

•	� AASB 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’. AASB 10 
replaced the guidance on control and consolidation 
in AASB 127 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements’ and in Interpretation 112 ‘Consolidation – 
Special Purpose Entities’. Under the new principles, the 
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, 
or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. The Group reviewed 
its investments in subsidiaries to assess whether the 
consolidation conclusion in relation to these entities 
is different under AASB 10 than under AASB 127. No 
differences were found and therefore no adjustments to 
any of the carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements was required as a result of the adoption of 
AASB 10.

•	� AASB 11 ‘Joint Arrangements’. Under AASB 11, joint 
arrangements are classified as either joint operations 
or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights 
and obligations rather than the legal structure of the 
joint arrangement. The Group assessed the nature 
of its joint arrangements and determined them to be 
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Historical cost convention
These financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation 
of financial assets and liabilities (including derivative 
instruments) at fair value through profit or loss, or other 
comprehensive income where hedge accounting is adopted.

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates.  It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process 
of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3.

Changes in accounting policies 
A review of the Group’s accounting policies, following the 
commencement of production in China, has resulted in a 
change to the Group’s accounting policy which affected 
items recognised in the financial statements. 

(i) �Oil & gas assets – restoration provision
Legislation in China requires the provision for  
restoration to be paid over the remaining life of the field.  
As such, payments relating to restoration provisions of 
US$12.5 million are recognised as current, being due  
within 12 months.

(b) Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 
assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Horizon Oil Limited 
(the ‘Company’ or ‘Parent Entity’) as at 30 June 2014 and the 
results of all subsidiaries for the financial year then ended.  
Horizon Oil Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred 
to in these financial statements as the Group.

Subsidiaries are those entities (including special purpose 
entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the 
financial and operating policies, generally accompanying 
a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights.  
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are 
currently exercisable or convertible are considered when 
assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-
consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account 
for business combinations by the Group (refer to Note 
1(m)). Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains on transactions between Group companies are 
eliminated.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the 
asset transferred.  Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with 
the policies adopted by the Group.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in 
the individual financial statements of Horizon Oil Limited.  
These investments may have subsequently been written 
down to their recoverable amount determined by reference 
to the net assets of the subsidiaries as at 30 June each 
financial year where this is less than cost.

Joint operations
A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the 
participants that have joint control of the arrangement (i.e. 
joint operators) have rights to the assets, and obligations 
for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement.

The Group recognises assets, liabilities, revenues and 
expenses according to its share in the assets, liabilities, 
revenues and expenses of a joint operation or similar as 
determined and specified in contractual arrangements 
(Joint Operating Agreements).  Details of major joint 
operation interests and the sum of the Group’s interests in 
joint operation assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses are 
set out in Note 29.

Where part of a joint operation interest is farmed out in 
consideration of the farminee undertaking to incur further 
expenditure on behalf of both the farminee and the entity in 
the joint operation area of interest, exploration expenditure 
incurred and carried forward prior to farm-out continues to 
be carried forward without adjustment, unless the terms 
of the farm-out are excessive based on the diluted interest 
retained.  An impairment provision is then made to reduce 
exploration expenditure to its estimated recoverable 
amount.  Any cash received in consideration for farming out 
part of a joint operation interest is recognised in the profit 
or loss.

(c) �Crude oil and gas inventory and materials 
in inventory

Crude oil and gas inventories, produced but not sold, are 
valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Cost 
comprises a relevant proportion of all fixed and variable 
production, overhead, restoration and amortisation 
expenses and is determined on an average cost basis.

Stocks of materials inventory, consumable stores and spare 
parts are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value, with cost primarily determined on an average cost 
basis.

(d) Under/ overlift
Crude oil underlifts and overlifts arise on differences in 
quantities between the Group’s production entitlement and 
the production either sold or held as inventory.  Underlifts 
and overlifts of entitlement to crude oil production are 
recorded as a current receivable and current payable 
respectively and are measured at market value with the 
corresponding entry to cost of sales in the profit or loss.

(e) Operating segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker.  The chief operating decision maker, who 
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been 
identified as the Board of Directors.
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(f) Foreign currency translation
(i)	 Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the 
Group’s subsidiaries are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the subsidiary 
operates (the ‘functional currency’).  The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in United States dollars, 
which is Horizon Oil Limited’s functional and presentation 
currency.  Horizon Oil Limited has selected US dollars as its 
presentation currency for the following reasons:

(a) �a significant portion of Horizon Oil Limited’s activity is 
denominated in US dollars; and

(b) �it is widely understood by Australian and international 
investors and analysts.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the 
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions.  Foreign exchange gains and 
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions 
and from the translation at financial year end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are generally recognised in the profit or 
loss. They are deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying 
cash flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges or 
are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign 
operation.

(iii) Group companies
The results and financial position of all the Group 
subsidiaries (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency 
different from the presentation currency are translated into 
the presentation currency as follows:

•	 �assets and liabilities for each statement of financial 
position presented are translated at the closing rate at 
the date of that statement of financial position;

•	 �income and expenses for each statement of 
comprehensive income are translated at average 
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable 
approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates 
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case 
income and expenses are translated at the dates of the 
transactions); and

•	 �all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a 
separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the 
translation of any net investment in subsidiaries, and of 
borrowings and other financial instruments designated as 
hedges of such investments, are taken to equity.  When a 
foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part 
of the net investment are repaid, a proportionate share of 
such exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss, 
as part of the gain or loss on sale where applicable.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the 
acquisition of a subsidiary are treated as assets and 
liabilities of the subsidiaries and translated at the closing 
rate.

(g) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable to the extent it is probable that 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue 
can be reliably measured.  Amounts disclosed as revenue 
are net of returns, trade allowances and amounts collected 
on behalf of third parties. All revenue is stated net of the 
amount of GST.

For product sales, revenue is bought to account when the 
product is passed from the Group’s physical control under 
an enforceable contract, when selling prices are known or 
can be reasonably estimated and the products are in a form 
that requires no further treatment by the Group.

Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis 
using the effective interest method.

(h) Taxation
(i) Income tax
The income tax expense or revenue for the reporting 
period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each 
jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax 
losses.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of 
the tax laws enacted or substantially enacted at the end of 
the reporting period in the countries where the Company’s 
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income.  It 
establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of 
amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability 
method, on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts in the financial statements.  Deferred income 
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
been enacted or substantially by the end of the reporting 
period and are expected to apply when the related deferred 
income tax asset is realised or deferred income tax liability 
is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to 
utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for 
temporary differences between the carrying amount 
and tax bases of investments in subsidiaries where the 
parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.  In this 
case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity, respectively. 
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(ii) Government royalties
Government royalties are treated as taxation arrangements 
when they are imposed under Government authority and 
when the calculation of the amount payable is derived from 
a measure of profit that falls within the definition of ‘taxable 
profit’ for the purposes of AASB 112 Income Taxes.  Current 
and deferred tax is then provided on the same basis as 
described in (i) above.  Royalty arrangements that do not 
meet the criteria for treatment as a tax are recognised on 
an accruals basis.

(i)	 Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group 
has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases (Note 38).  Finance leases are 
capitalised at the lease’s inception at the lower of the fair 
value of the leased property and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, including any bargain purchase 
price where its payment is considered probable.  The 
corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges, are 
included in borrowings.  Each lease payment is allocated 
between the liability and finance cost.  The finance cost 
is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as 
to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period.  Plant and 
equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated 
over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases (Note 38).  Payments made 
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from 
the lessor) are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease.

(j) Impairment of assets
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.  An impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount 
is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
value in use.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, 
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there 
are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely 
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (‘cash-generating units’).

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
For presentation purposes in the statement of cash flows, 
cash and cash equivalents includes cash at banks and on 
hand (including share of joint operation cash balances), 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-
term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.  Bank 
overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities 
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(l) Trade receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision 
for doubtful debts.  Trade receivables are generally due for 
settlement within 30 days from the date of recognition.  
They are included in current assets, except for those 
with maturities greater than one year after the end of the 
reporting period which are classified as non-current assets.

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an 
ongoing basis.  Debts which are known to be uncollectible 
are written off.  A provision for doubtful receivables is 
established when there is objective evidence that the 
Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according 
to the original terms of receivables.  The amount of the 
provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  The 
amount of the provision is recognised in profit or loss.

(m) Business combinations
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account 
for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the 
fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred, 
equity interests issued by the Group, fair value of any 
asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement, and fair value of any pre-existing equity 
interest in the subsidiary.  Identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially 
at their fair values at the acquisition date.  Acquisition 
related costs are expensed as incurred.

For purchase combinations which do not constitute 
the acquisition of a business, the Group identifies and 
recognises the individual identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. The consideration paid is allocated 
to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the 
basis of their relative fair values at the date of purchase. 
Transaction costs associated with the acquisition are 
a component of the consideration transferred and are 
therefore capitalised.

(n) Exploration phase expenditure
Exploration phase expenditure in respect of each area 
of interest is accounted for using the successful efforts 
method of accounting.  The successful efforts method 
requires all exploration phase expenditure to be expensed 
in the period it is incurred, except the costs of successful 
wells, the costs of acquiring interests in new exploration 
assets and pre-development costs where there is a high 
degree of probability that the development will go ahead, 
which are capitalised.  Costs directly associated with the 
drilling of exploration wells are initially capitalised pending 
determination of whether potentially economic reserves 
of hydrocarbons have been discovered. Areas of interest 
are recognised at the cash-generating unit level, being the 
smallest grouping of assets generating independent cash 
flows which usually is represented by an individual oil or 
gas field.
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As capitalised exploration phase expenditure is not 
available for use, it is not amortised.

When an oil or gas field has been approved for 
development, the capitalised exploration phase expenditure 
is reclassified as oil and gas assets in the statement of 
financial position.  Prior to reclassification, capitalised 
exploration phase expenditure is assessed for impairment.

Impairment of capitalised exploration phase 
expenditure
Exploration phase expenditure is reviewed for impairment 
semi-annually in accordance with the requirements of AASB 
6 ‘Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources’.  The 
carrying value of capitalised exploration phase expenditure 
is assessed for impairment at the asset or cash-generating 
unit level (which usually is represented by an exploration 
permit or licence) whenever facts and circumstances (as 
defined in AASB 6) suggest that the carrying amount of the 
asset may exceed its recoverable amount.  If any indication 
of impairment exists, an estimate of the asset’s recoverable 
amount is calculated.

An impairment loss exists when the carrying amount of 
an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its estimated 
recoverable amount. The asset or cash-generating unit is 
then written-down to its recoverable amount. Impairment 
losses are recognised as an expense in profit or loss.

Capitalised exploration phase expenditure that 
suffered impairment are tested for possible reversal 
of the impairment loss whenever facts or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the impairment may have 
reversed.

(o) Oil and gas assets
(i)	 Development expenditure
Development expenditure is stated at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses.  Development 
expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Group is 
accumulated separately for fields in which proven and 
probable hydrocarbon reserves have been identified to 
the satisfaction of directors.  Such expenditure comprises 
direct costs and overhead expenditure incurred which can 
be directly attributable to the development phase or is 
acquired through the acquisition of a permit.

Once a development decision has been taken on an oil or 
gas field, the carrying amount of the relevant exploration 
and evaluation expenditure in respect of the relevant area 
of interest is aggregated with the relevant development 
expenditure.

Development expenditure is reclassified as ’production 
assets’ at the end of the commissioning phase, when 
the oil or gas field is capable of operating in the manner 
intended by management (that is, when commercial levels 
of production are capable of being achieved).

No amortisation expense is recognised in respect of 
development expenditure until it is reclassified as a 
production asset.

In accordance with Australian Accounting Standard AASB116 
‘Property, Plant and Equipment’, revenue from saleable oil 
or gas produced during the development phase of an oil or 
gas field, prior to the commencement of commercial levels 
of production, has been credited to sales revenue, but an 
amount based on such revenue has been charged to cost 
of sales and credited against development expenditure 
capitalised, so as to record a zero gross profit on such 
production.

Development expenditure is tested for impairment in 
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 1(j).

(ii) Production Assets
When further development costs are incurred in respect of 
a production asset after the commencement of production, 
such expenditure is carried forward as part of the 
production asset when it is probable that additional future 
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow 
to the Group.  Otherwise such expenditure is classified as 
production expense in income statements when incurred.

Production assets are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Once commercial levels of production commence, 
amortisation is charged using the unit-of-production 
method.  The unit-of-production method results in an 
amortisation expense proportional to the depletion of 
proven and probable hydrocarbon reserves for field.  
Production assets are amortised by area of interest in the 
proportion of actual production for the financial period 
to the proven and probable hydrocarbon reserves of the 
field.  The proven and probable hydrocarbon reserves figure 
is that estimated at the end of the financial period plus 
production during the financial period.

The cost element of the unit-of-production calculation is 
the capitalised costs incurred to date for the field together 
with the estimated / anticipated future development 
costs (stated at current financial period-end unescalated 
prices) of obtaining access to all the proven and probable 
hydrocarbon reserves included in the unit-of-production 
calculation.

Production assets are tested for impairment in accordance 
with the accounting policy set out in Note 1(j).

(iii) Restoration provision
The estimated costs of decommissioning and removing 
an asset and restoring the site are included in the cost of 
the asset as at the date the obligation first arises and to 
the extent that it is first recognised as a provision.  This 
restoration asset is subsequently amortised on a unit-of-
production basis.

The corresponding provision, of an amount equivalent to 
the restoration asset created, is reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period.  The provision is measured at the best 
estimate of the present value amount required to settle the 
present obligation at the end of the reporting period based 
on current legal and other requirements and technology, 
discounted where material using market yields at the 
balance sheet date on Australian Government bonds with 
terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.
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Where there is a change in the expected restoration, 
rehabilitation or decommissioning costs, an adjustment is 
recorded against the carrying value of the provision and any 
related restoration asset, and the effects are recognised in 
profit or loss on a prospective basis over the remaining life 
of the operation.

The unwinding of the effect of discounting on the 
restoration provision is included within finance costs in 
profit or loss.

Legislation in China requires the provision for  
restoration to be paid over the remaining life of the field.   
As such, payments relating to restoration provisions of 
US$12.5 million are recognised as current, being due  
within 12 months.

(iv) Reserves
The estimated reserves include those determined on an 
annual basis by Mr Alan Fernie, Manager – Exploration and 
Development, Horizon Oil Limited.  Mr Fernie has thirty 
eight years’ relevant experience within the sector.  The 
reserve estimates are determined by Mr Fernie based on 
assumptions, interpretations, and assessments.  These 
include assumptions regarding commodity prices, foreign 
exchange rates, operating costs and capital expenditures, 
and interpretations of geological and geophysical models 
to make assessments of the quantity of hydrocarbons and 
anticipated recoveries.

(p) Investments and other financial assets
Subsidiaries are accounted for in the consolidated financial 
statements as set out in Note 1(b).

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market.  They arise when the Group provides 
money, goods or services directly to a debtor with no 
intention of selling the receivable.  They are included in 
current assets, except for those with maturities greater 
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period which 
are classified as non-current assets.  Loans and receivables 
are included in receivables in the statement of financial 
position.

(q) Plant and equipment
The cost of improvements to or on leasehold property is 
depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the 
estimated useful life of the improvement to the Group, 
whichever is shorter.

Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the 
straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued 
amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated 
useful lives, as follows:

•	 �Computer equipment                       3 – 4 years
•	 �Furniture, fittings and equipment    3 – 10 years
•	Leasehold improvement                  10 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, 
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of the reporting 
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is 
greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing 
proceeds with carrying amount.  These are included in profit 
or loss.

(r) Trade and other payables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services 
provided to the Group prior to the end of financial year 
which are unpaid.  Due to their short-term nature they 
are not discounted.  The amounts are unsecured and 
are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.  They 
are included in current liabilities, except for those with 
maturities greater than one year after the end of the 
reporting period which are classified as non-current 
liabilities.

(s) Derivatives
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date 
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date.  The 
accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends 
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 
instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.  
The Group designates certain derivatives as either;  
(1) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities 
or a firm commitment (fair value hedge); or (2) hedges 
of the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities and 
highly probable forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).

The Group documents at the inception of the hedging 
transaction the relationship between hedging instruments 
and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective 
and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.  
The Group also documents its assessment, both at 
hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the 
derivatives that are used in hedging transactions have 
been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting 
changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of derivative financial instruments used for 
hedging purposes are disclosed in Note 18.  Movements in 
the hedging reserve in equity are shown in Note 25.

(i) Fair value hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated 
and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in profit or 
loss, together with any changes in the fair value of the 
hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged 
risk.  The gain or loss relating to the effective portion 
of interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings is 
recognised in profit or loss within other income or other 
expense together with the gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion and changes in the fair value of the 
hedge fixed rate borrowings attributable to interest rate 
risk.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a 
hedge item for which the effective interest method is used 
is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity.
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(ii) Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of 
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges is recognised in equity in the hedging reserve.  The 
gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss within other income or other 
expense.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to profit or 
loss in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit 
or loss (for instance when the forecast sale that is hedged 
takes place).  The gain or loss relating to the effective 
portion of interest rate swaps hedging variable rate 
borrowings is recognised in profit or loss within “finance 
costs”.  The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of 
forward foreign exchange contracts and commodity price 
contracts hedging export sales is recognised in profit or 
loss within ‘sales’.  However, when the forecast transaction 
that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial 
asset (for example, inventory) or a non-financial liability, 
the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are 
transferred from equity and included in the measurement of 
the initial cost or carrying amount of the asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, 
or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge 
accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity 
at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the 
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or 
loss.

When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, 
the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is 
immediately transferred to the profit or loss.

(iii) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting
Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge 
accounting.  Changes in the fair value of any derivative 
instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting are 
recognised immediately in profit or loss and are included in 
other income or other expense.

(t) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of 
transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  Any difference between the 
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of 
the borrowings using the effective interest method.  Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities which are not 
an incremental cost relating to the actual drawdown of the 
facility, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a 
straight line basis over the term of the facility.

The fair value of the liability portion of a convertible bond is 
determined using a market interest rate for an equivalent 
non-convertible bond.  This amount is recorded as a 
liability on an amortised cost basis until extinguished on 
conversion or maturity of the bonds.  The remainder of 
the proceeds is allocated to the conversion right.  This is 
recognised and included in shareholders’ equity when the 
conversion right meets the equity definition at inception.  
Where the conversion right does not meet the definition 
of equity, as for convertible bonds which include a cash 
settlement option or conversion price resets, the conversion 
right is fair valued at inception and recorded as a financial 
liability.  The financial liability for the conversion right is 
subsequently remeasured at balance date to fair value with 
gains and losses recorded in the profit or loss.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the 
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period.

(u) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs which includes the costs of arranging 
and obtaining financing, incurred for the acquisition or 
construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during 
the period of time that is required to complete and prepare 
the asset for its intended use or sale.  Other borrowing 
costs are expensed when incurred.

The amount of borrowing costs incurred which were 
capitalised during the financial year were interest and 
associated costs of US$1,282,000 (2013: US$6,527,000)  
and amortised borrowing costs of US$1,103,000  
(2013: US$916,000).

(v) Employee benefits
(i) Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary 
benefits, annual leave, related on-costs and accumulating 
sick leave expected to be settled within 12 months of 
the end of the reporting period are recognised in other 
payables in respect of employees’ services up to the end 
of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts 
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.  The 
liabilities are recognised in other creditors.

(ii) Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised as a 
provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in 
respect of services provided by employees up to the end of 
the reporting period using the projected unit credit method.  
Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of 
service.  Expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity and currency 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future 
cash outflows.
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(iii) Share-based payments
Share-based payment compensation benefits are provided 
to employees and consultants via the Horizon Oil Long Term 
Incentive Plan, the Horizon Oil Limited Employee Option 
Scheme, the Employee Performance Incentive Plan, and the 
General Option Plan.  Information relating to these schemes 
is set out in Note 33.

The fair value of options and share appreciation rights 
(‘SARs’) granted under the Horizon Oil Long Term Incentive 
Plan, Horizon Oil Limited Employee Option Scheme and 
Employee Performance Incentive Plan are recognised 
as an employee share-based payments expense with a 
corresponding increase in equity.  The total amount to be 
expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of 
the options and SARs granted, which includes any market 
performance conditions but excludes the impact of any 
service and non-market performance vesting conditions 
and the impact of any non-vesting conditions.  Non-
market performance vesting conditions are included in 
assumptions about the number of options and SARs that 
are expected to vest.

The fair value is measured at grant date.  The total expense 
is recognised over the vesting period, which is the period 
over which all of the specified vesting conditions are to 
be satisfied.  At the end of each reporting period, the 
Group revises its estimates of the number of options and 
SARs that are expected to vest based on the non-market 
performance vesting conditions.  It recognises the impact 
of the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or loss, 
with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

The fair value at grant date is independently determined 
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes 
into account the exercise price, the term of the option or 
SAR, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date 
and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the 
expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for 
the term of the option or SAR.

The Company has elected to retain any amounts originally 
recognised in the share-based payments reserve, 
regardless of whether the associated options are exercised, 
cancelled or lapse unexercised.

(w) Contributed equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
ordinary shares or options over unissued ordinary shares 
are shown in share capital as a deduction, net of related 
income tax, from the proceeds.  Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the 
acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the 
acquisition as part of the purchase consideration but are 
expensed.

(x) Earnings per share
(i)	 Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit 
attributable to equity holders of the Company, excluding 
any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, 
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus 
elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year.
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(ii) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in 
the determination of basic earnings per share to take 
into account the after income tax effect of interest and 
other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares and the weighted average number of 
shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration 
in relation to dilutive potential ordinary shares.  Potential 
ordinary shares are not considered dilutive where the Group 
incurs a loss per share as calculated above.

(y) Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised as a financial 
liability at the time the guarantee is issued.  The liability 
is initially measured at fair value and subsequently at the 
higher amount determined in accordance with AASB 137 
‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’ 
and the amount initially recognised less cumulative 
amortisation where appropriate.

(z) Goods and Services Tax (‘GST’)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the taxation authority.  In this case it is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or 
as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the 
amount of GST receivable or payable.  The net amount of 
GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority 
is included with other receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST 
components of cash flows arising from investing or 
financing activities which are recoverable from, or payable 
to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash 
flow.

(aa) Parent entity financial information
The financial information for the parent entity, Horizon 
Oil Limited, disclosed in note 42 has been prepared on 
the same basis as the consolidated financial statements, 
except as set out below.

(i) �Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 
venture entities

Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture 
entities are accounted for at cost in the financial 
statements of Horizon Oil Limited.  Dividends received from 
associates are recognised in the parent entity’s profit or 
loss, rather than being deducted from the carrying amount 
of these investments.

(ii) Financial guarantees
Where the parent entity has provided financial guarantees 
in relation to loans and payables of subsidiaries for no 
compensation, the fair values of these guarantees are 
accounted for as contributions and recognised as part of 
the cost of the investment.



74 HORIZON OIL ANNUAL REPORT 2014

(bb) Rounding of amounts
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, 
issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission, relating to the ‘’rounding off’’ of amounts 
in the financial statements.  Amounts in the financial 
statements have been rounded off in accordance with that 
Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain 
cases, the nearest dollar.

(cc) �New Australian Accounting Standards 
and interpretations

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have 
been published that are not mandatory for 30 June 2014 
reporting periods.  The Group’s assessment of the impact of 
these new standards and interpretations is set out below:

Note 2. Financial risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and 
commodity price risk); credit risk; and liquidity risk.  The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of 
the Group.  The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as oil price swaps to hedge certain risk exposures.  
Derivatives are exclusively used for hedging purposes, i.e. not as trading or other speculative instruments.  The Group uses 
different methods to measure the different types of risk to which it is exposed.  These methods include sensitivity analysis 
in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and commodity price risks, and aging analysis for credit risk.

Risk management is carried out by the finance function under policies approved by the Board of Directors.  The finance 
function identifies, evaluates and if necessary hedges financial risks in close co-operation with Group management.  The 
board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as 
mitigating foreign exchange, interest rate and credit risks, use of derivative financial instruments and investment of excess 
liquidity.

The Group has no off-balance sheet financial assets or liabilities as at the end of the reporting period. 

The Group holds the following financial instruments:

Consolidated

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Financial Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 98,911 19,028

Receivables 15,477 18,956

Current tax receivable - 650

114,388 38,634

Financial Liabilities

Payables (current) 35,715 40,150

Current tax payable 1,596 -

Payables (non-current) 54 21,253

Derivative financial instruments (current and non-current) 6,157 1,237

Borrowings (net of borrowing costs capitalised) 187,446 195,566

Other financial liabilities 17,024 17,436

247,992 275,642
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(i) �AASB 2013-3 ‘Amendments to AASB 136 
- Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets’ (effective 1 January 2014)

AASB 13 was released during June 2013. It makes certain 
amendments to recoverable amount disclosures so 
that only the recoverable amount of impaired assets is 
disclosed. It also introduces additional disclosures about fair 
value measurement when recoverable amount is based on 
fair value less costs of disposal. The Group is yet to assess 
its full impact. The Group does not intend to adopt the new 
standard before its operative date, which means that it 
would be first applied in the financial year ending  
30 June 2015.

There are no other Australian Accounting Standards 
that are not yet effective and that are expected to have 
a material impact on the Group in the current or future 
financial years and on foreseeable future transactions.
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(a)	Market risk
(i)	 Foreign exchange risk
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates.

Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised financial assets and financial liabilities 
are denominated in a currency that is not the Group’s functional currency.

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency exposures to 
predominately Australian and New Zealand dollars, Chinese Renminbi and Papua New Guinea Kina.

The Group manages foreign exchange risk by monitoring forecast cash flows in currencies other than US dollars and 
ensuring that adequate Australian dollar, New Zealand dollar, Chinese Renminbi and Papua New Guinea Kina cash 
balances are maintained.

The objective of the Group’s foreign exchange risk management policy is to ensure its financial viability despite potential 
periods of unfavourable exchange rates.  Regular sensitivity analysis is conducted to evaluate the potential impact of 
unfavourable exchange rates on the Group’s future financial position.  The results of this evaluation are used to determine 
the most appropriate risk mitigation tool to be used.  The Group will hedge when it is deemed the most appropriate risk 
mitigation tool to be used.

No foreign currency hedging transactions were entered into during the current or prior financial year.

Exposure to foreign exchange risk
The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange risk at the end of each reporting period was as follows:

Group 2014 2013

AUD NZD PGK RMB AUD NZD PGK RMB

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Cash and cash equivalents 608 1,658 115 3 970 827 527 164

Receivables 2,786 - 1,186 - 1,893 176 485 -

Current tax receivable - - - - - 651 - -

Current tax payable - 464 - - - - - -

Current payables 3,207 373 586 - 2,962 96 913 2,434

Non-current payables 42 - - - 22 - - -

For the financial year ended and as at 30 June 2014, if the currencies set out in the table below, strengthened or weakened 
against the US dollar by the percentage shown, with all other variables held constant, net result for the financial year 
would (increase)/ decrease and net assets would increase/ (decrease) by:

Group        Net Result       Net Assets       Net Result       Net Assets

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Change in currency1 +10% +10% +10% +10% -10% -10% -10% -10%

Australian dollar impact (1,342) (777) 10 (9) 1,342 777 (10) 9

New Zealand dollar impact 116 (386) 59 112 (116) 386 (59) (112)

Papua New Guinea kina impact (164) (39) 51 7 164 39 (51) (7)

Chinese Renminbi impact (1,496) (175) - (163) 1,496 175 - 163

1.	�This has been based on the change in the exchange rate against the US dollar in the financial years ended 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013. The 
sensitivity analysis has been based on the sensitivity rates when reporting foreign exchange risk internally to key management personnel and 
represents management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign exchange rates based on historic volatility.  In management’s opinion, 
the sensitivity analysis is not fully representative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as the end of the reporting period exposure does not 
necessarily reflect the exposure during the course of the financial year.

(ii) Commodity price risk
Commodity price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
change in market commodity prices for crude oil.

The objective of the Group’s commodity price risk management policy is to ensure its financial viability despite potential 
periods of unfavourable prices.  Regular sensitivity analysis is conducted to evaluate the potential impact of unfavourable 
prices on the Group’s future financial position.  The results of this evaluation are used to determine the most appropriate 
risk mitigation tool to be used.  The Group will hedge when it is deemed the most appropriate risk mitigation tool to be 
used or where required by its financing arrangements. During the current financial year, oil price hedging was undertaken 
as a risk mitigation measure to ensure the Group’s financial position remains sound and that the Group is able to meet its 
financial obligations in the event of low oil prices.
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As at 30 June 2014, the Group had a US$6,157,000 derivative liability (30 June 2013: US$1,237,000 derivative liability) arising 
from 842,500 bbls (30 June 2013: 177,000 bbls) of Brent oil price swaps and collars which represents approximately 5.6% 
(30 June 2013: 1.9%) of its proven and probable reserves.

For the financial year ended and as at 30 June 2014, if the crude oil price rose or fell by the percentage shown, with all 
other variables held constant, the result for the financial year would (increase)/ decrease and net assets would increase/ 
(decrease) by:

Group       Net Result       Net Assets       Net Result       Net Assets

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Change in crude oil price +10% +10% +10% +10% -10% -10% -10% -10%

Impact 2,634 1,356 2,634 1,356 (2,634) (1,356) (2,634) (1,356)

(iii) Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.

The Group has no interest-bearing assets considered to materially expose the Group’s core income and/or operating cash 
flows to changes in market interest rates.

As at 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013, the Group’s interest rate risk arises from long term borrowings, issued at variable 
rates, exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.  Group policy is to manage material interest rate exposure. 
Regular sensitivity analysis is conducted to evaluate the potential impact of unfavourable interest rate movements on the 
Group’s future financial position.  The results of this evaluation are used to determine the most appropriate risk mitigation 
tool to be used.  During the current and prior financial year, the Group did not enter into any interest rate swap contracts.

The Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using floating to fixed interest rate swaps.  Such interest rate swaps 
have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating to fixed rates.  Under the interest rate swaps, the Group 
agrees with other parties to exchange, at specific intervals, the difference between fixed contract rates and floating-rate 
interest amounts calculated by reference to the agreed notional principal amounts.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk for financial instruments is set out below: 

Floating 
interest 

rate

Fixed interest rate Non-
interest 
bearing

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

Carrying 
amount

1 year or 
less

Over 1 to 
2 years

Over 2 to 
5 years

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

AS AT 30 JUNE 2014

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 92,911 - - - 6,000 98,911 98,911

Receivables - - - - 15,477 15,477 15,477

92,911 - - - 21,477 114,388 114,388

Weighted average interest rate p.a. 0.02%

Financial liabilities

Trade and other creditors - - - -   35,715 35,715 35,715

Derivative financial instruments (net) - - - - 6,157 6,157 6,157

Current tax payable - - - - 1,596 1,596 1,596

Borrowings 119,165 4,400 91,440 - - 215,005 187,446

119,165 4,400 91,440 - 43,468 258,473 230,914

Weighted average interest rate p.a. 4.07% 14.81% 14.81% -

Net financial liabilities (26,254) (4,400) (91,440) - (21,991) (144,085) (116,526)
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Floating 
interest 

rate

Fixed interest rate Non-
interest 
bearing

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

Carrying 
amount

1 year or 
less

Over 1 to 
2 years

Over 2 to 
5 years

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

AS AT 30 JUNE 2013

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 13,254 - - - 5,774 19,028 19,028

Receivables - - - - 18,956 18,956 18,956

Current tax receivable - - - - 650 650 650

13,254 25,380 38,634 38,634

Weighted average interest rate p.a. 0.13%

Financial liabilities

Trade and other creditors - - - - 40,150 40,150 40,150

Derivative financial instruments (net) - - - - 1,237 1,237 1,237

Current tax payable - - - - 803 803 803

Borrowings 134,335 4,400 4,400 91,440 - 234,575 195,566

134,335 4,400 4,400 91,440 42,190 276,765 237,756

Weighted average interest rate p.a. 4.37% 14.81% 14.81% 14.81%

Net financial liabilities (121,081) (4,400) (4,400) (91,440) (16,810) (238,131) (199,122)

As at 30 June 2014, the Group had the following variable rate borrowings outstanding.

2014 2013

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

 
Balance

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

Balance

% p.a. US$’000 % p.a. US$’000

Bank loans 4.07% 119,165 4.37% 134,335

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 119,165 134,335

 
At 30 June 2014, if the interest rates had been 1.0% p.a. higher or lower and all other variables held constant, the net result 
for the financial year would (increase)/ decrease and net assets as at 30 June 2014 would increase/ (decrease) by:

Group

       Net Result        Net Assets        Net Result        Net Assets

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Change in interest rate p.a. +1% +1% +1 +1% -1% -1% -1% -1%

Impact of Assets 398 116 398 116 (7) (5) (7) (5)

Impact of Liabilities 900 834 900 834 (900) (834) (900) (834)

Impact of Net Assets (502) (718) (502) (718) 893 829 893 829
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(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is managed on a Group basis.  Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.  Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, derivative financial 
instruments, as well as credit exposures to customers, including outstanding receivables.

It is acknowledged that the Group’s sales of crude oil are currently concentrated with two counterparties. However, the 
Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers with an appropriate credit 
history, and that the Group has the ability to sell crude to other parties if desired.

Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high credit quality financial institutions.  Where 
commercially practical the Group seeks to limit the amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of each reporting period is the carrying amount of the financial assets as 
summarised in this note.

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit 
ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates.

            Consolidated

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Cash and cash equivalents

Counterparties with external credit rating (Standard & Poors)

AA- 94,132 15,325

94,132 15,325

Counterparties without external credit rating

Share of joint operations cash balances 4,683 3,528

Overseas financial institutions 95 174

Cash on hand 1 1

4,779 3,703

Total cash and cash equivalents 98,911 19,028

Receivables

Counterparties with external credit rating (Standard & Poors)

AAA 276 336

276 336

Counterparties without external credit rating

Share of joint operation receivables balances 1,955 4,221

Joint operations partners 9,450 13,217

Related parties (partly paid ordinary shares) 1,112 1,112

Other 2,684 70

15,201 18,620

Total receivables 15,477 18,956

As at 30 June 2014, there were US$Nil (30 June 2013: US$Nil) financial assets that are either past due or impaired.
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(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.

The Group has policies in place to manage liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and matching profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Financing arrangements
The Group had access to the following undrawn borrowing facilities as at the end of each reporting period:

          Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Floating rate:

Expiring within one year 30,835 5,2651

Expiring beyond one year - -

1. �The undrawn borrowing facility is the reserves based debt facility. As at balance date, the facility limit was US$150.0 million (30 June 2013:  
US$160.0 million), cash draw downs of US$119.17 million (2013: cash draw down of US$134.34 million and a letter of credit had been issued for 
US$20.4 million) had been drawn against the facility. The letter of credit for US$20.4 million was extinguished on 12 June 2014, on completion of the 
Osaka Gas Asset Sale Agreement.

Maturities of financial liabilities
An analysis of the Group’s financial liability maturities for the current and prior financial year is set out below:

Non-interest 
bearing

Variable rate Fixed rate Derivatives 
(net)

As at 30 June 2014 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Less than 6 months 43,426 9,165 2,200 3,416

6 – 12 months - 35,000 2,200 2,519

Between 1 and 2 years - 20,000 91,440 222

Between 2 and 5 years 42 55,000 - -

Over 5 years - - - -

Total contractual cash flows 43,468 119,165 95,840 6,157

Non-interest 
bearing

Variable rate Fixed rate Derivatives 
(net)

As at 30 June 2013 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Less than 6 months 39,350 - 2,200 1,237

6 – 12 months - 14,735 2,200 -

Between 1 and 2 years - 79,600 4,400 -

Between 2 and 5 years 22 40,000 91,440 -

Over 5 years - - - -

Total contractual cash flows 39,372 134,335 100,240 1,237

d)	 Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes.

AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair 
value measurement hierarchy:

(a)	 quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

(b) �	inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as 
prices) or indirectly (derived from prices) (level 2); and

(c) 	inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (level 3).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014



80 HORIZON OIL ANNUAL REPORT 2014

The following table presents the Group’s assets and liabilities measured and recognised at fair value as at 30 June 2014 
and 30 June 2013:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

As at 30 June 2014 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Assets

Derivatives used for hedging - - - -

Total Assets - - - -

Liabilities

Derivatives used for hedging - 6,157 - 6,157

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - - 17,024 17,024

Conversion rights on convertible bonds

Total liabilities - 6,157 17,024 23,181

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

As at 30 June 2013 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Assets

Derivatives used for hedging - - - -

Total Assets - - - -

Liabilities

Derivatives used for hedging - 1,237 - 1,237

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Conversion rights on convertible bonds - - 17,436 17,436

Total liabilities - 1,237 17,436 18,673
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The fair value of financial instruments traded in active 
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives) was based on 
quoted market prices at the end of each reporting period. 
The quoted market price used for financial assets held by 
the Group was the current bid price. These instruments are 
included in level 1.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded 
in an active market (for example, over-the-counter 
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques. 
These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable 
market data where it is available and rely as little as 
possible on entity specific estimate. If all significant inputs 
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the 
instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on 
observable market data, the instrument is included in  
level 3.

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial 
instruments include:

•	 �the fair value of oil price swaps is calculated as the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows based 
on forward prices at balance sheet date;

•	� the fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows based 
on observable yield curves; and

•	� other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis 
and Monte Carlo simulations, are used to determine fair 
value for the remaining financial instruments.

The fair value of conversion rights on convertible bonds 
is determined based on a simulation-based pricing 
methodology using a Monte Carlo simulation. A simulation-
based pricing methodology was applied in order to model 
the dynamics of the underlying variables and to account for 
the individual specifications of the convertible bonds such 
as the inherent path dependency.  Monte Carlo simulation 
uses random numbers as inputs to iteratively evaluate a 
deterministic model. The method involves simulating the 
various sources of uncertainty that affect the value of the 
relevant instrument and then calculating a representative 
value by substituting a range of values—in this case a 
lognormal probability distribution—for any factor that has 
inherent uncertainty.  The results are calculated repeatedly, 
each time using a different set of random values from 
the probability functions. Depending upon the number of 
uncertainties and the ranges specified for them, a Monte 
Carlo simulation may typically involve thousands or tens 
of thousands (for Horizon Oil convertible bonds - 100,000) 
of recalculations before it is complete. The result is a 
probability distribution of possible outcomes providing 
a more comprehensive view of both what could happen 
and its likelihood. Market interest rates were applied in 
the model with a credit spread of 7.0%, together with a 
calculated share price volatility of 40.6% when quoted in 
US dollar terms. All other parameters were based on the 
specific terms of the convertible bonds issued.

The carrying value of receivables and payables are 
assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short-
term nature.

The fair value of other financial liabilities (being financial 
guarantees), after factoring in the likelihood that the parent 
entity would be required to perform under the guarantees 
the fair value of the liability, was not considered material.
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The fair value of borrowings for disclosure purposes is not 
materially different to their carrying value given the likely 
anticipated repayment profile.

The fair value of other classes of financial instruments not 
yet covered above were determined to approximate their 
carrying value.

(d) Capital risk
The consolidated entity manages its capital to ensure 
that entities in the consolidated group will be able to 
continue as a going concern while maximising the return 
to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and 
equity balances.
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Note 3. Critical accounting estimates and 
judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and 
are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that may have a 
financial impact on the Group and that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. 

(a) Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning 
the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual results.  The 
most significant estimates and assumptions that have a 
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amount of assets and liabilities relate to:

(i)	   �the recoverability of exploration, development and 
production phase expenditure carried forward;

(ii)  reserve estimates;
(iii) provisions for restoration;
(iv) share-based payments; and
(v)  the recoverability of deferred tax assets. 

The assumptions required to be made in order to assess 
the recoverability of exploration, development and 
production expenditure carried forward include the future 
price of crude oil, an estimated discount rate and estimates 
of crude oil reserves.

Reserve estimates require interpretation of complex and 
judgemental geological and geophysical models in order to 
make an assessment of the size, shape, depth and quality 
of reservoir, and their anticipated recoveries.  The economic, 
geological and technical factors used to estimate reserves 
may change from period to period.  Changes in reported 
reserves can impact asset carrying values, provision for 
restoration and the recognition of deferred tax assets, due 
to changes in expected future cash flows.  Reserves are 
integral to amount of amortisation charged to profit or 
loss. Reserve estimates are prepared in accordance with 
guidelines prepared by the Society of Petroleum Engineers.

Assumptions made in respect of restoration, obligations 
include estimates of future costs, timing of required 
restoration, rehabilitation and decommissioning and an 
estimated discount rate.

Share-based payment transactions with directors and 
employees are measured by reference to the fair value of 
the options at the date they were granted.  The fair value is 
ascertained using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which 
the options were granted. The accounting estimates and 
assumptions relating to share-based payments would have 
no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next annual reporting period but may impact 
expense and equity.

The recoverability of deferred tax assets is based on the 
assumption that it is probable that future taxable amounts 
will be available to utilise those temporary differences and 
losses. The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in 
respect of some tax losses and temporary tax differences 
as the future utilisation of these losses and temporary tax 
differences is not considered probable at this point in time. 
Assessing the future utilisation of tax losses and temporary 
tax differences requires the Group to make significant 
estimates related to expectations of future taxable income. 
Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast 
cash flows from operations and the application of existing 
tax laws. To the extent that future utilisation of these tax 
losses and temporary tax differences becomes probable, 
this could result in significant changes to deferred tax 
assets recognised, which would in turn impact future 
financial results.  During the current year, tax losses in New 
Zealand and PNG have been recognised as deferred tax 
assets on the basis that it is expected the operations will 
generate sufficient taxable earnings to fully utilise those 
losses. In New Zealand, the assessment of future taxable 
income to support utilisation of tax losses is based on the 
Maari production facilities being back on-line following 
completion of repairs and maintenance work during the 
first half of 2014. In PNG, the assessment of future taxable 
income to support utilisation of tax losses is based on 
award of the Stanley PDL in May 2014 and expectation of 
production in the near term following positive initial drilling 
results.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the reporting period in which the estimate 
is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both the current and future reporting period.

(b) Critical judgements in applying the 
Group’s accounting policies
No critical judgements considered to have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of the assets and liabilities within the next financial year 
were made during the preparation of this report.

(c)	Assumptions on funding
Funding for the Group’s strategic growth plans is to be 
sourced from a variety of sources.  Surplus revenues 
from the Group’s operations in China and New Zealand, 
combined with debt drawn from the Group’s reserves 
based debt facility of up to US$150 million provide core 
funding.  In addition, the Group advised on 23 May 2013 
that it had entered into an agreement to sell 40% of its 
Papua New Guinea assets to Osaka Gas Co. Ltd. of Japan 
for US$204 million. The first milestone payment of US$78 
million was received on 12 June and 24 July 2014, following 
completion of the transaction. A further US$130 million in 
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cash plus potential production payments where threshold 
condensate production is exceeded, will be payable on a 
project development decision which gives rise to Osaka 
Gas achieving equity LNG from its acquired gas volumes. 
Existing cash balances together with available debt 
capacity of existing and potential future debt facilities, 
and surplus revenue from the Group’s operations in New 
Zealand and China are expected to be sufficient to pursue 
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the current strategy.  Should the full amount of the forecast 
internally generated cash flow and capital required to 
pursue the strategy not be raised and the Group adopt a 
modified strategy, the director’s expect that the Group will 
be able to secure the necessary financing through one, 
or a combination of, additional borrowings, equity raising 
or asset sales; or deferring discretionary exploration and 
development activities.

Note 4. Segment information

(a)	Description of segments
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker.  The chief operating decision maker has 
been identified as the Board of Directors.

The operating segments identified are broadly based on 
the Group’s working interest in each individual oil and gas 
permit, arranged by developmental phase.  Discrete pre-tax 
financial information (including pre-tax operating profit 
and capital expenditure on exploration and evaluation 
assets and oil and gas assets) for each oil and gas permit 
is prepared and provided to the chief operating decision 
maker on a regular basis.  In certain circumstances, 
individual oil and gas permits are aggregated into a single 
operating segment where the economic characteristics and 
long term planning and operational considerations of the 
individual oil and gas permits are such they are considered 
interdependent.  The Group has identified five operating 
segments:

•	 �New Zealand development – the Group is currently 
producing crude oil from the Maari/Manaia fields, located 
offshore New Zealand;

•	 �New Zealand exploration – the Group is currently involved 
in the exploration and evaluation of hydrocarbons in two 
offshore permit areas: PEP 51313; and PMP 38160 Maari/
Manaia;

•	 �China exploration and development – the Group is 
currently involved in developing and producing of crude 
oil from the Block 22/12 – WZ6-12 and WZ12-8W oil field 
development and in the exploration and evaluation of 
hydrocarbons within Block 22/12; and

•	� PNG exploration and development - the Group is currently 
involved in the Stanley condensate/gas development 
(project FID during 2012), and the exploration and 
evaluation of hydrocarbons in six onshore permit areas - 
PRL 21, PPL 259, PPL 372, PPL 373 and PPL 430.

•	 �‘All other segments’ include amounts of a corporate 
nature not specifically attributable to an operating 
segment.

(b)	Segment information provided to the chief operating decision maker

New Zealand 
Development

New Zealand 
Exploration

China 
Exploration 

and 
Development

Papua New 
Guinea 

Exploration 
and 

Development

All other 
segments

Total

2014 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Segment revenue:

Revenue from external 
customers

            19,722 - 118,728 - 138,450

Profit (loss) before tax (6,341) (3,949) 34,340 (1,557) (16,710) 5,783

Depreciation and 
amortisation

3,622 - 35,775 464 173 40,034

Total segment assets as 
at 30 June 2014

 
104,424

 
5,100

 
187,414

 
210,998

 
6,967

 
514,903

Additions to non-current 
assets other than 
financial assets and 
deferred tax during the 
financial year ended:

  �Exploration phase 
expenditure:

- 4,765 5,564 26,706 - 37,035

  �Development and 
production phase 
expenditure:

17,412 - 17,179 25,212 - 59,803

  Plant and equipment: - - - 159 719 878

Total segment liabilities 
as at 30 June 2014

 
78,016

 
2,228

 
102,873

 
13,754

 
95,466

 
292,337
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New Zealand 
Development

New Zealand 
Exploration

China 
Exploration 

and 
Development

Papua New 
Guinea 

Exploration 
and 

Development

All other 
segments

Total

2013 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Segment revenue:

  Revenue from external    
  customers

31,852 - 16,219 - - 48,071

Profit (loss) before tax 13,472 (10) 10,856 (404) (14,524) 9,390

Depreciation and 
amortisation

 
3,700

 
-

 
4,652

 
431

 
309

 
9,092

Total segment assets as 
at 30 June 2013

 
80,158

 
9,787

 
206,769

 
164,122

 
15,350

 
476,186

Additions to non-current 
assets other than 
financial assets and 
deferred tax during the 
financial year ended:

Exploration phase 
expenditure:

- 3,916 5,658 13,314 - 22,888

Development and 
production phase 
expenditure:

2,279 - 86,291 19,688 - 108,258

Plant and equipment: - - - 3,857 315 4,172

Total segment liabilities 
as at 30 June 2013

 
87,184

 
3,100

 
99,275

 
33,358

 
86,256

 
309,173

(c)	Other segment information
(i)	 Segment revenue
Revenue from external customers is derived from the sale of crude oil.

Segment revenue reconciles to total consolidated revenue as follows:

                Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Total segment revenue 138,450 48,071

Rental income 5 6

Interest income 229 24

Profit from sale of assets 23,830 -

Total revenue 162,514 48,101

(ii)	 Segment profit before tax
The chief operating decision maker assesses the performance of operating segments based on a measure of profit before 
tax.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Segment profit before tax reconciles to consolidated profit before tax as follows:

                Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Total segment profit before tax 5,783 9,390

Rental income 5 6

Interest income 229 24

Profit on sale from assets 23,830 -

Unrealised movement in value of convertible bond conversion rights 412 991

Net foreign exchange (losses) (232) (386)

Profit before tax 30,027 10,025
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(iii)	Segment assets
The amounts provided to the chief operating decision 
maker with respect to total assets are measured in a 
manner consistent with that of the financial statements.

Reportable segment assets are equal to consolidated total 
assets.

(iv)	Segment liabilities
The amounts provided to the chief operating decision 
maker with respect to total liabilities are measured in a 
manner consistent with that of the financial statements.

Reportable segment liabilities are equal to consolidated 
total liabilities.

Note 5. Sale of Assets

Sale of Partial Interest in PNG Assets to 
Osaka Gas
On 23 May 2013, the Group entered into an asset sale 
agreement (the ‘Agreement’) to sell 40% of its Papua New 
Guinea assets to Osaka Gas Niugini Pty Ltd (‘Osaka Gas’) a 
subsidiary of Osaka Gas Co. Ltd. of Japan with effect from  
1 January 2013. Key aspects of the transaction were:

•	� Sale price of US$204 million, including US$74 million in 
cash on completion, a further US$130 million in cash upon 
a project development decision which gives rise to Osaka 
Gas achieving equity LNG from its acquired gas volumes, 
plus potential production payments where threshold 
condensate production is exceeded. It should be noted 
that an upfront refundable deposit of 10% of the total sale 
price (US$20.4 million) was received following execution 
of the Agreement, secured by a US$20.4 million letter of 
credit issued by Horizon Oil Limited;

•	� the Group and Osaka Gas to form a strategic alliance 
to commercialise the  Group’s net certified reserves 
and contingent resources of 135 mmboe and develop 
extensive acreage in Western Province, Papua New 
Guinea; and

•	� the Group to transfer 40% of its interests in PDL 10, 
formerly PRL 4 (Stanley field), PRL 21 (Elevala and 
Ketu fields) and PPL 259. Osaka Gas was also granted 
the option to acquire 40% of the Group’s interests in 
recently acquired PPLs 372, 373 and 430 by paying a 
proportionate share of costs incurred.

The sale marked the beginning of a 60/40 strategic alliance 
between the Group and Osaka Gas. The principal objective 
of the partnership is to commercialise the certified reserves 
and contingent resources and develop the PNG assets for 
the purposes of supporting a mid-scale LNG project located 
on the coast in Western Province, PNG.

Completion of the Agreement was conditional upon 
customary consents, regulatory approvals and grant of the 
development licence for the Stanley field. Completion of 
the Agreement occurred on 12 June 2014 following receipt 
of all necessary consents, regulatory approvals and grant 
of the development licence for the Stanley field. Remaining 
cash due on completion of US$78 million was received from 
Osaka Gas on 12 June 2014 and 24 July 2014.

The US$20.4 million letter of credit was extinguished on 
completion of the Agreement on 12 June 2014.
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The profit on sale recorded at completion is detailed as follows:

               Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Consideration on sale of assets

   Deposit on execution of agreement1 20,400

   Remaining consideration received on completion 53,600 -

74,000 -

   Reimbursement of costs to effective sale date paid on completion 23,242 -

   Reimbursement of costs to effective sale date receivable at completion 1,205 -

Total cash received/receivable at completion 98,447 -

Less:

Reimbursement of costs to effective sale date (24,447) -

Exploration and oil and gas assets disposed (48,523) -

Transaction costs (1,647) -

Profit from sale of assets 23,830 -

1. Refundable deposit received on execution of asset sale agreement in May 2013.

               Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 6. Revenue
From continuing operations

Crude oil sales 144,329 50,875

Net realised (loss) on oil hedging derivatives (5,879) (2,804)

 138,450 48,071

Other income

Interest received from unrelated entities 229 24

Gain from disposal of oil and gas assets; exploration assets1 23,830 -

Rental income received from unrelated entities 5 6

24,064 30

 
Gains – Conversion rights on convertible bonds2

Unrealised movement in fair value of convertible bond conversion rights 412 991

1.  �Following completion on 12 June 2014, under the Osaka Gas asset sale agreement, a significant gain was recognised on disposal of 40% of 
Horizon’s interests in PDL 10 (formerly PRL 4), PRL 21 and PPL 259.

2. �The amount shown is the movement during the financial year of the fair value of the conversion rights relating to the 5.5% convertible bonds 
issued on 17 June 2011. The conversion rights can be settled in cash or ordinary shares of the parent entity, at the option of the issuer, and the 
number of shares to be issued at conversion is subject to the conversion price which may reset under certain circumstances. Accordingly, the 
conversion rights are a derivative financial liability and are marked to market through the profit and loss. Fair value of conversion rights at issuance 
on 17 June 2011 was US$20,043,000. Refer to Note 21 for further details of the convertible bonds issued.
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               Consolidated

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Note 7. Expenses
 
Cost of sales

Direct production costs 30,987 12,072

Inventory adjustments1 75 (599)

Amortisation expense 39,397 8,579

Royalties and other levies2 22,257 2,633

92,716 22,685
1.  Includes production overlift/ underlift and inventory adjustments 
2.  Includes Chinese special oil income levy

 
General and administrative expenses

Employee benefits expense (net) 3,842 4,812

Corporate office expense (including insurance) 2,645 1,421

Depreciation expense 637 513

Rental expense relating to operating leases 1,059 292

8,183 7,038

 
Exploration and development expenses

Exploration expenditure written off/expensed 10,520 606

10,520 606

 
Financing costs

Interest and finance charges 14,839 6,227

Discount unwinding on provision for restoration 806 234

Amortisation of prepaid financing costs 3,254 1,748

18,899 8,209

 
Other expenses

Net foreign exchange losses 233 143

Other expenses 2,3481 386

2,581 529

1.  Other expenses includes costs associated with the proposed merger with Roc Oil.
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                 Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 8. Income tax expense
(a) New Zealand royalty
Royalty paid/payable 599 5,436

Origination and reversal of royalty temporary differences (861) (1,454)

Total New Zealand royalty tax (benefit) / expense (262) 3,982

(b) Income tax expense
Current tax 6,722 10

Deferred tax 9,039 3,676

(Over) provided in prior financial years 1,698 (1,117)

Total income tax expense 17,459 2,569

Income tax expense is attributable to:

Profit from continuing operations 17,459 2,569

Profit from discontinued operations - -

Aggregate income tax expense 17,459 2,569

Deferred income tax (revenue) expenses included in income tax expense comprises:

Decrease in deferred tax asset 5,525 2,134

Increase in deferred tax liabilities 3,514 1,542

9,039 3,676

(c) �Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima 
facie tax payable

 
Profit from continuing operations before income tax

30,027 10,025

Less: Royalty paid/payable (599) (5,436)

29,428 4,589

Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2013: 30%) 8,828 1,377

Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible (taxable) in calculating taxable 
income:

Expenditure not allowed for income tax purposes 4,122 2,011

Other deductible items 87 (1,772)

Non-assessable income (7,383) (297)

Other assessable income - 165

5,654 1,484

Effect of overseas tax rates 291 16

Deferred tax asset not brought to account 8,177 (135)

Previously unrecognised tax losses now recognised 1,639 927

Under provision in prior financial years 1,698 277

Income tax expense 17,459 2,569

(d) Tax losses		

Unused tax losses (and applicable tax rate) for which no deferred tax asset has been 
recognised:

Horizon Oil Limited – 30% (2013: 30%) 27,648 -

Horizon Oil (USA) Inc. and other US entities – 34% (2013: 34%) 10,615 10,615

Horizon Oil (Papua) Limited and other PNG entities – 45% / 30% (2013: 45% / 30%) 7,0411 105,8501

45,304 116,465

Potential tax benefit at applicable tax rates 15,072 35,364

1. � �Following PDL award on the Stanley development during the current year, relevant PNG tax losses of $1,880,000 (tax effected) have been 
recorded as a deferred tax asset with the majority of the remaining balance recorded as the tax base of the asset for which future deductions will 
be derived following the commencement of production.

The Company has no Australian subsidiaries and therefore it is not subject to the Australian tax consolidation regime.
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                Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 9. Current assets – Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank and on hand 81,161 8,992

Restricted cash (refer note (a) below) 17,749 10,035

Petty cash 1 1

 98,911 19,028

(a) � �Under the terms of a finance facility (refer to Note 19), certain cash balances are available to the Group after certain conditions of the relevant 
facility agreement are satisfied.  The restricted cash balance was held on deposit at average floating interest rates of approximately 0.00% pa 
(2013: 0.13%).	

	

                Consolidated

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Note 10. Current assets – Receivables
Other receivables (refer to note (a) below) 15,477 18,956

15,477 18,956

 (a)  Of this balance US$1,355,821 (2013: US$1,112,032) related to amounts receivable from related parties.  Refer to Note 32 for further details.

No receivable amounts were past due.

	

                Consolidated

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Note 11. Inventories
Crude oil, at cost 1,004 1,082

Drilling inventory, at cost 4,277 6,816

5,281 7,898

                Consolidated

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Note 12. Current – Other assets
Prepayments 1,674 832

1,674 832

        Assets    Liabilities        Net asset

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Note 13. Non-current assets – Deferred tax assets
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
attributable to the following:

Prepaid borrowing costs - - - (2,014) - (2,014)

Provisions 426 379 - - 426 379

Tax losses 1,880 12,076 - - 1,880 12,076

Tax assets (liabilities) 2,306 12,455 - (2,014) 2,306 10,441

Set off - (2,014) - 2,014 - -

Net tax assets 2,306 10,441 - - 2,306 10,441
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Note 14. Non-current assets – Plant and equipment

Consolidated

Other plant and 
equipment 

US$’000

Leasehold 
improvements 

US$’000

Total 
 

US$’000

As at 1 July 2012

Cost 2,207 3,533 5,740

Accumulated depreciation (665) (375) (1,040)

Net book amount 1,542 3,158 4,700

Financial year ended 30 June 2013

Opening net book amount 1,542 3,158 4,700

Additions 1,106 3,090 4,196

Disposals - - -

Depreciation expense (411) (279) (690)

Closing net book amount 2,237 5,969 8,206

As at 30 June 2013

Cost 3,509 6,624 10,133

Accumulated depreciation (1,272) (655) (1,927)

Net book amount 2,237 5,969 8,206

Financial year ended 30 June 2014

Opening net book amount 2,237 5,969 8,206

Additions 177 659 836

Disposals (754) (2,094) (2,848)

Depreciation expense (347) (289) (636)

Closing net book amount 1,313 4,245 5,558

As at 30 June 2014

Cost 2,749 4,928 7,677

Accumulated depreciation (1,436) (683) (2,119)

Net book amount 1,313 4,245 5,558

Note 15. Non-current assets – Exploration phase expenditure		

                 Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Exploration phase expenditure

Deferred geological, geophysical, drilling and other exploration and evaluation 
expenditure, including directly attributable general administrative costs

 
74,658

 
92,538

The reconciliation of exploration phase expenditure carried forward above is as 
follows:

Balance at beginning of financial year 92,538 77,658

Expenditure incurred during financial year 37,035 22,888

Transferred to development phase (5,733) (8,008)

Acquisitions during the financial year -

Disposals during the financial year (39,949) -

Reimbursement of costs -

Expenditure written off during financial year (9,233) -

Balance at end of financial year 74,658 92,538
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              Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 16. Non-current assets – Oil & gas assets

Development and production phase expenditure

Producing oil and gas property acquisition, deferred geological, seismic and drilling, 
production and distribution facilities and other development expenditure

         424,675 359,139

Disposals during the financial year (32,738) -

Leased production phase asset - -

Less accumulated amortisation (80,899) (41,502)

 311,038 317,637

The reconciliation of development and production phase expenditure carried forward above is follows:

Consolidated

Development 
phase 

expenditure 
US$’000

Production 
phase 

expenditure 
US$’000

 
Total 

 
US$’000

Balance at 1 July 2012 133,263 76,687 209,950

Expenditure incurred during financial year 74,013 34,245 108,258

Transferred from exploration phase 8,008 - 8,008

Amortisation incurred - (8,579) (8,579)

Balance at 30 June 2013 215,284 102,353 317,637

Transferred from exploration phase                   5,733              5,733

Transferred from development phase          156,213        156,213 

Transfer to production phase (156,213) (156,213)

Amortisation incurred                          - (39,397) (39,397)

Disposals during the financial year (32,738)                      -   (32,738)

Expenditure incurred during financial year                28,604             31,199          59,803 

Balance at 30 June 2014 60,670 250,368 311,038

              Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 17. Current liabilities – Payables
Trade creditors 7,409 809

Share of joint operation creditors and accruals 17,745 33,925

Other creditors 10,561 5,416

 35,715 40,150

Note 18. Derivative financial instruments
 

Current:

Derivative asset - Oil price swaps – cash flow hedges - -

Derivative liability - Oil price swaps – cash flow hedges (5,935) (1,237)

(5,935) (1,237)
 

Non-current:

Derivative asset - Oil price swaps – cash flow hedges - -

Derivative liability - Oil price swaps – cash flow hedges (222) -

(222) -

Net derivative (liability) asset (6,157) (1,237)
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The Group is party to derivative financial instruments in the normal course of business in order to hedge exposure to oil 
price fluctuations in accordance with the Group’s financial risk management policies (refer to Note 2(a)(ii)).  

Oil price swap contracts (cash flow hedges)
During the financial year, oil price hedging was undertaken as a risk mitigation measure to ensure the Group’s financial 
position remains sound and that the Group is able to meet its financial obligations in the event of low oil prices.  As at  
30 June 2014, the Group’s oil hedge position was summarised as follows:

Crude oil price swap contracts 2015 2016 Total

Volume (bbls) 805,000 37,500 842,500

Weighted average Brent oil price (net of credit margin) (US$/bbl) 99.59 97.56 99.5

As at 30 June 2013, the Group’s oil hedge position was summarised as follows:

Crude oil price swap contracts 2014 2015 Total

Volume (bbls) 119,000 - 119,000

Weighted average Brent oil price (net of credit margin) (US$/bbl) 94.45 - 94.45
 
The gain or loss from remeasuring the hedging instruments at fair value is deferred in equity in the hedging reserve,  
to the extent that the hedge is effective, and re-classified into profit or loss when the hedged oil price transaction is 
recognised.  The ineffective portion is recognised in profit or loss immediately.  During the financial year, US$5,879,000  
(2013: US$2,804,000) was transferred to profit or loss.

	

              Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 19. Borrowings
Current: 

Bank loans 44,165 14,735

44,165 14,735

Non-current:

Bank loans 70,935 114,464

Convertible Bonds 72,346 66,367

143,281 180,831

Total Borrowings 187,446 195,566
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Bank loans – Reserves based debt facility
Following achievement of financial completion of the Beibu 
Gulf Project in Block 22/12, China, the Group renegotiated 
the terms of the Horizon Oil Facility Agreement (reserves 
based facility) during April 2014. The Joint Mandated Lead 
Arranging banks are Australia and New Zealand Banking 
Group Limited and Commonwealth Bank of Australia. The 
key amendments included a reduction in the overall facility 
limit from US$160 million to US$150 million with a deferral 
of the commencement of amortisation from 30 June 2014 
until 31 December 2014 at which time the facility limit will 
reduce to US$110 million. At 30 June 2014, total debt drawn 
under the facility was $119.17 million. The $20.4 million 
letter of credit associated with the conditionally refundable 
deposit paid by Osaka Gas on execution of the asset sale 
agreement in May 2013 was extinguished during the year 
on completion of the sale transaction. 

Floating interest in respect of the facility was at LIBOR 
plus a weighted average margin of 3.95%. The facility is an 
amortising facility which matures in March 2018.

The facility was secured by a floating charge over 
the shares and assets of the borrowers (Horizon Oil 
International Limited, Horizon Oil (Papua) Limited, Horizon 
Oil (Beibu) Limited and Horizon Oil (Nanhai) LLC which are 
wholly owned subsidiaries of Horizon Oil Limited) and other 
Horizon Oil Limited subsidiaries, in favour of ANZ Fiduciary 
Services Pty Limited as security trustee. Horizon Oil Limited 
and other Horizon Oil Limited subsidiaries have guaranteed 
the performance of Horizon Oil International Limited, 
Horizon Oil (Papua) Limited, Horizon Oil (Beibu) Limited, 
Horizon Oil (Nanhai) LLC (which have also given guarantees) 
in relation to the loan facility from Australia and New 
Zealand Banking Group Limited and Commonwealth Bank 
of Australia. In addition, the shares of the following Horizon 
Oil Limited subsidiaries have been mortgaged to ANZ 
Fiduciary Services Pty Limited: Horizon Oil International 
Limited, Horizon Oil (Papua) Limited, Horizon Oil (Beibu) 
Limited, Horizon Oil (Nanhai) LLC, Horizon Oil International 
Holdings Limited, Ketu Petroleum Limited, Horizon Oil (PNG 
Holdings) Limited and Horizon Oil (China Holdings) Limited. 
The net book value of the entities in which shares have 
been mortgaged is US$95 million. The Group was subject to 
covenants which are common for a facility of this nature.
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Convertible Bonds
The parent entity issued 400 5.5% convertible bonds for 
US$80 million on 17 June 2011. The bonds were issued 
with an initial conversion price of US$0.52, equivalent to 
A$0.49 based on exchange rates at the time of pricing, 
and represents a conversion premium of 29% to Horizon 
Oil Limited’s last closing price of A$0.38 on 2 June 2011. 
The initial conversion price was subject to adjustment in 
certain circumstances. Where the arithmetical average 
of the volume weighted average prices (’Average VWAP’) 
for the 20 consecutive dealing days immediately prior to 
each of 17 June 2013, 17 June 2014 and 17 June 2015 (each 
a ’Reset Date’) converted into US dollars at the prevailing 
rate on each such dealing day (each an ’Average Market 
Price’) is less than the conversion price on the Reset Date, 
the conversion price will be adjusted on the relevant Reset 
Date to the Average Market Price with respect to such 
Reset Date. Any adjustment as a result of such provisions 
is limited so that the conversion price can be no lower than 

80 per cent of the initial conversion price of US$0.520, that 
is US$0.416. The Average VWAP in the relevant period to  
17 June 2013 was US$0.374. Accordingly, the conversion 
price of the convertible bonds had been adjusted to 
US$0.416 with effect from 17 June 2013. The issuance of 
new ordinary shares during the financial year under the 
Entitlement Offer discussed earlier in this report results  
in a further adjustment to the conversion price from 
US$0.416 to US$0.409.

No bonds had been converted at 30 June 2014. On 
conversion the holder may elect to settle the bonds in 
cash or ordinary shares in the parent entity. Based on the 
adjusted conversion price, the maximum number of shares 
that could be issued on conversion is 195,599,022 ordinary 
shares in the parent entity. The bonds carry a coupon of 
5.5% per annum, payable semi-annually in arrears, and 
carry a 7% yield to maturity on 17 June 2016 when they will 
be redeemed at 108.80% of their principal amount. The 
bonds are listed on the Singapore Securities Exchange.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Face value of bonds issued 80,000 80,000

Less: Other financial liabilities – value of conversion rights (Note 21) (20,043) (20,043)

Less: Transaction costs (3,362) (3,362)

56,595 56,595

Finance costs in prior periods1 18,739 9,176

Finance costs1 10,381 9,568

Less: Coupon paid in prior periods (8,800) (4,400)

Less: Coupon paid during the financial year (4,400) (4,400)

Less: Coupon accrued (169) (172)

Non-current liability 72,346 66,367

1. �Finance costs are calculated by applying the effective interest rate of 14.8% to the liability component. A component of these has been capitalised 
in accordance with note 1(u).

	

                   Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 20. Non-current liabilities – Payables
Other creditors 54 21,253

54 21,253

Other creditors in the prior financial year included US$20.4 million payable to Osaka Gas associated with a conditionally 
refundable deposit paid by Osaka Gas on execution of the asset sale agreement dated 23 May 2013. Following completion 
of the Agreement on 12 June 2014, the deposit was no longer refundable and was reclassified as part of the sale proceeds. 
Refer to note 5 for further details.
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                   Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 21. Non-current – Other financial liabilities
Conversion rights on convertible bonds 17,024 17,436

17,024 17,436

The amount shown for other financial liabilities is the fair value of the conversion rights relating to the 5.5% convertible 
bonds.  The conversion rights can be settled in cash or ordinary shares of the parent entity, at the option of the issuer, 
and the number of shares to be issued at conversion is subject to the conversion price which may reset under certain 
circumstances.  Accordingly, the conversion rights are a derivative financial liability and are marked to market.  Fair value 
of conversion rights at issuance on 17  June 2011 was US$20,043,000.  Refer to Note 19 for further details of the convertible 
bonds issued.

 

 

   Assets Liabilities  Net liability

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

Note 22. Non-current liabilities – 
Deferred tax liability
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
attributable to the following:

Prepaid borrowing costs - - 1,601 - 1,601 -

Exploration expenditure - - 1,414 2,714 1,414 2,714

Development and production expenditure - - 13,021 8,708 13,021 8,708

Royalty benefit (net) - - 4,823 5,684 4,823 5,684

Provisions (215) (42) - - (215) (42)

Tax losses (3,538) - - - (3,538) -

Tax (assets) liabilities (3,753) (42) 20,859 17,106 17,106 17,064

Set off 3,753 42 (3,753) (42) - -

Net tax liabilities - - 17,106 17,064 17,106 17,064

 

              Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 23. Provisions
Restoration (current) 12,497 -

Restoration (non-current) 14,742 15,664

27,239 15,664
		

The reconciliation of the movement in the total of the restoration provisions is as follows:

Balance at beginning of financial year 15,664 5,821

Additional provision during financial year 10,768 9,609

Unwinding of discount 807 234

Balance at end of financial year 27,239 15,664
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                   Consolidated                   Consolidated

2014 2013 2014 2013

                    Number of shares

  ’000 ’000 US$’000 US$’000

Note 24. Contributed equity					   

(a) Issued share capital		
Ordinary shares				  
Fully paid 1,301,981 1,135,267 174,342 127,187

Partly paid to A$0.01 1,500 3,000 459 851

 1,303,481 1,138,267 174,801 128,038

(b) Movements in ordinary share capital
(i)	 Ordinary shares (fully paid)			 

Date Details Number of 
shares

Issue price US$’000

30/06/2012 Balance as at 30 June 2012 1,130,811,515 125,578

10/10/2012 Transfer from partly paid shares 1,950,000 A$0.35 710

10/10/2012 Exercise of employee options* 2,505,000 A$0.35 899

30/06/2013 Balance as at 30 June 2013 1,135,266,515 127,187

15/08/2013 Institutional Entitlement Offer1 99,296,446 A$0.33 28,272

02/09/2013 Retail Entitlement Offer1 62,886,971 A$0.33 17,712

03/10/2013 Exercise of employee options 2,198,000 A$0.26 545

03/10/2013 Transfer from partly paid shares 1,500,000 A$0.26 392

05/05/2014 Exercise of general employee options* 500,000 A$0.29 145

16/05/2014 Exercise of employee options* 333,333 A$0.26 89

30/06/2014 Balance as at 30 June 2014 1,301,981,265 174,342

*	�Relates to issue of fully paid ordinary shares on exercise of options issued to consultants and employees.  Information relating to Option Schemes 
is set out in Note 33.

1. Non-Renounceable Pro-Rata Entitlement Offer
On 31 July 2013, the Company announced a fully underwritten accelerated non-renounceable pro-rata entitlement offer to 
raise approximately A$53.5 million (‘Entitlement Offer’).

Net proceeds from the Entitlement Offer was used to continue Horizon Oil Limited’s active exploration and development 
work programme across Papua New Guinea, China and New Zealand pending completion and receipt of funds from the 
Papua New Guinea asset sale transaction with Osaka Gas.

The Entitlement Offer comprised a 1 for 7 accelerated non-renounceable Entitlement Offer of new fully paid ordinary 
shares in Horizon Oil Limited (‘New Shares’) to raise approximately A$53.5 million, consisting of:

•	 �an accelerated institutional component completed on 31 July 2013, raising approximately A$33 million (‘Institutional 
Entitlement Offer’); and

•	 �a retail component which was open from Friday, 9 August 2013 to Friday, 23 August 2013, aimed at raising approximately 
A$21 million (‘Retail Entitlement Offer’).

The 162,180,930 New Shares were priced at $0.33 per share (‘Offer Price’) representing:

•	 �10.8% discount to the closing price of Horizon Oil Limited’s ordinary shares on the ASX on Tuesday, 30 July 2013;

•	 �13.0% discount to the 5-day volume weighted average price (‘VWAP’); and

•	 �9.6% discount to the theoretical ex-rights price (‘TERP’) of $0.365.

The New Shares rank equally with existing Horizon Oil Limited shares from the date of issue. The issuance of new shares 
under the Entitlement Offer resulted in an adjustment to the conversion price of the Group’s US$80 million in convertible 
bonds from US$0.416 to US$0.409. The initial conversion price was reduced in June 2013 from US$0.52 to US$0.416.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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(ii) Ordinary shares (partly paid to A$0.01):		

Date Details Number Issue price US$’000

30/06/2012 Balance as at 30 June 2012 3,450,000 1,108

10/10/2012 Transfer to fully paid shares (1,950,000) A$0.35 (710)

10/10/2012 Exercise of employee options* 500,000 A$0.27 142

10/10/2012 Exercise of employee options* 1,000,000 A$0.30 311

30/06/2013 Balance as at 30 June 2013 3,000,000 851

03/10/2013 Transfer to fully paid shares (1,500,000) A$0.26 (392)

30/06/2014 Balance as at 30 June 2014 1,500,000 459

*	�Relates to issue of partly paid ordinary shares on exercise of employee options.  Information relating to Employee Option Schemes is set out in 
Note 33.

(c) Ordinary shares
Fully paid
Fully paid ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the Company 
in proportion to the number of shares held.  Voting rights are governed by the Company’s Constitution.  In summary, on a 
show of hands every holder of ordinary shares present at a meeting in person or by proxy is entitled to one vote and upon 
a poll each fully paid ordinary share is entitled to one vote.

Partly paid
Partly paid ordinary shares are issued on exercise of employee options.  The outstanding obligation in relation to the partly 
paid ordinary shares is payable either when called or by the date not exceeding 5 years from the grant date of the option 
which gave rise to the partly paid ordinary share.  Partly paid ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends 
and the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the number of shares held.  Voting rights are governed 
by the Company’s Constitution.  In summary, on a show of hands every holder of partly paid ordinary shares present at a 
meeting in person or by proxy is entitled to one vote and upon a poll, is entitled to one vote to the proportion of the total 
issue price then paid up.

(d) Unlisted options over unissued ordinary shares 
Information related to general options, the Employee Option Scheme and the Employee Performance Incentive Plan, 
including details of options issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial year and options outstanding at the end of 
the financial year is set out in Note 33.

                   Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 25. Reserves and retained profits
(a) Reserves
Share-based payments reserve 10,002 8,739

Movements:

Balance at beginning of financial year 8,739 7,498

Employee share-based payments expense 1,263 1,241

Balance at end of financial year 10,002 8,739

Hedge reserve (6,158) (855)

Movements:

Balance at beginning of financial year (855) (77)

Movement in net market value of hedge contracts (5,303) (778)

Balance at end of financial year (6,158) (855)

Total reserves 3,844 7,884

(b) Retained profits
Retained profits at beginning of financial year 31,091 27,617

Net profit for financial year 12,830 3,474

Retained profits at end of financial year 43,921 31,091

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
Share-based payment reserve:
The fair value of options and share appreciation rights granted to employees results in an increase in equity upon 
recognition of the corresponding employee benefits expense, as described in the accounting policy set out in Note 1(v)(iii).  
The fair value of general options granted also results in an increase in equity.

The Company has elected to retain any amounts originally recognised in the share-based payments reserve, regardless of 
whether the associated options or share appreciation rights are exercised, cancelled or lapse unexercised.

Hedge reserve:
Changes in the market value of the effective portion of derivatives is reflected directly in equity until such time as the 
hedge is ineffective or expires, as described in the accounting policy set out in Note 1(s).

                   Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 26. Franking credits
Franking credits available for subsequent financial years1 148 104

 
1. �The franking credits available for subsequent financial years are only available to New Zealand resident shareholders under the Trans-Tasman 

imputation legislation.

Note 27. Asset acquisition

(a)	Summary of acquisition
On 16 April 2013, Horizon Oil (PNG Holdings) Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Horizon Oil Limited, entered into a sale 
and purchase agreement with Jurassic International Holdings Limited to acquire 90% of Jurassic International Holdings 
Limited (PNG), a wholly owned subsidiary of Jurassic International Holdings Limited which holds a 100% net working 
interest in PPL 372 and PPL 373 in PNG. Consideration for the acquisition consisted of US$803,250 adjusted for working 
capital balances on hand at the date of acquisition.

Whilst the acquisition involved the purchase of a controlling interest in the legal entity Jurassic International Holdings 
Limited, the substance of the transaction was the acquisition of assets, being a 90% interest in PPLs 372 and 373.  As 
such, in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1(m), the Group identified and recognised the individual 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the effective acquisition date.  The consideration paid was allocated 
to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values.  Transaction costs associated 
with the acquisition are a component of the consideration transferred.

Details of the purchase consideration and the net assets acquired are as follows:

2013

US$’000

Purchase consideration:

Cash paid 783

Total purchase consideration 783

The assets and liabilities recognised as a result of the acquisition are as follows:

2013 Fair Value

US$’000

Exploration phase expenditure 803

Payables (20)

Net identifiable assets acquired 783

There were no acquisitions in the financial year ended 30 June 2013.

(b) Purchase consideration – cash outflow

2013

US$’000

Outflow of cash to acquire subsidiary, net of cash acquired

      Cash consideration 783

Outflow of cash – investing activities 783

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Note 28. Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 1(b):

Name of subsidiary Country of 
incorporation

Percentage of equity holding and 
voting interest (all shares issued 

are ordinary shares)

Business 
activities 

carried on in

2014 2013

% %

 Horizon Oil International Limited New Zealand 100 100 New Zealand

 Horizon Oil (New Zealand) Limited New Zealand 100 100 New Zealand

 Horizon Oil International Holdings Limited BVI 100 100 BVI

 Horizon Oil (Beibu) Limited BVI 100 100 China

 Horizon Oil (China Holdings) Limited BVI 100 100 BVI

 Horizon Oil (PNG Holdings) Limited BVI 100 100 BVI

 Horizon Oil (Papua) Limited Bermuda 100 100 PNG

 Horizon Oil (USA) Inc. USA 100 100 USA

 Ketu Petroleum Limited BVI 100 100 BVI

 Horizon Oil (Nanhai) LLC USA 100 100 China

 Jurassic International Holdings Limited PNG 90 90 PNG

Note 29. Interest in joint operations
Companies in the Group were participants in a number of joint operations.  The Group has an interest in the assets and 
liabilities of these joint operations.  The Group’s share of assets and liabilities of the joint operations is included in the 
consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 1(b) under the 
following classifications:

               Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$‘000 US$‘000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4,682 3,528

Receivables 1,955 4,221

Inventories 4,937 7,899

Total current assets 11,574 15,648

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 4,514 7,617

Exploration phase expenditure 58,434 82,086

Oil and gas assets 409,866 296,757

Total non-current assets 472,814 386,460

Total assets 484,388 402,108

Current liabilities

Payables 32,030 33,925

Total current liabilities 32,030 33,925

Non-current liabilities

Payables 13 831

Total non-current liabilities 13 831

Total liabilities 32,043 34,756

Share of net assets employed in joint operations 452,345 367,352

Contingent liabilities in respect of joint operations are detailed in Note 36.

Exploration and development expenditure commitments in respect of joint operations are detailed in Note 39.
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The Group had an interest in the following joint operations:

Permit or licence Principal activities Interest (%) Interest (%)

2014 2013

New Zealand

PMP 38160 (Maari/Manaia)

PEP 51313 (Matariki)

Oil and gas production, exploration and development

Oil and gas exploration

10.00%

21.00%/10.00%1

10.00%

21.00%/10.00%1

China

Block 22/12 Oil and gas exploration and development 26.95% / 55%2 26.95% / 55%2

PNG

PDL 10 (formerly PRL 4)

PRL 21

PPL 259

PPL 372

PPL 373

PPL 430

Oil and gas development

Oil and gas exploration and development

Oil and gas exploration

Oil and gas exploration

Oil and gas exploration

Oil and gas exploration

30.00%3,4,5

27.00%3,4

35.00%3,4

90.00%3,4

90.00%3,4

50.00%3,4

50.00%3,4

45.00%3,4

25.00%3,4

90.00%3,4

90.00%3,4

50.00%3,4

1.	� �Under the terms of the farm in agreement executed in November 2012, in the event of commercial discovery at the Whio prospect, Horizon Oil 
Limited’s interest over the Whio prospect will reduce to 10%.

2.	� �China National Offshore Oil Corporation is entitled to participate at up to a 51.00% equity level in any commercial development within Block 22/12.  
During 2011 CNOOC exercised their right to participate in the development of WZ 6-12 and WZ 12-8W within Block 22/12 at 51.00%.

3.	 �PNG Govt may appoint a state nominee to acquire up to a 22.5% participating interest in any commercial development within the PNG licence 
areas.

4. �Under the terms of the asset sale agreement executed with Osaka Gas on 23 May 2013, Horizon’s interests in PDL 10 (formerly PRL 4), PRL 21  
and PPL 259 were reduced by 40% on transaction completion during 2014. Osaka Gas have an option to acquire 40% of Horizon’s interests in 
PPLs 372, 373 and 430.  Refer to Note 5 for further details.

5.	 �Subject to finalisation of Stanley gas field unitisation adjustments (which do not reduce Horizon Oil group interests).

	

                 Consolidated

2014 2013

US$ US$

Note 30. Remuneration of external auditors   
During the financial year, the following fees were paid or payable for services 
provided by the external auditor of the parent entity and its related practices:

1. PwC Australia
Audit and other assurance services
Audit and review of financial reports 152,876 178,507

Other assurance services independent limited assurance report on the proposed 
merged group pro forma financial information in Scheme Booklet dated 3 July 2014

97,002 -

Other services 18,927 -

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services 268,805 178,507

Taxation services
Tax compliance 98,723 47,104

 Other services - 6,240

Total remuneration for taxation services 98,723 53,344

2. Non-PwC audit firms
Audit and other assurance services 14,012 11,797

Other services - -

Total remuneration for audit and other assurance services 14,012 11,797

Total auditors’ remuneration 381,540 243,648

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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It is the Group’s policy to employ PricewaterhouseCoopers on assignments additional to its statutory external audit duties 
where PricewaterhouseCoopers’ expertise and experience with the Group are important.  It is the Group’s policy to seek 
competitive tenders for all major consulting projects.

Note 31. Remuneration of key management personnel
See the Remuneration Report within the Directors’ Report for details of directors’ and other key management and their 
detailed remuneration.

Key management personnel compensation

                Consolidated

2014 2013

US$ US$

Short-term employee benefits 3,295,600 3,313,476

Post-employment benefits 112,818 199,045

Long term benefits 49,104 47,878

Share-based payments (non-cash) 1,032,733 942,832

Total key management personnel remuneration 4,490,255 4,105,141

Detailed remuneration disclosures are provided in sections A-D of the audited Remuneration Report on pages 34 to 45.

Loans to key management personnel
There were no loans to directors or other key management personnel during the current or prior financial year.

Other transactions with key management personnel
There were no other transactions with key management personnel during the current or prior financial year.

Note 32. Related parties
Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those 
available to other parties, unless otherwise stated.

Directors and other key management personnel
There were no related party transactions with Directors and other key management personnel during the current or prior 
year other than as disclosed in sections A – D of the Remuneration report and Note 31.

Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 28.

Details in respect of guarantees provided to subsidiaries are set out in Note 42.

Transactions with related parties
Transactions between Horizon Oil Limited and related parties in the wholly-owned Group during the financial years ended 
30 June 2014 and 2013 consisted of:

(a)	 Contributions to share capital by Horizon Oil Limited;

(b)	 Loans advanced by Horizon Oil Limited;

(c)	 Loans repaid to Horizon Oil Limited;

(d)	 Dividends paid by subsidiaries to Horizon Oil Limited;

(e)	 Payments to Horizon Oil Limited under financial guarantee contract arrangements; 

(f)	 Interest payments to Horizon Oil Limited on loans advanced to subsidiaries;

(g)	 Reimbursement of expenses to Horizon Oil Limited; and

(h)	 Uncalled share capital.

The reimbursement of expenses to Horizon Oil Limited by subsidiaries is based on costs recharged on a relevant time 
allocation of consultants and employees and associated office charges.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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The following transactions occurred with related parties:

2014 2013

US$ US$

Superannuation contributions

    Superannuation contributions to superannuation funds on behalf of employees 296,811 327,054

Other transactions

    �Payments to Horizon Oil Limited under financial guarantee contract arrangements 
from wholly owned subsidiary

2,724,015 1,920,253

    �Final call on partly paid and fully paid ordinary shares in Horizon Oil Limited paid 
by employees

309,420 669,207

Loans to/from related parties

2014 2013

US$ US$

Loans to other related parties (uncalled share capital)   

    Balance at beginning of the financial year 1,112,032 1,085,851

    Loans advanced 553,209 695,388

    Loan repayments received (309,420) (669,207)

    Interest charged/paid - -

Balance at end of financial year 1,355,821 1,112,032

		

2014 2013

US$ US$

Loans from Horizon Oil Limited (ultimate Australian parent entity)   

    Balance at beginning of the financial year 203,665,890 207,826,358

    Loans advanced 78,525,337 21,042,807

    Loan repayments received (27,574,601) (22,077,596)

    Interest charged 3,687,684 796,725

    Interest paid (2,277,551) (3,922,404)

    Balance at end of financial year 256,026,759 203,665,890

Terms and conditions
Transactions relating to dividends, calls on partly paid shares and subscriptions for new ordinary shares were on the same 
terms and conditions that applied to other shareholders.

All other transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates, except that there are 
no fixed terms for the repayment of loans between the parties, and no interest has been charged or credited to loans 
with other related parties.  Certain loans to/ from subsidiaries are subject to interest, however, the interest is typically 
suspended until commercial production commences or a change in the ownership interest of the entity occurs.  The 
average interest rate on loans attracting interest during the financial year was 6.0% (2013: 4.4%). Outstanding balances 
are unsecured and repayable in cash.
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Note 33. Share-based payments
Set out below is a summary of unlisted options and share appreciation rights on issue:

Grant date Expiry date Exercise 
price

Balance 
start of 

financial 
year 

 
Number

Granted 
during 

financial 
year 

 
Number

Exercised 
during 

financial 
year 

 
Number

Forfeited 
during 

financial 
year 

 
Number

Balance 
end of 

financial 
year 

 
Number

Vested and 
exercisable 

at end of 
financial 

year 
Number

Consolidated Entity 2014

Share Appreciation Rights issued 

27/10/2010 27/10/2015 A$0.304 6,693,828 - - - 6,693,828 -

05/08/2011 05/08/2016 A$0.314 6,478,276 - - - 6,478,276 -

13/08/2012 13/08/2017 A$0.274 9,561,936 - - - 9,561,936 -

19/08/2013 19/08/2018 A$0.334 - 8,547,599 - - 8,547,599 -

Total 22,734,040 31,281,639

Weighted average exercise price A$0.29 A$0.33 - - A$0.30 -

Options issued

03/10/2008 03/10/2013 A$0.261 1,848,000 - (1,848,000) - - -

03/10/2008 03/10/2013 A$0.263 350,000 - (350,000) - - -

25/09/2009 25/10/2014 A$0.291 5,175,000 - - - 5,175,000 5,175,000

25/09/2009 25/10/2014 A$0.293 850,000 - (500,000) - 350,000 350,000

09/10/2009 09/10/2014 A$0.313 2,700,000 - - - 2,700,000 2,700,000

11/12/2009 11/12/2014 A$0.342 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000

16/09/2010 16/09/2015 A$0.303 350,000 - - - 350,000 350,000

06/06/2011 30/06/2014 A$0.365 15,000,000 - - (15,000,000) - -

10/01/2012 10/04/2015 A$0.212 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 666,667

28/05/2012 28/08/2015 A$0.262 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 1,333,334

28/05/2012 28/05/2017 A$0.263 2,000,000 - (333,333) - 1,666,667 1,000,001

17/09/2012 17/09/2017 A$0.293 500,000 - - - 500,000 166,667

20/02/2013 20/02/2018 A$0.433 350,000 - - - 350,000 -

16/04/2013 16/04/2018 A$0.403 350,000 - - - 350,000 -

Total 32,973,000 14,941,667

Weighted average exercise price A$0.32 - A$0.27 A$0.36 A$0.29 A$0.26

1.  Relates to options issued under the Employee Performance Incentive Plan.
2. Relates to general options issued to third party consultants.
3. Relates to options issued under the Employee Option Scheme.
4. No price is payable by a participant in the Long Term Incentive Plan on the exercise of a SAR.
5. �Relates to general options issued to Petsec America Pty Limited as part consideration for the acquisition of Petsec Petroleum LLC (the Petsec 

subsidiary which held Petsec’s interest in Block 22/12, offshore China).
6.	 �The exercise price of the options and SARS outstanding at 31 July 2013 were reduced by A$0.006 following the rights issue during the year.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
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Grant date Expiry date Exercise 
price

Balance 
start of 

financial 
year 

 
Number

Granted 
during 

financial 
year 

 
Number

Exercised 
during 

financial 
year 

 
Number

Forfeited 
during 

financial 
year 

 
Number

Balance 
end of 

financial 
year 

 
Number

Vested and 
exercisable 

at end of 
financial 

year 
Number

Consolidated Entity 2013

Share Appreciation Rights issued 

27/10/2010 27/10/2015 A$0.314 6,693,828 - - - 6,693,828 -

05/08/2011 05/08/2016 A$0.324 6,478,276 - - - 6,478,276 -

13/08/2012 13/08/2017 A$0.284 - 9,561,936 - - 9,561,936 -

Total 13,172,104 9,561,936 - - 22,734,040 -

Weighted average exercise price A$0.31 A$0.28 - - A$0.30 -

 
Options issued

10/10/2007 10/10/2012 A$0.351 4,023,000 - (2,505,000) (1,518,000) - -

03/10/2008 03/10/2013 A$0.271 2,348,000 - (500,000) - 1,848,000 1,848,000

03/10/2008 03/10/2013 A$0.273 350,000 - - - 350,000 350,000

25/09/2009 25/10/2014 A$0.301 6,175,000 - (1,000,000) - 5,175,000 5,175,000

25/09/2009 25/10/2014 A$0.303 850,000 - - - 850,000 850,000

09/10/2009 09/10/2014 A$0.323 2,700,000 - - - 2,700,000 2,700,000

11/12/2009 11/12/2014 A$0.352 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000

16/09/2010 16/09/2015 A$0.313 350,000 - - - 350,000 233,333

06/06/2011 30/06/2014 A$0.375 15,000,000 - - - 15,000,000 15,000,000

10/01/2012 10/04/2015 A$0.222 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 333,333

28/05/2012 28/08/2015 A$0.272 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 666,667

28/05/2012 28/05/2017 A$0.273 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 666,667

17/09/2012 17/09/2017 A$0.303 - 500,000 500,000 -

20/02/2013 20/02/2018 A$0.443 - 350,000 350,000 -

16/04/2013 16/04/2018 A$0.413 - 350,000 350,000 -

Total 37,296,000 1,200,000 (4,005,000) (1,518,000) 32,973,000 28,323,000

Weighted average exercise price A$0.33 A$0.37 A$0.33 A$0.35 A$0.33 A$0.33

1.  Relates to options issued under the Employee Performance Incentive Plan.
2. Relates to general options issued to third party consultants.
3. Relates to options issued under the Employee Option Scheme.
4.  No price is payable by a participant in the Long Term Incentive Plan on the exercise of a SAR.
5.	 �Relates to general options issued to Petsec America Pty Limited as part consideration for the acquisition of Petsec Petroleum LLC (the Petsec 

subsidiary which held Petsec’s interest in Block 22/12, offshore China).

The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of options exercised during the financial year ended 30 June 2014 
was A$0.35 (2013 – A$0.35).

The weighted average remaining contractual life of share options outstanding at the end of the period was 0.99 years 
(2013 – 1.45 years).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
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Long Term Incentive Plan
Until April 2010, long-term incentives were provided to 
certain employees via the Company’s share option plans.  
The revised LTI arrangements approved at the 2010 annual 
general meeting apply to senior executives and involve the 
grant of share appreciation rights which may vest subject 
(amongst other things) to the level of total shareholder 
return (‘TSR’) achieved in the vesting period, relative to an 
appropriate index. 

Under the LTI Plan, the board has the discretion, subject 
to the ASX Listing Rule requirements, to grant share 
appreciation rights (’SARs’) to executives as long term 
incentives.  The board has determined that 25% of 
senior executive’s total remuneration would be long term 
incentives in the form of SARs, with the number of SARs 
granted based on the value of a SAR.

A SAR is a right to receive either or both a cash payment or 
shares in the Company, as determined by the board, subject 
to the Company satisfying certain conditions, including 
performance conditions.

The LTI Plan provides that the amount of the cash 
payment or the number of shares in the Company that the 
participant receives on exercise of the SAR is based on the 
value of the SAR at the time it is exercised (’SAR Value’).  
The SAR Value is the excess, if any, of the volume weighted 
average price (’VWAP’) of shares in the Company for the 
ten business day period up to the date before the date the 
SAR is exercised over the VWAP of shares in the Company 
for the ten business day period up to the day before the 
“Effective Allocation Date” for the SARs.  The Effective 
Allocation Date for the SARs is the grant date of the SARs 
or any other day determined by the board, at the time of 
the grant. The Effective Allocation Date would generally be 
the date the executive’s entitlement was determined.

If the board determines that the SARs are to be satisfied in 
cash, the amount of cash that the participant receives on 
the exercise of the SARs is the SAR Value multiplied by the 
number of SARs exercised (less any deduction for taxes 
that the Company is required to make from the payment).  
If the board determines that the SARs are to be satisfied in 
shares, the number of shares that the participant receives 
on the exercise of the SARs is the SAR Value divided by the 
volume weighted average price of shares in the Company 
for the ten business day period up to the day before the 
day the SARs are exercised.  Where the number of shares 
calculated is not a whole number, it will be rounded down 
to the nearest whole number.

No price is payable by a participant in the Long Term 
Incentive Plan on the exercise of a SAR.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Employee Option Scheme
The issue of securities under the Employee Option Scheme 
was approved by shareholders for the purposes of the 
ASX Listing Rules at the 2011 Annual General Meeting.  
The scheme is open to permanent full time or part time 
employees of the Company.  Executive directors and the 
Company’s senior executives were eligible to participate 
until April 2010, when the board resolved to modify the 
remuneration arrangements for the Company’s senior 
executives.

The maximum number of ordinary shares in respect of 
which options may be issued pursuant to the Employee 
Option Scheme, together with the number of partly paid 
ordinary shares on issue pursuant to any other employee 
share scheme of the Company, must not exceed 5% of the 
number of ordinary shares in the Company on issue from 
time to time.

Each option entitles the employee to subscribe for one 
share in the Company and each option expires 5 years 
from the date of issue.  Options granted are progressively 
exercisable in three equal tranches from dates which are 12, 
24 and 36 months after grant date.  Upon exercise of the 
option, only one cent of the exercise price will be payable, 
with the balance being paid at the expiration of the period 
which is 5 years from the date of the issue of the options.

The exercise price will be the greater of:

(a) �the price determined by directors but will not be less 
than the weighted average sale price per share of all sale 
prices at which fully paid ordinary shares are sold on the 
ASX during the period of 5 business days ending on the 
business day prior to the date of the directors’ meeting 
at which the directors resolved to grant the option; and

(b) 20 cents per option.

The option exercise prices are subject to adjustment in 
certain circumstances in line with the ASX Listing Rule 
6.22.2.

Employee Performance Incentive Plan
In April 2010, the board resolved to modify the 
remuneration arrangements such that no new options 
are intended to be issued under the Company’s Employee 
Performance Incentive Plan.     

Prior to April 2010, employees, including executive directors, 
were eligible to participate in the Employee Performance 
Incentive Plan.  The issue of securities under the Employee 
Performance Incentive Plan was approved by shareholders 
for the purposes of the ASX Listing Rules at the 2009 
Annual General Meeting.

The number of options granted under the Employee 
Performance Incentive Plan was subject to the performance 
of relevant employees.  Eligible employees were required 
to achieve at least 50% of agreed annual performance 
objectives before options would be granted.  The number 
of options granted was equal to the percentage of 
performance objective achievement multiplied by the 
maximum number of options able to be granted.  The 
maximum number of options able to be granted to an 
employee in any financial year was 60% of the total 
number of options granted to the relevant employee under 
the Company’s employee share scheme.
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Options granted under the Employee Performance Incentive 
Plan are subject to the following restrictions on exercise:

•	 �options are not exercisable unless and until the five day 
volume average weighted price of the Company’s ordinary 
shares equals or exceeds a share price “hurdle” in excess 
of the exercise price determined by the board at the 
date of grant of the options.  Until such time, all options 
otherwise exercisable are not able to be exercised; and

•	 �subject to the Company’s share price exceeding the 
hurdle, options granted are progressively exercisable in 
three equal tranches from dates which are 12, 24 and 36 
months after grant date.

Options/ share appreciation rights issued
8,547,599 share appreciation rights were issued under the 
Long Term Incentive Plan. The exercise price of these SARs 
is A$0.3326 with performance hurdles to be achieved prior 
to exercise.  The independently assessed fair value at grant 
date of these share appreciation rights was A$0.1193 per 
SAR.  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

The fair value at grant date is independently determined 
using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into 
account the exercise price, the term of the option/SAR, 
the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and 
expected volatility of the underlying share, the expected 
dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of 
the option/SAR.

The model inputs for the grant of share appreciation rights 
during the financial year ended 30 June 2014 included:

Grant date 19 August 2013

Expiry date 19 August 2018

Exercise price N/A

10 Day VWAP of Horizon Shares at 
grant date

A$0.3326

Expected price volatility 34.60% p.a.

Risk free rate 3.29% p.a.

Expected dividend yield 0.00% p.a.

Expenses arising from share-based payment transactions
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the financial year as part of employee 
benefits expense in profit or loss were as follows:

              Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Share Appreciation Rights issued under:

Long Term Incentive Plan 1,099 915

Options issued under:

Employee Option Scheme 164 169

Employee Performance Incentive Plan - 157

Total employee share-based payments expense 1,263 1,241

Options/SARs in respect of which expiry dates were modified during the financial year
No options/SARs were modified during the financial year.

Options/SARs exercised during the financial year
During the financial year 3,031,333 options were exercised by employees, such that the company issued a corresponding 
number of fully paid ordinary shares.

No SARs were exercised during the financial year.

Options/SARs lapsing or cancelled during the financial year
During the financial year, 15,000,000 unlisted general options exercisable at A$0.364 on 30 June 2014 lapsed. No SARs 
lapsed or were cancelled during the financial year.

Options/SARs exercised and options/SARs issued subsequent to 30 June 2014
On 18 August 2014, 7,402,177 share appreciation rights were granted under the Long Term Incentive Plan.  Of the 7,402,177 
SARs granted, 3,000,879 are proposed to be issued to an executive director and are therefore granted subject to 
shareholder approval at the 2014 Annual General Meeting.

No options have been granted subsequent to financial year end.

No options or SARs have been exercised subsequent to financial year end.
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                Consolidated

2014 2013

 US$’000 US$’000

Note 34. Employee entitlements  

Employee entitlement liabilities are included within:

Current – other creditors (Note 17) 632 641

Non-current - other creditors (Note 20) 42 22

                  Number

2014 2013

Employee numbers

Average number of employees during financial year 17 15

Note 35. Contingent asset
(i)	 �On 23 May 2013, the Group advised ASX that it had 

entered into an Agreement to sell 40% of its Papua New 
Guinea assets to Osaka Gas Niugini Pty Ltd (‘Osaka Gas’) 
a subsidiary of Osaka Gas Co. Ltd. of Japan. In addition to 
the cash on completion, a further US$130 million in cash 
is due upon a project development decision which gives 
rise to Osaka Gas achieving equity LNG from its acquired 
gas volumes, plus potential production payments where 
threshold condensate production is exceeded. Due to 
the conditions required for the deferred consideration of 
US$130 million, and the potential production payments, 
all remaining consideration under the Agreement is 
recorded as a contingent asset as at 30 June 2014.

(ii) �On 29 August 2013, the operator of the Maari 
oilfield, OMV New Zealand Limited (‘OMV’), advised 
that production at the field would be shut in while 
major facility repairs and equipment upgrades were 
undertaken. This involved the FPSO Raroa being 
disconnected from its mooring and towed to nearby 
Port Nelson to refurbish and upgrade its process 
equipment and install a new swivel.  At the same time 
the opportunity was taken to repair several of the buoy 
mooring lines at the field. 

 �The upgrade, maintenance and repair works were carried 
out safely, within budget and the field returned to 
production on schedule. The Group’s share of the repair 
costs was US$8 million. The Group expects to recover a 
proportion of these amounts through insurance. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Note 36. Contingent liabilities
The Group had contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2014 and 
30 June 2013 that may become payable in respect of:

In accordance with normal oil and gas industry practice, 
the Group has entered into joint operations and farm-out 
agreements with other parties for the purpose of exploring 
and developing its petroleum interests.  If a participant 
to a joint operation defaults and fails to contribute its 
share of joint operation obligations, then the remaining 
joint operation participants are jointly and severally liable 
to meet the obligations of the defaulting participant.  In 
this event, the interest in the permit or licence held by the 
defaulting participant may be redistributed to the remaining 
participants.  In the event of a default, a contingent liability 
exists in respect of expenditure commitments due to be 
met by the Group in respect of defaulting joint operation 
participants.

No material losses are anticipated in respect of any of the 
above contingent liabilities.
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Note 37. Events after balance sheet date

Scheme of Arrangement
On 29 April 2014, Horizon Oil Limited and Roc Oil Company 
Limited (‘Roc’) announced that they had entered into a 
merger implementation deed (‘MID’) under which they 
agreed to merge via a Horizon Oil Limited scheme of 
arrangement (‘Scheme’). Under the proposed Scheme, 
Horizon Oil Limited shareholders were to receive 0.724 new 
Roc shares for each Horizon Oil Limited fully paid ordinary 
share they held. The Scheme was subject to a number of 
conditions precedent.

On 3 July 2014, the Federal Court of Australia ordered a 
meeting of Horizon Oil Limited shareholders to consider the 
Scheme and approved the Scheme Booklet for despatch to 
Horizon Oil Limited shareholders.

On 4 August 2014, Roc announced that it had entered into 
a bid implementation agreement in respect of a superior 
proposal made by Fosun International Limited (‘Fosun’) 
under which it was proposed that Fosun (or one of its 
subsidiaries) would acquire all of the issued shares in the 
capital of Roc for A$0.69 cash per share by way of an off-
market takeover (‘Fosun Offer’). The Roc board unanimously 
recommended the Fosun Offer to Roc shareholders.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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The Roc board’s recommendation of the Fosun Offer 
constituted a ‘Roc Oil Prescribed Event’ under the MID 
between Horizon Oil Limited and Roc resulting in the 
non-satisfaction of one of the conditions precedent to the 
Horizon Oil-Roc merger.

Accordingly, on 5 August 2014, Horizon Oil Limited gave 
notice to Roc terminating the MID in accordance with its 
terms. Horizon Oil Limited also applied for, and received, 
orders from the Federal Court of Australia cancelling the 
Scheme Meeting of Horizon Oil Limited shareholders 
scheduled for 7 August 2014 and vacating the proceedings 
for the second Court hearing which was scheduled for  
14 August 2014.

Convertible Bonds
In connection with the proposed merger with Roc by means 
of a Scheme, on 2 July 2014 the Company detailed the 
key terms of a conditional offer to Horizon Oil Limited’s 
convertible bondholders (‘Bondholders’).

On 21 July 2014, Horizon Oil Limited invited the Bondholders 
to tender any and all such convertible bonds for purchase 
by Horizon Oil Limited for cash and to approve certain 
modifications to the terms and conditions of the Bonds, on 
the terms set out in a Tender and Consent Memorandum 
dated 21 July 2014.

On termination of the MID with Roc on 5 August 2014, the 
Company terminated the convertible bond tender offer.

Note 38. Commitments for expenditure	 	  

(i) Non-cancellable operating leases
The Group leases various office premises in Sydney and PNG under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within 1 to 
5 years.  The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.  On renewal, the terms of the leases are 
renegotiated.

                 Consolidated

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non-cancellable operating 
leases, not recognised in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

Within one financial year 1,388 576

Later than one financial year but not later than five financial years 588 528

1,976 1,104

(ii) Finance leases
The Group had no outstanding finance leases as at 30 June 2014 or 30 June 2013.

(iii) Remuneration commitments
Commitments for the payment of remuneration under long-term employment contracts, not recognised in the financial 
statements, are payable as follows:

                 Consolidated

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Within one financial year 1,998 1,892

Later than one financial year but not later than five financial years 197 2,078

2,195 3,970
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Note 39. Exploration and development commitments
The Group has entered into joint operations for the purpose of exploring, developing and producing from certain 
petroleum interests.  To maintain existing interests or rights to earn interests in those joint operations the Group will be 
expected to make contributions to ongoing exploration and development programs.  Since such programs are subject 
to continual review by operating committees, upon which the Group is represented, the extent of future contributions in 
accordance with these arrangements is subject to continual renegotiation.

Subject to the above mentioned limitations, the directors have prepared the following disclosure of exploration and 
development expenditure commitments not recognised in the consolidated financial statements.  These are payable as 
follows, based on current status and knowledge of estimated quantum and timing of such commitments by segment.

2014 New Zealand 
Development 

 
 

US$’000

New Zealand 
Exploration 

 
 

US$’000

China 
Exploration & 
Development 

 
US$’000

Papua New 
Guinea 

Exploration & 
Development 

US$’000

Total 
 
 
 

US$’000

Within one financial year 20,160 391 4,374 56,593 81,518

Later than one financial year but 
not later than 5 financial years

 
-

 
-

 
-

 
19,656

 
19,656

Total 20,160 391 4,374 76,249 101,174

2013 New Zealand 
Development 

 
 

US$’000

New Zealand 
Exploration 

 
 

US$’000

China 
Exploration & 
Development 

 
US$’000

Papua New 
Guinea 

Exploration & 
Development 

US$’000

Total 
 
 
 

US$’000

Within one financial year 15,845 3,755 25,723 75,778 121,101

Later than one financial year but 
not later than 5 financial years

 
13,444

 
-

 
-

 
26,024

 
39,468

Total 29,289 3,755 25,723 101,802 160,569

The above commitments may be deferred or modified with the agreement of the host government, by variations to the 
terms of individual petroleum interests, or extensions to the terms thereof.  Another factor likely to delay timing of these 
commitments is the potential lack of availability of suitable drilling rigs in the area of interest.

The commitments may also be reduced by the Group entering into farm-out agreements or working interest trades, both 
of which are typical of the normal operating activities of the Group.

In addition to the above commitments, the Group has invested funds in other petroleum exploration interests, but is not 
exposed to a contingent liability in respect of these, as it may choose to exit such interests at any time at no cost penalty 
other than the loss of the interests.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
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Note 40. Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash flows from operating 
activities

             Consolidated

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Profit for financial year 12,830 3,474

Exploration and development expenditure written off/expensed 9,233 606

Depreciation expense 636 513

Movement in employee entitlement liabilities (1) 68

Non-cash employee share-based payments expense 1,263 1,241

Non-cash share option expense

Amortisation expense 39,397 8,579

Amortisation of prepaid financing costs 1,741 1,667

Provision for restoration 807 (848)

Gain from disposal of oil and gas assets; exploration assets (23,830) -

Unrealised movement in value of convertible bond conversion rights (412) (991)

Non-cash convertible bond interest expense 5,309 4,660

Net unrealised foreign currency losses/(gains) 606 183

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) in trade debtors 886 (7,731)

Decrease in other debtors and prepayments 1,335 526

(Increase) in inventory 75 (599)

Decrease in deferred tax assets/liabilities 8,178 2,066

(Decrease) in tax receivable/payable 1,444 (3,941)

Increase (decrease) in trade creditors (13,918) 5,216

Increase (decrease) in other creditors 19,387 784

Net cash inflow from operating activities 64,966 15,473

2014 2013

US cents US cents

Note 41. Earnings per share
(a) Basic earnings per share
From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company

1.00 0.31

From discontinued operation - -

Total basic earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company

1.00 0.31

(b) Diluted earnings per share
From continuing operations attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company

1.00 0.30

From discontinued operation - -

Total diluted earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
Company

1.00 0.30

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
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2014 2013

Number Number

Weighted average number of shares used as the denominator

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating 
basic earnings per share

1,279,039,421 1,137,155,238

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used as 
the denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share

1,284,748,334 1,143,023,825

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Reconciliation of earnings used in calculating earnings per share

Profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used in calculating 
earnings per share

Basic earnings per ordinary share:

     from continuing operations 12,830 3,474

     from discontinued operations - -

12,830 3,474

Diluted earnings per ordinary share:

     from continuing operations 12,830 3,474

     from discontinued operations - -

12,830 3,474

Information concerning the classification of securities

(a) Partly paid ordinary shares

Partly paid ordinary shares carry the rights of fully paid ordinary shares and to that extent they have been recognised as 
ordinary share equivalents in the determination of basic earnings per share.

Details regarding the partly paid ordinary shares are set out in Note 24.

(b) Options and share appreciation rights granted as compensation

Options and share appreciation rights granted to employees under the Long Term Incentive Plan, Employee Option 
Scheme or Employee Performance Incentive Plan; and general options issued, are included in the calculation of diluted 
earnings per share to the extent to which they are dilutive.  They have not been included in the determination of basic 
earnings per share.

Details regarding the options and share appreciation rights are set out in Note 33.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
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(c) Convertible bonds
Convertible bonds issued during the financial year are included in the calculation of diluted earnings per share to the 
extent to which they are dilutive from their date of issue.  They have not been included in the determination of basic 
earnings per share.

Details regarding the convertible bonds are set out in Note 19 and 21. 

Note 42. Parent Entity financial information

(i)	 Summary financial information
The individual financial statements for the Parent Entity show the following aggregate amounts:

	

               Parent Entity

2014 2013

US$’000 US$’000

Statement of financial position

Current assets 5,829 9,241

Non-current assets 260,157 214,544

Total assets 265,986 223,785

Current liabilities 5,802 1,381

Non-current liabilities 89,664 84,076

Total liabilities 95,466 85,457

Net assets 170,520 138,328

Contributed equity 174,801 128,038

Share-based payments reserve 10,001 8,739

Retained earnings (14,282) 1,551

Total equity 170,520 138,328

(Loss) profit for the financial year (15,274) (5,436)

Total comprehensive (loss) income for the financial year (15,274) (5,436)

(ii) Guarantees entered into by the parent entity
The parent entity has provided guarantees in respect of bank loans and leases of its subsidiaries amounting to 
US$119,165,000 (2013: US$134,335,000).

No liability has been recognised in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 1(y).  After factoring in the 
likelihood that the parent entity would be required to perform under the guarantees the fair value of the liability was not 
considered material.

(iii) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity
The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2014 or 30 June 2013.  For information about 
guarantees given by the parent entity, please see above.

(iv)	Contractual commitment for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment
As at 30 June 2014, the parent entity had no contractual commitments for the acquisition of property, plant or equipment 
(30 June 2013 – US$Nil).

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
HORIZON OIL LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES SECURITIES EXCHANGE INFORMATION AS AT 24 SEPTEMBER 2014

DISTRIBUTION OF EQUITY SECURITIES
The distribution of equity security holders ranked according to size at 24 September 2014 was as follows:

Class of equity security 

Ordinary shares Share

Size of holding Shares Unlisted appreciation Convertible bonds

options rights

1 to 1,000 470 - - 1

1,001 to 5,000 1,056 - - -

5,001 to 10,000 943 - - -

10,001 to 100,000 2,465 1 - -

100,001 and over 739 13 3 -

Total 5,673 14 3 1

A total of 646 holders held less than a marketable parcel of 1695 ordinary shares.

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS
The names of the twenty largest shareholders of the Company’s ordinary shares are listed below:

Name No. of ordinary 
shares

% of issued 
ordinary shares

1 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 336,007,131 25.81

2 J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 148,982,108 11.44

3 Austral-Asia Energy Pty Ltd 148,333,916 11.40

4 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – A/c 2 98,610,919 7.57

5 National Nominees Limited 92,371,117 7.10

6 V L H Pty Ltd 18,902,607 1.45

7 RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited (PIIC A/c) 15,967,574 1.22

8 Finot Pty Ltd 8,857,143 0.68

9 Grizzley Holdings Pty Limited 8,511,941 0.65

10 Berne No 132 Nominees Pty Ltd 8,294,044 0.64

11 BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd (DRP) 8,279,377 0.64

12 Mr Douglas Thomas Nicholas & Mr Graeme Douglas Nicholas 7,657,731 0.59

13 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – (NT – Commonwealth Super 
Corp A/c)

7,173,245 0.55

14 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited (Colonial First State Inv A/c) 7,027,139 0.54

15 Mr Geoffrey Victor Day & Mrs Anne Margaret Day 7,000,000 0.54

16 AMP Life Limited 6,795,298 0.52

17 Hydra Energy Services Pty Ltd 6,177,103 0.47

18 Mr David Harvey Peek 6,164,225 0.47

19 RBC Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited (PISELECT) 6,127,098 0.47

20 Mr Michael Sheridan 5,800,000 0.45

Total 953,039,716 73.20
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ISSUED SECURITIES
Issued securities as at 24 September 2014:

Security Number on issue Number of holders

Ordinary fully paid shares1 1,301,981,265 5,673

Ordinary partly paid shares1 1,500,000 1

Unlisted employee options 11,441,667 10

Unlisted general options 3,500,000 4

Unlisted share appreciation rights 38,683,8162 3

5.5% Convertible bonds of US$200,000 each3 400 1

1.  The Company’s ordinary fully and partly paid shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange.
2. �3,000,879 unlisted share appreciation rights have been issued subject to shareholders’ approval at the 2014 Annual General Meeting.
3. �The Company’s 5.5% convertible bonds are listed on the Singapore Securities Exchange, with BT Globenet Nominees Limited the registered holder 

of the global certificate for 100% of the bonds.

SUBSTANTIAL HOLDERS
Substantial holders in the Company are set out below:

Ordinary shares No. of ordinary 
shares

% of issued 
ordinary shares

Austral-Asia Energy Pty Limited as trustee for Triplex Global Ventures Limited 319,695,688 24.57

Commonwealth Bank of Australia 131,484,006 10.09

Tribeca Investment Partners Pty Ltd 68,387,994 5.26

Total 519,567,688 39.92

VOTING RIGHTS

a) Ordinary shares – fully paid
Voting of members is governed by the Company’s Constitution.  In summary, every member present in person or by proxy 
attorney or representative shall have one vote on a show of hands and one vote for each share on a poll.

b) Ordinary shares – partly paid
Voting of members is governed by the Company’s Constitution.  In summary, every member present in person or by 
proxy attorney or representative shall have one vote on a show of hands and upon a poll, is entitled to one vote to the 
proportion of the total issue price then paid up.

c) Options (employee/general) - unlisted
No voting rights.

d) Share appreciation rights - unlisted
No voting rights.

e) 5.5% Convertible bonds
One vote for each bond, but limited to matters affecting the rights of such bonds.

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
HORIZON OIL LIMITED AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES SECURITIES EXCHANGE INFORMATION AS AT 24 SEPTEMBER 2014
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GLOSSARY

A-IFRS Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards

ASIC Australian Securities and Investments Commission

ASX Australian Securities Exchange

bbl(s) Blue barrel(s), oil barrel volume is 0.159 cubic metres

bcf Billion cubic feet (of natural gas)

boe Barrel of oil equivalent. The factor used to convert gas to oil equivalent is based upon an 
approximate energy value of 6,000 cubic feet per barrel and not price equivalence at the time

boepd Barrel of oil equivalent per day

bopd Barrel of oil per day inclusive of NGLs

CNOOC China National Offshore Oil Corporation

DEC Department of Environment and Conservation (PNG)

DPE Department of Petroleum and Energy (PNG)

EBITDAX Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation, depletion and amortisation, and exploration 
expenses

ESP Electrical submersible pump

FID Final investment decision

FPSO Floating production, storage and offloading vessel

GST Goods and services tax

JOA Joint operating agreement

km Kilometres

LIBOR London inter-bank offered rate

LNG Liquified natural gas

mmbbl/mmbo Million barrels of oil

mmboe Million barrels of oil equivalent

mmcf Millions of cubic feet (of natural gas)

mmcfd Millions of cubic feet (of natural gas) per day

NDRC National Development and Reform Commission

NGL(s) Natural gas liquid(s)

ODP Overall Development Plan (China)

PL Pipeline licence (PNG)

PDL Petroleum development licence (PNG)

PEP Petroleum exploration permit (NZ)

PMP Petroleum mining permit (NZ)

PPL Petroleum prospecting licence (PNG)

PRL Petroleum retention licence (PNG)

Reserves Reserves as included in this report refers to both Proven and Probable reserves (2P). Proven 
and Probable reserves are reserves that analysis of geological and engineering data suggests 
are more likely than not to be recoverable – there is at least a 50% probability that reserves 
recovered will exceed Proven and Probable reserves.

Contingent Resources The Company’s technically recoverable resources (2C) for its discovered oil and gas fields 
are classified as contingent resources. These resources would be expected to be booked in 
reserves (Proven and Probable reserves) once commercialisation arrangements have been 
finalised.

PSA Production Sharing Agreement 

PNG Papua New Guinea

SDA Supplemental Development Agreement (China)

SPE-PRMS Society of Petroleum Engineers – Petroleum Resources Management System

Sq km Square kilometres

tcf Trillion cubic feet (of natural gas) 

USD / $US United States dollars

WHP Wellhead platform

WOU Workover unit

2D Seismic Seismic recorded in 2 dimensions

3D Seismic Seismic recorded in 3 dimensions
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Horizon Oil Limited ABN 51 009 799 455

NOTICE OF 2014 
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the members of Horizon Oil Limited  
ACN 009 799 455 (the “Company”) will be held at 10.00am (Sydney time) on Friday 
21 November 2014 at Level 1, Grand Ballroom, The Sydney Boulevard Hotel, 90 William 
Street, Sydney New South Wales, 2011 to transact the business set out below.

Members should refer to the accompanying Explanatory Memorandum for further 
information concerning the business to be carried out at the AGM.

Business

1. Consideration of reports

To receive and consider the Annual Financial Statements, the Directors’ Report and the 
Independent Audit Report of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2014.

Note: There is no requirement for members to vote on this item of business.

2. Remuneration Report

To consider and, if thought appropriate, to pass the following as an ordinary resolution:

“That the Remuneration Report for the year ended 30 June 2014 (set out in the 
Directors’ Report) be adopted.”  

Note: The vote on this resolution is advisory only and does not bind the Company or the 
directors.

Note: A voting exclusion applies to this item – see the Explanatory Memorandum.

3. �Re-election of director – Mr Andrew Stock

To consider and, if thought appropriate, to pass the following as an ordinary resolution:

“That Mr Andrew Stock, a non-executive director retiring in accordance with the 
Company’s Constitution, being eligible, is re-elected as a non-executive director of the 
Company.”

Further information in relation to this resolution and Mr Stock is set out in the Explanatory 
Memorandum.

4. �Approval of 2014 grant of long term incentives (“LTIs”) to  
Mr Brent Emmett, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

To consider and, if thought appropriate, to pass the following as an ordinary resolution:

“That approval be given for all purposes for the grant of up to 3,000,879 securities 
(including share appreciation rights (“SARs”) and shares which may be issued as a 
consequence of such SARs) to the Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director,  
Mr Brent Emmett, as set out in the attached Explanatory Memorandum.”

Further information in relation to this resolution is set out in the Explanatory 
Memorandum attached to this Notice of Meeting.

Note: A voting exclusion applies to this item – see the Explanatory Memorandum.

5. �Approval of issue of securities under the Employee Option Scheme for 
the purposes of ASX Listing Rule 7.2 

To consider, and if thought appropriate, to pass the following ordinary resolution:

“That, for the purpose of ASX Listing Rule 7.2 Exception 9(b) and all other purposes 
under the Corporations Act and the ASX Listing Rules, the members approve the terms 
and conditions of the Employee Option Scheme on the terms and conditions set out in 
the Explanatory Memorandum”.

A summary of the key terms and conditions of the Employee Option Scheme is set out in 
the Explanatory Memorandum attached to this Notice of Meeting.

Note: A voting exclusion applies to this item – see the Explanatory Memorandum.

By order of the Board.  

Dated: 9 October 2014

.............................................................................

Michael Sheridan  
Company Secretary

Eligibility to attend and vote
For the purposes of the meeting and in accordance with regulation 7.11.37 of the 
Corporations Regulations 2001 (Cwlth) and ASX Settlement Operating Rule 5.6.1, shares 
will be taken to be held by the persons who are registered as members as at 7.00pm 
(Sydney time) on Wednesday, 19 November 2014.

Proxies
If you are a member entitled to attend and vote, you are entitled to appoint a proxy to 
attend and vote on your behalf.  If you are a member entitled to attend and cast two or 
more votes, you are entitled to appoint no more than two proxies.  Where two proxies are 
appointed, you may specify the number or proportion of votes that each may exercise, 
failing which, each may exercise half of the votes.  A proxy need not be a member of the 
Company.

If you want to appoint one proxy, please use the proxy form provided.  If you want to 
appoint two proxies, please follow the instructions on the reverse of the proxy form.

The Company’s Constitution provides that, on a show of hands, every person present 
and qualified to vote shall have one vote.  If you appoint one proxy, that proxy may vote 
on a show of hands, but if you appoint two proxies, only the proxy first-mentioned in the 
instrument appointing the proxy may vote on a show of hands.

If you appoint a proxy who is also a member or is also a proxy for another member, your 
directions may not be effective on a show of hands.  Your directions will be effective if a 
poll is required and your proxy votes.

To be effective, the proxy form must be received by Boardroom Pty Limited, by online 
submission or at the address or facsimile number below, or by the Company at its 
registered office, Level 7, 134 William Street, Woolloomooloo NSW 2011, not later than 
10.00am (Sydney time) on Wednesday, 19 November 2014, being 48 hours before the 
commencement of the meeting.

If the Chairman of the meeting is your proxy, and you fail to provide a voting 
direction in respect of Item 2, Item 4 or Item 5 on the proxy form (which you may 
do by ticking ‘For’, ‘Against’ or ‘Abstain’ opposite Item 2, Item 4 or Item 5, as 
applicable, on the proxy form), you are expressly authorising the Chairman of the 
meeting to vote in favour of Item 2, Item 4 or Item 5, as applicable, even if that 
resolution is connected directly or indirectly with the remuneration of directors or 
members of the KMP of the Company.  Subject to any applicable laws or voting 
exclusions, the Chairman intends to vote all available proxies in favour of the 
resolutions in this Notice of Meeting (including Item 2, Item 4 and Item 5).

To vote online:

  TO VOTE ONLINE

Step 1: VISIT  www.votingonline.com.au/horizonoilagm2014
Step 2: Enter your holding/investment type:
Step 3: Enter your Reference Number:
Step 4: Enter your Voting Access Code:

By mail: 
Boardroom Pty Limited 
GPO Box 3993 
Sydney NSW 2001 
AUSTRALIA	

For delivery: 
Boardroom Pty Limited 
Level 7, 207 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
AUSTRALIA	

By fax: 
Boardroom Pty Limited 
+61 2 9290 9655

Admission to meeting

Members who will be attending the meeting and who will not be appointing a proxy are 
asked to bring the proxy form to the meeting to help with admission.

Members who do not plan to attend the meeting are encouraged to complete and return 
a proxy form for each of their holdings of shares in the Company.

A replacement proxy form may be obtained from the Company’s external share registry:

Boardroom Pty Ltd 
Level 7,  207 Kent Street, Sydney NSW 2000 AUSTRALIA 
Telephone: +61 2 9290 9600 
Fax:  +61 2 9279 0664
Email: enquiries@boardroomlimited.com.au
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EXPLANATORY 
MEMORANDUM

This Explanatory Memorandum contains information about the resolutions to be 
considered at the 2014 AGM, which are set out in the accompanying Notice of Meeting, 
to assist shareholders to determine how they wish to vote on the resolutions.  This 
Explanatory Memorandum forms part of the accompanying Notice of Meeting and should 
be read together with the Notice of Meeting.

Items of business

1. Consideration of reports

There is no requirement for members to approve the reports described in Item 1.  In 
accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 (Cwlth) (“Corporations Act”) and the 
Company’s usual practice, the Chairman will allow a reasonable opportunity for 
shareholders to ask questions or make comments about the reports and the management 
of the Company.  A reasonable opportunity will also be given to members, as a whole, to 
ask the auditor, or their representative, questions relevant to the conduct of the audit,  the 
preparation and content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies adopted by the 
Company and the independence of the auditor in relation to the conduct of the audit.

Written questions to the Company’s auditor about:

• the content of the auditor’s report; or 
• the conduct of the audit of the reports,

must be submitted no later than Friday 14 November 2014 to:

The Company Secretary
Level 7   
134 William Street 
Woolloomooloo, NSW 2011   
Australia
Facsimile: +61 2 9332 5050

Copies of the questions, if any, to the Company’s auditor will be available at or before the 
2014 AGM.

2. Remuneration Report

The Remuneration Report is contained in the ‘Directors’ Report’ of the Company’s 2014 
Annual Report.  A copy of the 2014 Annual Report is available on the Company’s website 
www.horizonoil.com.au.  

The Remuneration Report:

• �explains the principles used by the board to determine the nature and amount of 
remuneration of directors and executives; and

• sets out remuneration details for each director and each named executive. 

In April 2010, the board resolved to modify the remuneration arrangements for the 
Company’s senior executives. Based on advice received from Guerdon Associates, an 
independent remuneration consultancy firm, the board put in place a short term incentive 
scheme and substituted the existing long term incentive arrangements for the Company’s 
senior executives with a revised long term incentive scheme, the operation of which is 
discussed in Item 4 below.

The Chairman will give shareholders a reasonable opportunity to ask questions about 
or make comments on the Remuneration Report.  The Corporations Act requires the 
Company to propose a resolution that the Remuneration Report be adopted.

The vote on this item is advisory only and does not bind the Company or the directors.  
However, the board will take the outcome of this vote into consideration when reviewing 
the remuneration practices and policies of the Company.

Voting exclusion statement – Item 2

No votes may be cast on this item by or on behalf of members of the key management 
personnel of the Company (“KMP”) or their closely related parties, whether as 
shareholder or proxy.

However, a vote may be cast on Item 2:

•	� by a member of the KMP, or their closely related party, if the vote is cast as a proxy for 
a person who is entitled to vote on this item, and the proxy appointment is in writing 
and specifies how the proxy is to vote on Item 2; or

•	� by the Chairman of the meeting, if the vote is cast as a proxy appointed in writing 
that does not specify the way the proxy is to vote on Item 2, and expressly authorises 
the Chairman of the meeting to exercise the proxy even if the resolution is connected 
directly or indirectly with the remuneration of a member of the KMP.  

If you appoint the Chairman of the meeting as your proxy, and you do not direct your 
proxy how to vote on Item 2, you will be expressly authorising the Chairman of the 
meeting to exercise your proxy even if Item 2 is connected directly or indirectly with the 
remuneration of a member of the KMP.  The Chairman intends to vote all undirected 
proxies in favour of Item 2.

3. Re-election of director – Mr Andrew Stock

The Company’s Constitution provides that a director (other than the managing director) 
will not retain office for a period of more than three years or beyond the third AGM 
following that person’s election (whichever is greater).

Accordingly, Mr Stock is required to retire at the end of the 2014 AGM and seeks  
re-election in accordance with the requirements of the Company’s Constitution.

Mr Stock, B. Eng (Chem) (Hons), FAIE, GAICD, has been an independent non-executive 
director of the Company since 2 February 2011.  Mr Stock has over 36 years of 
development, operations and commercial experience in energy industries in Australia 
and overseas.  He is Chairman of the Risk Management Committee, member of the 
Audit Committee and Remuneration and Nomination Committees.  Mr Stock is a former 
Director, Executive Projects and Executive General Manager for Major Development 
Projects for Origin Energy Limited.  Mr Stock is a non-executive director of Geodynamics 
Limited and Silex Systems Limited, a Board Member of Alinta Holdings and the Clean 
Energy Finance Corporation and a member of the Engineering Facility and Energy 
Advisory Board at the University of Adelaide.  

The directors (with Mr Stock abstaining) recommend that you vote in favour of this 
ordinary resolution.

4. �Approval of 2014 grant of long term incentives (“LTIs”) to Mr Brent 
Emmett, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director

The Company introduced the LTI Plan during 2010 to provide annual performance 
incentives to the Company’s key employees.  The revised LTI arrangements were 
approved at the Company’s 2013 AGM, in accordance with ASX Listing Rule 7.2.
On 18 August 2014, the board (with Mr Emmett abstaining) approved the grant of 
7,402,177 share appreciation rights (“SARs”) to employees under the LTI Plan.  Of 
those, 3,000,879 SARs were approved by the board (with Mr Emmett abstaining) to 
be granted to Mr Emmett, subject to the approval of shareholders.  The remaining 
4,401,298 SARs were approved to be granted to employees who are not directors of the 
Company.  The proposed grant to Mr Emmett is on the terms and conditions as outlined 
below. 

Summary of the terms of the LTI Plan
In order to provide annual performance incentives to the Company’s executives, based 
on advice received from Guerdon Associates, an independent remuneration consultant, 
the board resolved on 1 April 2010 to establish the LTI Plan to replace previous LTI 
arrangements for the Company’s senior executives.  The revised LTI arrangements 
approved at the 2013 AGM apply to senior executives and involve the grant of rights 
which will vest subject (amongst other things) to the level of total shareholder return 
(“TSR”) achieved in the vesting period, relative to an appropriate index.  Under the LTI 
Plan, the board has the discretion, subject to ASX Listing Rule requirements, to grant 
SARs to executives as LTIs.  The board has determined that 50% of senior executives’ 
fixed remuneration would be LTIs in the form of SARs, with the number of SARs granted 
to be based on the present day value of a SAR.

A SAR is a right to receive either or both shares in the Company or a cash payment, as 
determined by the board, subject to the Company satisfying certain conditions, including 
performance conditions.

The LTI Plan provides that the number of shares in the Company or the amount of the 
cash payment that the participant receives on exercise of the SAR is based on the value 
of the SAR at the time it is exercised (“SAR Value”).  The SAR Value is the excess, if 
any, of the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) of shares in the Company for the 
10 business day period up to the date before the date the SAR is exercised over the 
VWAP of shares in the Company for the 10 business day period up to the day before 
the effective allocation date for the SARs (“Effective Allocation Date”).  The Effective 
Allocation Date for the SARs is the grant date of the SARs or any other day determined 
by the board, at the time of the grant.  The Effective Allocation Date would generally be 
the date the executive’s entitlement was determined.  
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If the board determines that the SARs are to be satisfied in cash, the amount of cash that 
the participant receives on the exercise of the SARs is the SAR Value multiplied by the 
number of SARs exercised (less any deduction for taxes that the Company is required to 
make from the payment).

If the board determines that the SARs are to be satisfied in shares, the number of shares 
that the participant receives on the exercise of the SARs is the SAR Value divided by the 
VWAP of shares in the Company for the 10 business day period up to the day before 
the day the SARs are exercised.  Where the number of shares calculated is not a whole 
number, it will be rounded down to the nearest whole number.     

Other key terms and conditions of the SARs that may be granted under the LTI Plan include: 

Key terms & 

conditions

Long Term Incentive Plan

Eligible persons: Under the terms of the LTI Plan, the Company may grant SARs to any employee.  However, it is currently intended by the Company to only grant SARs under 
the LTI Plan to current senior executive employees including executive directors.

Exercise price: No price is payable by a participant in the LTI Plan on the exercise of a SAR.

Performance 
requirements:

Under the LTI Plan, the number of SARs that vest is generally determined by reference to whether the Company achieves certain performance conditions.

The number of SARs that vest is determined by reference to the Company’s TSR over the relevant period relative to that of the S&P/ASX200 Energy Index 
(“Index”).  The number of SARs that vest is:

•	 if the Company’s TSR is equal to that of the Index (“Minimum Benchmark”), 50%;

•	 if the Company’s TSR is 14% or more above that of the Index, 100% (“Maximum Benchmark”); and

•	 if the Company’s TSR is more than the Minimum Benchmark but less than the Maximum Benchmark, a percentage between 50% and 100% based on 
the Company’s TSR performance between the Minimum Benchmark and Maximum Benchmark.

The Maximum Benchmark of 14% above the Index return equates to the performance level likely to exceed the 75th percentile of market returns of 
companies (weighted by company size) in the Index.

Furthermore, even where these performance conditions are satisfied, the SARs will not vest unless the Company achieves a TSR of at least 10% over the 
relevant period.

The performance conditions are tested on the date that is three years after the Effective Allocation Date of the SARs, and are then re-tested every six months 
after that until the date that is five years after the Effective Allocation Date of the SARs (the final retesting date).  The performance conditions are also tested 
where certain circumstances occur, such as a takeover bid for the Company.

If the SARs have not, pursuant to these performance conditions, vested by the final retesting date that is five years after the date the SARs are granted, the 
SARs will lapse.

Cessation of 
employment:

If a holder of SARs under the LTI Plan ceases to be employed by a member of the Company’s corporate group, then this generally does not affect the terms 
and operation of the SARs.  The board does, however, under the LTI Plan have discretion, to the extent permitted by law, to cause the SARs to lapse or 
accelerate the date on which the SARs become exercisable.

Maximum number 
of shares that can 
be issued:

Subject to various exclusions, the maximum number of shares that may be issued on the exercise of SARs granted under the LTI Plan is capped at 5% of the 
total number of issued shares of the Company.

Restrictions on 
exercise:

A SAR cannot be exercised unless it has vested.  Where a SAR vests, a participant may not exercise the SAR until the first time after the time the SAR vests 
that the participant is able to deal with shares in the Company under the Company’s securities trading policy.

SARs are exercised by submitting a notice of exercise to the Company.

Lapse: SARs will lapse where:

•	 the SARs have not vested by the final retesting date which is five years after the date of grant (see above);

•	� if the SARs have vested by the final retesting date that is five years after the date of grant, the SARs have not been exercised within three months of the 
date that the SARs would have first been able to be exercised if they vested at the final retesting date that is five years after the date of grant.  

This may be more than five years and three months from the date of grant depending on whether the holder of the SAR is able to deal with shares in the 
Company under the Company’s securities trading policy at the date five years after the date of grant;

•	� the employee ceases to be employed by the Company (or a member of its corporate group), and the board determines that some or all of the SARs lapse 
(see above);

•	� the board determines that the employee has committed or it is evident that the employee intends to commit, any act (whether by commission or omission) 
which amounts or would amount to fraud or serious misconduct; or

•	 the employee provides a notice to the Company that they wish the SARs to lapse.

Share ranking and 
quotation:

Shares provided pursuant to the exercise of a SAR will rank equally with the shares in the Company then on issue.  Quotation on the ASX will be sought for 
all shares issued upon the exercise of SARs.  SARs are not assignable or transferable.

No right to 
dividends, bonus or 
rights issues:

The SARs will not confer on the holder an entitlement to dividends or to participate in bonus issues or rights issues unless the board determines that the 
SARs will be satisfied in shares and until the SARs are exercised and shares are provided to the holder. 

No voting rights: The SARs will not confer an entitlement to vote at general meetings of the Company unless the board determines that the SARs will be satisfied in shares 
and until the SARs are exercised and shares are provided to the holder.

Non-quotation: The Company will not apply to the ASX for official quotation of the SARs.
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Listing Rule Item 4

LTI  Plan

10.15.2 The maximum number of Company’s ordinary shares that may be 
acquired on exercise of the proposed grant of securities and the 
formula for calculating the number of securities to be issued:

The maximum number of shares that may be acquired by Mr Emmett is 
3,000,879.

The number of shares that may be acquired by Mr Emmett on exercise 
of the SARs proposed to be granted to him, is determined at the time of 
exercise by reference to the SAR Value at the time the SAR is exercised 
and the VWAP of shares in the Company for the 10 business day period 
up to the day before the day the SAR is exercised (as described above).

10.15.3 Formula for calculating the price of securities to be acquired under 
the scheme:

Mr Emmett is not required to pay any price in order to acquire SARs 
under the LTI Plan.  However, the value of what Mr Emmett receives 
if his SARs become exercisable is the SAR Value.  This is based on 
the appreciation in the share price of the Company from the Effective 
Allocation Date until the date of exercise (see discussion above).  The 
proposed Effective Allocation Date for Mr Emmett’s SARs is 1 July 2014.

10.15.4 Names of directors and associates who have received securities 
under the scheme since the last approval; number received; and 
acquisition price:

Mr Emmett was granted 3,465,243 SARs following approval at the 2013 
AGM which are exercisable at A$0.3326.

10.15.4A Names of directors and associates entitled to participate in scheme: Mr Emmett.

10.15.5 Voting exclusion statement: Included – see below.

10.15.6 Terms of any loan in relation to acquisition: There are no loans in relation to the acquisition of SARs or securities 
issued under the LTI Plan.

10.15.7 Date on which securities will be issued: Subject to shareholder approval of the issue of the SARs, within five 
business days of the 2014 AGM, but in any event no later than 12 
months after the date of the 2014 AGM.

Capital re-
organisation:

In the event of a reorganisation of the capital of the Company, the rights of the SARs holder will be changed to the extent necessary to comply with the ASX 
Listing Rules and shall not result in any additional benefits being conferred on SARs holders which are not conferred on members.

Effect of  
take-over or 
change of control 
of Company, death 
or disablement:

The LTI Plan contains provisions to deal with SARs where there is a take-over or change of control of the Company.  Depending on the nature of the take-
over or change of control event, the Company will either have the discretion or be required (if a change of control occurs) to determine a special retesting 
date for the performance requirements discussed above.  

For example, the board will have discretion to determine a special retesting date where a takeover bid is made for the Company or a scheme of arrangement 
is entered into.  In that case, the special retesting date will be the date determined by the board.  Where a statement is lodged with the ASX that a person 
has become entitled to acquire more than 50% of the Company, the board will be required to determine a special retesting date, and the special retesting 
date will be the day the statement is lodged with the ASX.

The SARs may vest if the performance requirements discussed above are satisfied in relation to that special retesting date.

As at the date of this Notice of Meeting, Mr Emmett’s total fixed remuneration is 
A$859,872.  The amount of 3,000,879 SARs to be granted to Mr Emmett (subject to the 
resolution of this Item 4) was calculated in accordance with the LTI Plan by dividing 50% 
of Mr Emmett’s fixed remuneration by the present day value of the SARs as calculated by 
an independent valuer, Dalway Securities, on the Effective Allocation Date (A$0.143270).  

The VWAP of shares in the Company for the 10 business day period up to the day before 
the Effective Allocation Date for the purposes of the 2014 SARs award is A$0.3729.

Shareholder approval of the grant of securities under the LTI Plan to Mr Emmett is sought 
for all purposes under the Corporations Act and the Listing Rules of the ASX, including 
Listing Rule 10.14. 

As required by Listing Rule 10.15, the following information is provided in respect of the 
grant of SARs under the LTI Plan to an executive director:

Voting exclusion statement – Item 4

The Company will disregard any votes cast on Item 4 by:

•	Mr Brent Emmett; or

•	an associate of Mr Emmett.  

However, the Company need not disregard a vote if:

•	� it is cast by a person as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote, in accordance with 
the directions on the proxy form; or

•	� it is cast by the person chairing the meeting as proxy for a person who is entitled to 
vote, in accordance with a direction on the proxy form to vote as the proxy decides.

A vote must not be cast on Item 4 by a member of the KMP, or their closely related 
parties, acting as proxy, if their appointment does not specify the way the proxy is to vote 
on Item 4.  However, this voting restriction does not apply if the member of the KMP is 
the Chairman of the meeting acting as proxy and their appointment expressly authorises 
the Chairman of the meeting to exercise the proxy even if that item is connected directly 
or indirectly with the remuneration of a member of the KMP.

If you appoint the Chairman of the meeting as your proxy, and you do not direct your 
proxy how to vote on Item 4, you will be expressly authorising the Chairman of the 
meeting to exercise your proxy even if Item 4 is connected directly or indirectly with the 
remuneration of a member of the KMP.  The Chairman intends to vote undirected proxies 
in favour of Item 4.

The directors (with Mr Emmett abstaining) recommend that you vote in favour of Item 4.  

5.	�Renewal of approval of issue of securities under the Employee Option 
Scheme for the purposes of ASX Listing Rules 7.1 and 7.2

The purpose of the resolution is to ensure that the administrative requirements of the 
ASX Listing Rules are satisfied so that future issues of securities under the Company’s 
Employee Option Scheme (”EOS” or ”the option plan”) are excluded from the 
calculation of the 15% threshold of the Company shares which may be issued without 
shareholder approval.



The key terms and conditions of the EOS are as follows:

Key terms & conditions Employee Option Scheme

Eligible persons: Current employees including executive directors 

Conversion ratio: Each option entitles the holder to subscribe for one ordinary share

Exercise price: The price determined by the directors, but not less than;

a) �the volume weighted average at which the Company’s shares are sold on the ASX on the 5 days preceding the grant of the 
options; and

b) 20 cents.

Upon exercise, only one cent of the exercise price is immediately payable, with the balance payable at any time prior to the 
expiration period of the option

Performance requirements: None

Maximum options able to be granted each year: Options granted under the plan (together with any partly paid shares on issue pursuant to any other employee share scheme of 
the Company) must not exceed 5% of the number of shares in the Company on issue from time to time

Restrictions on exercise: Deferred exercise periods: the options are progressively exercisable in three equal tranches from dates which are 12, 24 and 
36 months after grant date

Expiry: 5 years from date of issue

Share ranking and quotation: Shares issued pursuant to the exercise of an option will rank equally with the shares in the Company then on issue.  Quotation 
by ASX will be sought for all shares issued upon the exercise of the options.  Options are not assignable or transferable

No right to dividends, bonus or rights issues: The options will not confer on the holder an entitlement to dividends or to participate in bonus issues.  The options will not 
confer an entitlement to participate in rights issues

No voting rights: The options will not confer an entitlement to vote at general meetings of the Company

Non-quotation: The Company will not apply to the ASX for official quotation of the options

Capital re-organisation: In the event of a reorganisation of the capital of the Company, the rights of the option holder will be changed to the extent 
necessary to comply with the ASX Listing Rules and shall not result in any additional benefits being conferred on option holders 
which are not conferred on members

Effect of take-over or change of control of 
Company, death or disablement:

Options become immediately exercisable. All restrictions on exercise including option barrier, removed

Listing Rules 7.1 and 7.2

Broadly speaking, Listing Rule 7.1 provides that a listed company may issue or agree to 
issue in aggregate up to 15% of its fully paid ordinary shares within a 12 month period 
without shareholder approval.  Listing Rule 7.2 provides exceptions to Listing Rule 7.1.

One of the exceptions to the general rule, provided for in Listing Rule 7.2 Exception 
9(b), is that securities issued under an employee incentive scheme will not be taken 
into account when calculating the 15% limit, provided that the Company’s shareholders 
have approved the issue of securities under the scheme as an exception to the general 
rule within 3 years prior to the date of issue of the securities.  Accordingly, Item 5 seeks 
shareholder approval of the issue of options under the EOS so that the Company has the 
ability to issue up to 15% of its capital during the year in addition to any options issued 
under the EOS.

The Board believes that shareholder approval of the resolution proposed in Item 5 will 
provide the Company with the flexibility necessary to raise additional capital as and when 
appropriate.

Summary of the terms of the options plans

In order to provide performance incentives to the Company’s employees and recognising 
the importance of maintaining the Company’s cash reserves, the Board has put in place 
the EOS to provide non-cash incentives to reward employee performance.

Since the date of the last approval by shareholders in 2011, 3,200,000 options have 
been issued under the EOS.

Voting exclusion statement – Item 5

The Company will disregard any votes cast in respect of Item 5 by: 

•	� a director of the Company (except a director who is ineligible to participate in any 
employee incentive scheme in relation to the Company); and 

•	any of their associates.  

However, the Company need not disregard a vote if: 

•	� it is cast by a person as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote, in accordance with 
the directions on the proxy form; or 

•	� the person chairing the meeting as proxy for a person who is entitled to vote, in 
accordance with a direction on the proxy form to vote as the proxy decides.

A vote must not be cast on Item 5 by a member of the KMP, or their closely related 
parties, acting as proxy, if their appointment does not specify the way the proxy is to vote 
on Item 5.  However, this voting restriction does not apply if the member of KMP is the 
Chairman of the meeting acting as proxy and their appointment expressly authorises the 

Chairman of the meeting to exercise the proxy even if that item is connected 
directly or indirectly with the remuneration of a member of the KMP.

If you appoint the Chairman of the meeting as your proxy, and you do not direct 
your proxy how to vote on Item 5, you will be expressly authorising the Chairman 
of the meeting to exercise your proxy even if Item 5 is connected directly or 
indirectly with the remuneration of a member of the KMP.  The Chairman intends 
to vote undirected proxies in favour of Item 5.

The directors (with executive directors abstaining) recommend that you vote in 
favour of this ordinary resolution.

Sydney

9 October 2014

EXPLANATORY  MEMORANDUM



 

 

  
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
YOUR VOTE IS IMPORTANT 
For your vote to be effective it must be recorded before 10:00am (Sydney time) on Wednesday 19th November 2014  
 

   TO VOTE ONLINE BY SMARTPHONE 
 

STEP 1:   VISIT www.votingonline.com.au/horizonoilagm2014 

STEP 2:   Enter your holding/investment type:  

STEP 3:   Enter your Reference Number:  

STEP 4:   Enter your VAC:       
 

PLEASE NOTE:  For security reasons it is important you keep the above information confidential.          Scan QR Code using smartphone 

QR Reader App 

 

TO VOTE BY COMPLETING THE PROXY FORM 

 
STEP 1  APPOINTMENT OF PROXY 
Indicate who you want to appoint as your Proxy. 
If you wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy, mark the box. If you 

wish to appoint someone other than the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy please 
write the full name of that individual or body corporate. If you leave this section blank, or 
your named proxy does not attend the meeting, the Chairman of the Meeting will be your 
proxy. A proxy need not be a security holder of the company. Do not write the name of the 

issuer company or the registered securityholder in the space. 
 
Appointment of a Second Proxy 
You are entitled to appoint up to two proxies to attend the meeting and vote. If you wish to 

appoint a second proxy, an additional Proxy Form may be obtained by contacting the 
company’s securities registry or you may copy this form. 
 
To appoint a second proxy you must: 

(a) complete two Proxy Forms.  On each Proxy Form state the percentage of your voting 
rights or the number of securities applicable to that form. If the appointments do not 
specify the percentage or number of votes that each proxy may exercise, each proxy may 
exercise half your votes. Fractions of votes will be disregarded; and 

(b) return both forms together in the same envelope. 

 

STEP 2  VOTING DIRECTIONS TO YOUR PROXY 
To direct your proxy how to vote, mark one of the boxes opposite each item of business. 
All your securities will be voted in accordance with such a direction unless you indicate 

only a portion of securities are to be voted on any item by inserting the percentage or 
number that you wish to vote in the appropriate box or boxes. If you do not mark any of 
the boxes on a given item, your proxy may vote as he or she chooses. If you mark more 
than one box on an item for all your securities your vote on that item will be invalid. 

 
Proxy which is a Body Corporate 
Where a body corporate is appointed as your proxy, the representative of that body 
corporate attending the meeting must have provided an “Appointment of Corporate 

Representative” prior to admission. An Appointment of Corporate Representative form can 
be obtained from the company’s securities registry. 
 

 
STEP 3  SIGN THE FORM  
The form must be signed as follows: 
Individual: this form is to be signed by the securityholder. 
Joint Holding: where the holding is in more than one name, all the securityholders should 
sign. 
Power of Attorney: to sign under a Power of Attorney, you must have already lodged it 
with the registry. Alternatively, attach a certified photocopy of the Power of Attorney to this 

form when you return it. 
Companies: this form must be signed by a Director jointly with either another Director or a 
Company Secretary. Where the company has a Sole Director who is also the Sole 
Company Secretary, this form should be signed by that person. Please indicate the office 

held by signing in the appropriate place. 

 

STEP 4  LODGEMENT 
Proxy forms (and any Power of Attorney under which it is signed) must be received no later 
than 48 hours before the commencement of the meeting, therefore by 10:00am (Sydney 

time) on Wednesday, 19th November 2014. Any Proxy Form received after that time will 
not be valid for the meeting.  
 
Proxy forms may be lodged using the enclosed Reply Paid Envelope or: 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 

Attending the Meeting 
If you wish to attend the meeting please bring this form with you to assist registration. 

All Correspondence to: 

     By Mail    Boardroom Pty Limited 

             GPO Box 3993 

             Sydney NSW 2001 Australia 
            
             Level 7, 207 Kent Street, 
             Sydney NSW 2000 Australia 

 By Fax:   +61 2 9290 9655  

    Online:    www.boardroomlimited.com.au  

 By Phone: (within Australia) 1300 737 760 

 (outside Australia) +61 2 9290 9600 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  Online              

 

  By Fax             

 

  By Mail            

                                  
 
 

 In Person        

 
 

www.votingonline.com.au/horizonoilagm2014 

 
+ 61 2 9290 9655 
 
Boardroom Pty Limited 
GPO Box 3993, 

Sydney NSW 2001 Australia 
                                  
Level 7, 207 Kent Street, 

Sydney NSW 2000 Australia 

 

 



 

 

 

Horizon Oil Limited   
ACN 009 799 455 

 
Your Address 
This is your address as it appears on the Company’s share 
register. If this is incorrect, please mark the box with an “X” and 
make the correction in the space to the left. Securityholders 
sponsored by a broker should advise their broker of any changes. 

Please note, you cannot change ownership of your securities 
using this form. 
 
                                                                                                 

PROXY FORM 
 

STEP 1 APPOINT A PROXY 
 

I/We being a member/s of Horizon Oil Limited (Company) and entitled to attend and vote hereby appoint: 
         

the Chairman of the Meeting (mark box) 

 
 OR if you are NOT appointing the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy, please write the name of the person or body corporate (excluding the registered shareholder) you are 
appointing as your proxy below 
 

 
 
or failing the individual or body corporate named, or if no individual or body corporate is named, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy at the Annual General Meeting of 
the Company to be held at Level 1, Grand Ballroom, The Sydney Boulevard Hotel at 90 William Street, SYDNEY NSW 2011 on Friday, 21 November 2014 at 10:00am 
(Sydney time) and at any adjournment of that meeting, to act on my/our behalf and to vote in accordance with the following directions or if no directions have been given, as the 

proxy sees fit. 
 
If the Chairman of the Meeting is your proxy or becomes your proxy by default:  If I/we have appointed the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy or the Chairman of 
the Meeting becomes my/our proxy by default and I/we have not directed my/our proxy how to vote in respect of Resolutions 2, 4 and/or 5, I/we expressly authorise the 

Chairman of the Meeting to exercise my/our proxy in respect of Resolutions 2, 4 and/or 5 even though Resolutions 2, 4 and/or 5 are connected directly or indirectly with the 
remuneration of a member of key management personnel of the Company. 

Subject to any applicable laws or voting exclusions, the Chairman of the Meeting intends to vote all undirected proxies in favour of all Items of business (including Resolutions 2, 
4 & 5). In exceptional circumstances, the Chairman of the Meeting may change his/her voting intention on any resolution, in which case an ASX announcement will be made.  If 
you wish to appoint the Chairman of the Meeting as your proxy with a direction to vote against, or to abstain from voting on an item, you must provide a direction by marking the 
'Against' or 'Abstain' box opposite that resolution. 

 
 

STEP 2 VOTING DIRECTIONS 
* If you mark the Abstain box for a particular item, you are directing your proxy not to vote on your behalf on a show of hands or on a poll and your vote will not 
be counted in calculating the required majority if a poll is called. 

     

  
 
Resolution 2 

 
 
To Adopt the Remuneration Report  
 

   For Against Abstain* 

 
Resolution 3 
 

 
To re-elect Mr Andrew Stock as a Director  

   

 

Resolution 4 
 
 

 

Approval of 2014 grant of long term incentives (“LTIs”) to Mr Brent Emmett, Chief Executive Officer and Managing Director 

   

Resolution 5 To approve issue of options under the Employee Option Scheme    

 

 
 

  STEP 3 SIGNATURE OF SHAREHOLDERS 
This form must be signed to enable your directions to be implemented.  

 
Individual or Securityholder 1 

 
 

 
 

Sole Director and Sole Company Secretary 
 

 
Securityholder 2 

 
 

 
 

Director 

 

 
Securityholder 3 

 
 

 
 

Director / Company Secretary 

 

Contact Name……………………………………………....                Contact Daytime Telephone………………………................................                     Date                 /               /  2014 




